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Corporate Profile and
OUR CORE BUSINESS

Group continuously reviews and develops its core 
propositions to meet and manage the ever-changing 
market trends and consumer demands.

In addition to the Group’s trading of duty free 
goods and non-dutiable merchandise, DFI owns 
the Black Forest Golf and Country Club and an oil 
palm plantation. The combined land mass of the 
sprawling 18-hole Golf and Country Club and oil 
palm plantation assets adds up to more than 700 
acres, all of which are strategically located near the 
Malaysia-Thailand border at Bukit Kayu Hitam.

Duty Free International Limited (“DFI” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), 
one of the largest duty free trading group in Malaysia, has established a premium travel 
retail brand “The Zon” that is strategically located across Peninsular Malaysia. A duty 
free retail specialist with over 44 years of experience, The Zon has extensive presence 
at all leading entry and exit points, at international airport, seaport, international 
ferry terminals, border towns and popular tourist destinations.

DFI has created and defined its own unique and 
exclusive travel retail concept that offers travellers 
an extensive premium selection of international 
brands - imported duty free beverages, tobacco 
products, chocolates and confectionary products, 
perfumery, cosmetics and souvenirs. DFI’s duty 
free retail outlets and product mix are individually 
tailored to serve travellers’ preference at every entry 
and exit point.

DFI’s core value is to provide travellers with an 
exclusive duty free shopping experience beyond 
expectations by having the highest standards of 
customer service, retail execution and exquisite 
product offering. To ensure that DFI delivers 
the highest standards of customer service, the 
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Our
PRESENCE
As at 1 June 2023

SINGAPORE
Wholesaler and Distributor

LANGKAWI
Duty Free Shopping

BUKIT KAYU HITAM
Duty Free Shopping

PENGKALAN HULU
Duty Free Shopping

RANTAU PANJANG
Duty Free Shopping

PADANG BESAR
Duty Free Shopping

KUALA LUMPUR
Duty Free Shopping

MELAKA
Duty Free Shopping

JOHOR
Duty Free Shopping

PENANG
Duty Free Shopping

MALAYSIA
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100%100%

Selasih Ekslusif 
Sdn. Bhd.

100%

As at 1 June 2023

Corporate 
STRUCTURE

Binamold Sdn. Bhd.

Darul Metro Sdn. Bhd.

Tenggara Senandung 
Sdn. Bhd.

Gold Vale 
Development

Sdn. Bhd.

PT DFZ Indon

DFZ Asia Sdn. Bhd.

Kelana Megah
Sdn. Bhd.

Black Forest Golf 
And Country Club 

Sdn. Bhd.

Cergasjaya Properties 
Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ Utara Sdn. Bhd.

Jelita Duty Free 
Supplies Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ Duty Free 
Supplies
Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ Duty Free 
(Langkawi) 
Sdn. Bhd.

Wealthouse
Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ (M) Sdn. Bhd.

Jasa Duty Free 
Sdn. Bhd.

Cergasjaya Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ Emporium 
Sdn. Bhd.

Zon Emporium 
Sdn. Bhd.

Melaka Duty Free 
Sdn. Bhd.

Winner Prompt 
Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ Trading
Sdn. Bhd.

Seruntun Maju
Sdn. Bhd.

Emas Kerajang 
Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ Capital Sdn. Bhd. Orchard Boulevard 
Sdn. Bhd.

100%100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

99%

1%

41.60%

100%100%

100%100%

100%100%

100%69.90%

100%69.80%

100%

100%

69.89%

51%

29.30%

28.60%



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 5

100% 78%

Zon Duty Free
Pte. Ltd.

Brand Connect
Pte. Ltd.

As at 1 June 2023

Corporate 
STRUCTURE

Brand Connect 
Holding Pte. Ltd.

Brand Connect Asia 
Pacific Pte. Ltd.

Drinks Hub Asia 
Pte. Ltd.

100% 100%

100%
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EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX, 
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION (BEFORE 

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS) (RM’MILLION)

PROFIT AFTER TAX 
(RM’MILLION)

NET TANGIBLE ASSETS PER SHARE
(RM SEN)

Year ended 28/29 February

Financial 
HIGHLIGHTS

REVENUE 
(RM’MILLION)
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DIVIDEND PAYOUT 
(RM’MILLION)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
(RM’MILLION)

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 
(RM SEN)
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REVENUE BY OPERATING SEGMENTS 
(RM’MILLION)

Duty Free Investment 
Holdings and 

Others

DIVIDEND PER SHARE IN SGD

Year ended 28/29 February

Financial 
HIGHLIGHTS
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Duty Free 
International Limited (“DFI” or “Company”, and 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am 
pleased to present to you the annual report for the 
financial year ended 28 February 2023 (“FY2023”). 

ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The year 2022 recorded positive developments in 
global economy recovery following two years of 
COVID-driven turbulence. However, it was a period 
of continued uncertainty which was marked with 
surging cost of living, supply chain disruptions, 
aggressive monetary tightening measures and the 
geopolitical conflict. Rising inflationary pressures 
emerged as a significant concern for many 
economies due to increased costs and stronger 
demand following economic reopening. Despite 
the global challenges, Malaysia’s economy posted 
a strong recovery in 2022 with the Gross Domestic 
Product (“GDP”) registering growth of 8.7% in 
20221.

On the local front, the weakening of Ringgit 
Malaysia against major currencies present further 
challenges for the Group in FY2023. Amidst the 
harsh business backdrop, efforts to maintain the 
Group’s sustainability continue to be in place, with 
disciplined cost containment and cash preservation 
measures to ensure our financial position 
remains strong and healthy and at the same time 
safeguarding the wellbeing of our employees and 
people within the area of our business operations. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
 
I am pleased to inform that the Group managed 
to ride out the storm and overcame the 
challenges brought about by the pandemic 
with a commendable financial performance for 
the FY2023. DFI Group registered an improved 
revenue of RM151.8 million, which was an increase 
of RM52.7 million or a growth of 53.1% over 

the revenue of RM99.1 million for the previous 
financial year ended 28 February 2022 (“FY2022”). 
In tandem with the increase in revenue, the Group 
recorded a net profit of RM15.4 million for FY2023 
as compared to a net loss of RM6.0 million for 
FY2022. The improved results in FY2023 was 
mainly due to the full resumption of the Group’s 
retail outlets following the easing of pandemic 
restrictions and the reopening of international 
borders as well as effective cost optimisation 
measures.

The Group’s financial position remains robust, with 
net assets of RM344.5 million and cash and bank 
balances of RM156.9 million as at 28 February 2023. 

DIVIDEND

The Group declared an interim dividend of S$0.002 
per share or a payout of S$2.4 million (equivalent 
to approximately RM7.9 million) for FY2023 which 
was paid out on 10 February 2023. This payment 
of dividend translates to a dividend yield of 
approximately 1.48% based on the closing share 
price of S$0.135 on 28 February 2023. 

OUTLOOK 

With the worst of the pandemic behind us, a 
rebound in the global economy is expected. 
However, uncertainties over the global economy 
remains, contributed by the on-going geopolitical 
conflicts and the global headwinds that came after. 
Malaysia’s economic growth is projected to ease 
to between 4% to 5% as slowing global growth is 
anticipated for 20231.
 
In view of the above, the Group expects the 
business environment in which it operates to remain 
challenging for the next few quarters. Barring any 
unforeseen circumstances, the Group with its 
strong fundamentals, is cautiously optimistic that its 
operations and financial performance will continue 
to remain positive. The Group’s focus remains 
steadfast on strategic planning, resource allocation 

Source:
1	 https://www.bnm.gov.my/documents/20124/10150285/emr2022_en_ch0c.pdf

Chairman’s 
MESSAGE
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and cost optimization to prepare for future 
challenges. While cautious with our resources, the 
Group will continue to explore and seek excellent 
business opportunities to add synergy to DFI’s 
existing businesses.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to convey 
our heartfelt appreciation and gratitude to all 
our shareholders, customers, suppliers, business 
partners and various government agencies for 
your undivided and valuable support, trust and 
confidence in the Group throughout the financial 
year. I wish to also extend my deepest gratitude 
to our dedicated team of management and 

employees for their dedication and support of 
the Group in navigating through this challenging 
business environment. I sincerely believe that 
our people are our most valuable asset, and they 
play a vital role in ensuring the Group’s success. I 
would also like to thank my fellow Board members 
for their continuous dedication, invaluable advice 
and guidance throughout all these years which 
has contributed to the Group’s ability to achieve 
sustainable financial stability. 

Thank You.

Adam Sani Abdullah 
Non-Executive Chairman
Duty Free International Limited
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PARA PEMEGANG SAHAM

Bagi pihak Lembaga Pengarah Kumpulan Duty 
Free International Limited (“DFI” atau “Syarikat”, 
dan bersama-sama dengan anak-anak syarikatnya, 
“Kumpulan DFI”), saya berbesar hati untuk 
membentangkan Laporan Tahunan Kewangan bagi 
tahun berakhir 28 Februari 2023 (“tahun kewangan 
2023”).

TINJAUAN EKONOMI DAN PERNIAGAAN

Tahun 2022 merekodkan perkembangan positif 
dalam pemulihan ekonomi global berikutan 
dua tahun pergolakan yang disebabkan oleh 
COVID-19. Walau bagaimanapun, ia adalah tempoh 
ketidaktentuan berterusan yang dilanda dengan 
peningkatan kos sara hidup, gangguan rantaian 
bekalan, pengetatan monetari yang agresif serta 
konflik geopolitik. Tekanan inflasi yang meningkat 
menjadi kebimbangan yang ketara bagi pelbagai 
ekonomi berikutan peningkatan kos dan permintaan 
yang tinggi hasil dari pembukaan semula ekonomi. 
Walaupun menghadapi cabaran global, ekonomi 
Malaysia mencatatkan pemulihan yang kukuh 
pada 2022 dengan Keluaran Dalam Negara Kasar 
(“KDNK”) yang mencatatkan pertumbuhan sebanyak 
8.7% pada 20221.

Di peringkat tempatan, kelemahan Ringgit Malaysia 
berbanding mata wang utama memberikan 
cabaran selanjutnya bagi Kumpulan DFI pada 
tahun kewangan 2023. Meskipun persekitaran 
perniagaan tidak memberangsangkan, usaha 
untuk mengekalkan kelestarian Kumpulan DFI 
terus dilaksanakan, dengan kawalan kos yang 
berdisiplin dan langkah-langkah preservasi tunai 
untuk memastikan kedudukan kewangan kekal 
kukuh dan sihat dan pada masa yang sama menjaga 
kesejahteraan pekerja dan kakitangan  dalam 
kawasan operasi perniagaan kami.

PRESTASI KEWANGAN

Sukacita saya memaklumkan bahawa Kumpulan 
DFI berjaya mengharungi rintangan dan mengatasi 
cabaran yang timbul akibat pandemik dengan 
prestasi kewangan yang membanggakan bagi 
tahun kewangan 2023. Kumpulan DFI mencatatkan 

perolehan yang lebih baik sebanyak RM151.8 
juta, yang merupakan satu peningkatan sebanyak 
RM52.7 juta atau pertumbuhan sebanyak 53.1% 
berbanding perolehan sebanyak RM99.1 juta bagi 
tahun kewangan sebelumnya berakhir 28 Februari 
2022 (“tahun kewangan 2022”). Sejajar dengan 
peningkatan dalam perolehan hasil, Kumpulan DFI 
mencatatkan keuntungan bersih sebanyak RM15.4 
juta untuk tahun kewangan 2023 berbanding 
kerugian bersih sebanyak RM6.0 juta untuk tahun 
kewangan 2022. Keputusan yang lebih baik 
pada tahun kewangan 2023 adalah terutamanya 
disebabkan oleh penyambungan semula operasi 
kedai runcit Kumpulan DFI sepenuhnya berikutan 
pelonggaran sekatan pandemik dan pembukaan 
semula sempadan antarabangsa serta langkah 
optimasi kos yang berkesan.

Kedudukan kewangan Kumpulan DFI kekal teguh, 
dengan aset bersih sebanyak RM344.5 juta serta 
tunai dan baki bank sebanyak RM156.9 juta pada 
28 Februari 2023.

DIVIDEN 

Kumpulan DFI mengisytiharkan dividen interim 
sebanyak S$0.002 sesaham atau pembayaran 
sebanyak S$2.4 juta (bersamaan dengan kira-kira 
RM7.9 juta) untuk tahun kewangan 2023 yang 
telah dibayar pada 10 Februari 2023. Pembayaran 
dividen ini diterjemahkan kepada hasil dividen 
kira-kira 1.48% berdasarkan harga penutup saham 
S$0.135 pada 28 Februari 2023.

TINJAUAN

Dengan berlalunya fasa kritikal pandemik, 
pemulihan ekonomi global dijangkakan. Walau 
bagaimanapun, ketidakpastian terhadap ekonomi 
global masih kekal kerana didorong oleh konflik 
geopolitik yang berterusan dan halangan global 
yang mendatang selepas itu. Pertumbuhan ekonomi 
Malaysia diunjurkan berkurangan kepada antara 
4% hingga 5% kerana pertumbuhan global yang 
dijangka perlahan untuk 20231.

Justeru itu, Kumpulan DFI menjangkakan 
persekitaran operasi perniagaan akan kekal 
mencabar untuk beberapa suku akan datang. 

Penyata
PENGERUSI

Sumber:
1	 https://www.bnm.gov.my/documents/20124/10150285/emr2022_en_ch0c.pdf
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Tanpa sebarang keadaan yang tidak dijangka, 
Kumpulan DFI dengan asas-asasnya yang kukuh, 
optimistik serta berjaga-jaga yakin bahawa operasi 
dan prestasi kewangannya akan terus kekal 
positif. Tumpuan Kumpulan DFI kekal teguh pada 
perancangan strategik, peruntukan sumber dan 
pengoptimuman kos untuk bersedia menghadapi 
cabaran masa depan. Walaupun berhati-hati dengan 
sumber, Kumpulan DFI akan terus meneroka dan 
mencari peluang perniagaan yang cemerlang untuk 
menambah sinergi kepada perniagaan DFI yang 
sedia ada.

PENGHARGAAN

Bagi pihak Lembaga Pengarah, saya ingin 
menyampaikan penghargaan tulus kepada semua 
pemegang saham, pelanggan, pembekal, rakan 
kongsi perniagaan dan pelbagai agensi kerajaan 
atas sokongan, kepercayaan dan keyakinan anda 
yang tidak berbelah bahagi dan berharga terhadap 

Kumpulan DFI sepanjang tahun kewangan ini. Saya 
juga ingin merakamkan setinggi-tinggi penghargaan 
kepada pihak pengurusan dan pekerja kami yang 
berdedikasi atas sumbangan dan sokongan mereka 
terhadap Kumpulan DFI dalam mengharungi 
persekitaran perniagaan yang mencabar ini. Saya 
percaya bahawa kakitangan kami adalah aset yang 
paling berharga dan mereka memainkan peranan 
penting dalam memastikan kejayaan Kumpulan 
DFI. Saya juga ingin mengucapkan terima kasih 
kepada rakan-rakan ahli Lembaga Pengarah atas 
dedikasi berterusan mereka, nasihat dan bimbingan 
yang tidak ternilai sepanjang tahun ini yang telah 
menyumbang kepada keupayaan Kumpulan DFI 
untuk mencapai kestabilan kewangan yang lestari.

Terima Kasih.

Adam Sani Abdullah 
Pengerusi Bukan Eksekutif
Duty Free International Limited

Penyata
PENGERUSI
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DATO’ SRI ADAM SANI ABDULLAH
Non-Executive Chairman

Dato’ Sri Adam Sani Abdullah, a Malaysia Citizen, 
is the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board. He is 
a self-made entrepreneur for more than 43 years. 
In 2000, he acquired a controlling stake in Atlan 
Holdings Bhd (“Atlan”), and was subsequently 
appointed as Chairman and Non-Executive 
Director of Atlan in June 2000 and subsequently 
re-designated as Executive Chairman on 14 
January 2022. Atlan is listed on Bursa Malaysia 
and its subsidiaries are involved in a wide array 
of businesses in duty free trading and retailing, 
property development, investment and hospitality 
as well as manufacturing of automotive component 
parts.

MR LEE SZE SIANG
Executive Director
(Finance and Corporate Services)

Mr Lee Sze Siang, a Malaysia Citizen, is an Executive 
Director (Finance and Corporate Services) of the 
Company and is responsible for the Group’s financial 
management and corporate services function. He 
currently also is tasked with executing strategic 
business directions set by the Board, and overseeing 
the operations and business development of the 
Group. He is presently the Finance Director and an 
Executive Director of Atlan. He was appointed as 
the Executive Director of Atlan on 16 June 2000, 
re-designated as a Non-Executive Director on 27 
December 2004 and subsequently re-designated 
as an Executive Director of Atlan on 8 October 2008. 
He obtained a Bachelor of Economics degree from 
Monash University in 1994 and holds a professional 
qualification from the Australian Society of Certified 
Practising Accountants. He is also a member of the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. Previously, he 
was with KPMG, a public accounting firm. 

GENERAL TAN SRI DATO’ SERI MOHD AZUMI 
BIN MOHAMED (RETIRED)
Lead Independent Director

General Tan Sri Dato Seri Mohd Azumi bin Mohamed 
(Retired), a Malaysia Citizen, joined the Board as 
an Independent Director and was appointed as 
the Lead Independent Director on 7 January 2011 
and 28 May 2014 respectively. He holds a Master 
of Science in National Resource and Strategy from 
The Dwight D Eishenhower School For National 
Security and Resource National Defense University 
Washington DC. He also sits on several private 
companies in the Railway Track Rehabilitation 
Industry, ie The Klang Valley Double Tracking Phase 
1 and 2, Construction of Highways, Buildings, Food 
Security and an International Event Management 
Company. He remains a member of the Royal 
Council State of Perak.

Board of
DIRECTORS
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DATO’ MEGAT HISHAM BIN MEGAT MAHMUD
Independent Director

Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud, a Malaysia 
Citizen, joined the Board as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on 9 July 2013. Dato’ Megat 
holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics (Hons) from 
University of Malaya and has more than 30 years of 
experience in the financial and banking sector.
 
He started his career in Treasury Department of 
a large local bank in 1980 before moving on to 
PROTON as the Deputy Manager of international 
finance. In 1989, he joined the Amanah Capital 
Group and spent a decade in Amanah Merchant 
Bank Berhad, finally holding the position of Deputy 
General Manager of the Treasury Department. He 
was transferred within the Group and appointed as 
the Executive Director of Malaysia Discounts Berhad 
(Discount House) and subsequently to Amanah 
Short Deposits Berhad (Discount House). To fulfil 
the Group’s aspiration of establishing a foothold 
in investment banking, he was tasked to lead the 
formation and thereafter helmed MIDF Amanah 
Investment Bank Berhad as its first Chief Executive 
Officer in 2005. He served the investment bank for 6 
years until his early retirement in 2011.

MR CHEW SOO LIN
Independent Director

Mr Chew Soo Lin, a Singapore Citizen, joined the 
Board as an Independent Director on 26 August 
2011. He qualified as an UK Chartered Accountant 
in 1971 and worked for international audit firms in 
England and Singapore till 1978.  He then  joined 
the Khong Guan group of companies and gained 
experience managing various food manufacturing 
and trading companies located all over Asia. He is 
currently the Executive Chairman of Khong Guan 
Limited and is also an Independent Director and 
audit committee member of Asia-Pacific Strategic 
Investments Limited, MTQ Corporation Limited and 
Kim Hin Joo (Malaysia) Berhad.

Board of
DIRECTORS
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MR LEE SZE SIANG
Executive Director (Finance and Corporate Services)

Mr Lee Sze Siang, a Malaysia Citizen, is an Executive 
Director of the Group. He joined the Group 
as Executive Director (Finance and Corporate 
Services) in year 2010 and is responsible for the 
Group’s financial management and corporate 
services function. He currently also is tasked with 
executing strategic business directions set by the 
Board, and overseeing the operations and business 
development of the Group. Please refer to the 
profile of Mr Lee set out in the section entitled 
“Board of Directors” of this Annual Report for more 
information.

MS CHEAH IM BEE
Financial Controller                                                                        

Ms Cheah Im Bee, a Malaysia Citizen, is the Financial 
Controller of the Group. She joined the Group as 
Financial Controller in year 2006 and is responsible 
for overseeing the functions of the finance 
department. 

MR STUART SAW TEIK SIEW
Assistant General Manager – Group Merchandising

Mr Stuart Saw Teik Siew, a Malaysia Citizen, is the 
Assistant General Manager – Group Merchandising 
of the Group. He joined the Group in year 2004 and 
is responsible for the Group’s procurement of duty 
free merchandise. 

MS OOI POAY HOON
Senior Manager - Group Merchandising & Marketing

Ms Ooi Poay Hoon, a Malaysia Citizen, is the Senior 
Manager - Group Merchandising & Marketing of 
the Group. She joined the Group in year 2022 and 
is responsible for the Group’s procurement for duty 
free core products and overseeing the activities of 
the marketing department of the Group.

MS TEE LAY YEN 
Senior Manager - Human Resources

Ms Tee Lay Yen, a Malaysia Citizen, is the Senior 
Manager - Human Resources of the Group. She 
joined the Group in year 2017 and is responsible 
for the full spectrum of Group human resources 
functions including planning, execution of 
recruitment and retention strategies, training & 
development, employee relations, performance 
management, compensation and benefits and 
payroll administration. 

She also responsible for developing and maintaining 
a productive workforce to support the Group’s 
business operations.

MR NG CHUN HOW 
Group Manager – Admin, Warehousing & Logistics

Mr Ng Chun How, a Malaysia Citizen, is the Group 
Manager-Administration & Logistics of the Group. 
He joined the Group in year 1997 and is responsible 
for the Group’s administration and logistics.

Key
MANAGEMENT TEAM
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah
(Non-Executive Chairman)

Mr Lee Sze Siang
(Executive Director)

General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd Azumi bin 
Mohamed (Retired)
(Lead Independent Director)

Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud
(Independent Director)

Mr Chew Soo Lin
(Independent Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud 
(Chairman)
General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd Azumi bin 
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Board of Directors Statement

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Duty Free International Limited (“DFI”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) is pleased 
to present its sixth annual Sustainability Report for the financial year ended 28 February 2023 (“FY2023”).

The past fiscal year has been one of transition. Collectively, the Group has seen a shift from lockdowns and social 
distancing to an evolving new normal. In an environment of gradual recovery for the industry and with travel resuming 
at a different pace in individual countries and regions, DFI flexibly adapted its working processes to these ever-
changing requirements. The Group’s retail outlets were fully operational in May 2022 following the reopening of 
international borders and relaxation of travel movements which contributed to an increased sales revenue compared to 
the previous financial year, which was adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Customers’ willingness to resume travel when restrictions were lifted is a reassuring indication of the industry’s 
recovery. Other promising signs are the fundamental trends towards experiences, exclusive items, novelties and gifts, 
and customers’ interest in finding great deals through attractive discounts. 

However, it is becoming vital that we understand our customers’ behaviour as travel retailers. We strive to deliver 
a compelling shopping experience while meeting the strategic challenges of new markets and changing buying 
behaviour. We continued extensive market research throughout FY2023 to identify potential new customer behaviour 
and expectations as instruments to drive sales. Increased interest in sustainability was one such finding. We are 
committed to continuing to be travellers’ exclusive shopping destinations while bringing significant value to society 
and the environment. Our sustainability approach covers our supply chain responsibility towards our people, the 
community and the planet. The Board invites you to read our sustainability journey in this report and let us work 
together to maintain DFI’s excellence in the future. 

The Board would like to take this opportunity to all business partners, customers, employees, shareholders and 
other stakeholders for placing their trust in the Group. As we move forward, we sincerely look forward to responding 
effectively to evolving risks and opportunities throughout the retail travel industry by contributing to better tomorrows 
in the global communities we are privileged to serve. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Lee Sze Siang
Executive Director
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ABOUT DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (“DFI”)

DFI is Malaysia’s largest local duty free retailing group, with a strategic presence at all leading entry and exit points 
in Peninsular Malaysia, including international airport, seaport, downtowns, border towns and popular tourist 
destinations. 

In the financial year ended 28 February 2023 (“FY2023”), the Group operated duty free retail outlets, complexes and 
trading outlets throughout Peninsular Malaysia, including Johor Bahru, Bukit Kayu Hitam, Kuala Lumpur International 
Airports, Senai International Airport, Padang Besar and Langkawi. All these outlets are centrally managed in Kuala 
Lumpur and Penang, Malaysia.

DFI’s core values provide travellers with an exclusive duty free shopping experience beyond their expectations. The 
Group delivers the highest customer service standards and retail execution. DFI offers an extensive range of premium 
international brands, including imported duty free beverages, tobacco products, chocolates, confectionery, perfumery, 
cosmetics and souvenirs.

DFI Group also owns the Black Forest Golf and Country Club and an oil palm plantation strategically located near the 
Malaysia-Thailand border at Bukit Kayu Hitam, which complements the Group’s retailing business. 

 

 

 

  Duty Free Complex at Bukit Kayu Hitam 

 

 

   

 

 

International 
Airports 

Border towns Downtowns Seaports Duty Free 
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ABOUT THIS SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Welcome to DFI’s Sustainability Report for FY2023. This Report covers the Group’s Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG) activities, performance and approach for FY2023, focusing on the topics of the most significant 
importance for DFI and its stakeholders. 

ESG engagement is an inherent part of DFI’s strategy. DFI Group is committed to incorporating sustainability in every 
step of business operations and decisions. The Group’s efforts consecrate its sustainability focus across day-to-
day operations. This Sustainability Report showcases the Group’s efforts to consistently outperform and set global 
benchmarks in its ongoing and future sustainability ventures. 

Reporting Framework

DFI prepared this Sustainability Report following local and international guidelines:

•	 Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Universal Standards; and 

•	 Singapore Exchange’s Practice Note 7.6 Sustainability Reporting Guide. 

GRI Principles Applied in Preparing This Report

The Group will continue to improve its sustainability reporting, training, climate-related disclosures and assurance 
systems in line with the new Singapore Exchange (“SGX”) requirements taking effect in FY2022/23.

DFI supports the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”). The 
Group has mapped its critical contributions to the SDGs in this report by managing material sustainability topics. 

Reporting Scope and Boundaries

This report covers DFI and its subsidiaries, which have managerial control; the coverage corresponds to the Corporate 
Structure on pages 4 to 5.

Unless otherwise indicated, standard disclosures include all operations potentially affecting the Group’s performance. 
In this report, DFI has included consolidated data wherever possible, analogous to the financial year reporting. Unless 
indicated otherwise, this boundary applies to all material topics covered in this Sustainability Report. DFI has not 
restated any information or data published in previous reports.
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Reporting Period

The reporting period covers DFI’s financial year 2022/2023 from 1 March 2022 to 28 February 2023. This Sustainability 
Report includes data and information from past reporting cycles where available. This report is published annually on a 
timely basis, with the last report released on 6 June 2022.

Accuracy and Reliability 

The Sustainability Working Group and internal auditors reviewed this Sustainability Statement content accuracy before 
presentation to the Board for approval.

Reading this Sustainability Report in tandem with the DFI Annual Report 2023 provides a more comprehensive 
overview of the DFI’s sustainability performance. 

Feedback

We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our sustainability efforts as it helps improve our future sustainability reporting 
and performance. If you would like to get in touch, please contact office@dfi.com.sg.
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REDEFINING TRAVEL AND AIRPORT RETAIL

Sustainability is at the heart of DFI, having been a vital component of the brand’s philosophy for more than 40 years. 
The Group’s success goes beyond commercial and financial performance; DFI understands that the Group’s business 
activities also affect societies where the Group operates. 

Sustainability in DFI concerns conducting business that balances short and long-term interests, integrating 
environmental, social and economic considerations. 

DFI’s sustainability commitment focuses on delivering the following promises: 

Sustainability Governance

DFI’s top management oversees the development and implementation of DFI’s ESG strategy. The highest responsibility 
for ESG-related decisions relies on the Board of Directors (“the Board”), who has the ultimate responsibility and 
oversight for sustainability. 

The Executive Director leads the execution of the sustainability strategy while the Sustainability Working Group 
(“SWG”):

•	 Manages day-to-day sustainability initiatives

•	 Ensures core business functions can complete their plans, meet their timelines and mitigate risks as required

•	 Prepares sustainability issues related to policies, guidelines and strategy

Each business area and group function are responsible for implementing these programmes.

 

 

 

 

•Delivering shopping pleasure with a good selection of 
local and imported products at competitive prices. Our Shoppers 

•Provide a conducive work environment to safeguard 
employee satisfaction and loyalty. Our People 

•Uphold organisation integrity and operate ethically in 
accordance with applicable legislation of entry and 
exit points including airport, seaport, downtown, 
border towns and popular tourist destinations. 

Our Business  

• Implement stringent measures to minimise supply 
chain environmental footprint through efficient 
consumption of natural resources and appropriate 
waste management. 

Our Environment 

•Nurture a healthy relationship with local community 
members and contribute to their well-being. Our Community 



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 23

Sustainability 
REPORT (cont’d)

DFI Sustainability Governance Structure

Sustainability Risk Management

DFI incorporated sustainability risks into its overall risk management framework. The management takes an enterprise 
view of all the risks material to the Group, with the Board of Directors overseeing all related processes. 

Environmental, social and governance risks and opportunities may impact DFI Group financially and non-financially.

For more information on DFI’s Risk Management Framework, Board of Directors, Board Committees, Risk 
Management Committee and risk management functions, please refer to pages 61 to 66 of the Annual Report 2023. 
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Values and Principles

DFI Group is guided by its values and principles when it works with stakeholders and conducts its business. DFI 
enforces its approach to ensuring ethical business conduct internally and along its supply chain through its policies, 
including its anti-bribery policy, anti-corruption policy, whistleblowing and conflict of interest policy. The Company 
demands the highest standards of integrity from employees, business partners, suppliers, contractors and agents. 

The Company is committed to doing business ethically and transparently, guided by several governance policies and 
procedures such as the Code of Conduct (“Code”), Anti-Corruption procedures and Whistleblowing Policy. The Code 
outlines the types of prohibited conduct and imposes strict rules governing charitable contributions, sponsorships, 
gifts, hospitality and entertainment expenses. Although this approach minimises corruption risks, it is supported by 
conducting careful due diligence on DFI’s external partners. 

All employees and personnel engaged by DFI received a personal copy of the Code. They must acknowledge their 
responsibility for complying with the policies and procedures set out in the Code. DFI briefs all newly joined employees 
to help them apply the Code in their daily duties. 

The internal audit team assesses DFI’s adherence to its ethical values. Various audits assess employee and 
departmental compliance with policies, procedures, local laws and regulations. Business activities that pose a higher 
risk to compliance and the Group’s reputation are periodically audited, such as financial management and reporting, 
corporate governance, employment issues, supply and capital expenditure transactions and other operational 
procedures. DFI investigates all actual or suspected corruption cases, including bribery and fraud. The Board receives 
regular updates on the Group’s compliance status.

The Group has also stipulated the policy and procedures and provided in-house training to the directors and 
management team to ensure strong business ethics and compliance with section 17A of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption 
Commission Act 2009 (“MACC Act”). The group-wide anti-bribery and corruption policy and procedures include 
measures and guidance to assess risks, understand relevant laws and report concerns. This policy applies to all DFI 
supply chain partners. 

Grievance Mechanism

All internal and external stakeholders may raise concerns about possible improprieties through several confidential 
channels. DFI communicates its whistleblowing policy to all employees and business partners. All staff, including 
management, are responsible for reporting suspected wrongdoing as part of the whistleblowing programme. 

Stakeholders may report any concerns of wrongdoing or corruption directly to the Whistleblowing Committee. The 
Group forbids retaliation against employees for making a report in good faith. DFI investigates all complaints according 
to their severity, reliability and credibility but did not receive any during the financial year ended 28 February 2023.
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STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION AND DIALOGUE

Engaging with its stakeholders regularly to understand their expectations, needs, and concerns is part of the Group’s 
ongoing commitment to sustainability. The Group interacts with its stakeholders in several formal and informal ways. 

Continuously improving stakeholder engagement to enhance inclusivity and the effectiveness of stakeholder 
communication creates stakeholder value. DFI’s governance, strategy, decision making and overall performance reflect 
stakeholders’ voices.

The ecosystem illustration in the table below describes the close interaction of DFI with its core stakeholders, which 
permits DFI to provide a superior service to customers. 

Stakeholder 
Group

Engagement platforms Frequency Interests and Key Concerns

Customers •	 Corporate website

•	 Feedback forms

•	 Social media

•	 Loyalty programme

•	 Continuously

•	 Continuously

•	 Continuously

•	 Continuously

Quality of products and 
services, product prices and 
promotions

Employees •	 Annual performance review

•	 Intranet portal

•	 Email communications 

•	 Internal meetings

•	Annually

•	Continuously

•	Continuously

•	As needed

Job-related training and 
development, work-life 
balance, employment benefits, 
performance appraisal and 
reward system

Board of 
Directors

•	 Board meetings

•	 Email communications

•	Quarterly and Annually

•	As needed

Regulatory compliance, 
economic performance, 
corporate governance and risk 
review

Government •	 Formal meetings

•	 Dialogues

•	As needed

•	As needed

Regulatory compliance, 
economic performance, and 
societal welfare

Investors •	 Media release

•	 Website investor relations section

•	 SGX announcements

•	 Dialogues

•	 Annual Reports

•	As needed

•	As needed

•	Quarterly/as needed

•	As needed

•	Annually

Regulatory compliance, 
financial performance, new 
development of the Group 
return on investment and 
dividend distribution

Suppliers •	 Meetings and dialogues

•	 Email communications

•	 Trade fairs and events 

•	As needed

•	Continuously

•	Annually

Product knowledge, events, 
partnerships, compliance and 
performance against contract 
terms

Financiers •	 Financial reports

•	 Regular meetings

•	Annually 

•	As needed

Compliance with financiers’ 
terms and conditions and 
financial performance
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MATERIALITY

DFI’s vision of sustainability is dynamic. The Group reviews its materiality matrix annually to ensure it remains accurate 
and that the reported information is relevant to stakeholders. DFI aligned the process of identifying material topics with 
the Reporting Principle and guidance for defining content in the requirements of the GRI Standards. 

DFI also mapped each material area against relevant goals, aligning the Group’s progress against the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (“UNSDG”).

Indicator Objectives and Targets Related UNSDG

Governance

Corporate 
governance

Managing business strategy and processes to build 
financial integrity, confidence and superior performance

Regulatory 
compliance 

Complying with all legal, economic, environmental and 
social legislation while supporting the national agenda

Sustainability & 
risk integration

Advocating sustainability as a tool for managing the 
Company’s risk exposure and minimising industry risks and 
unforeseen costs

Economic

Economic 
performance 

Generating sustainable financial and economic returns and 
creating stakeholder value to safeguard the sustainability 
of DFI’s business

Procurement 
practices

Encouraging a sustainable supply chain by promoting 
responsible business conduct among suppliers

    
 

 



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 27

Sustainability 
REPORT (cont’d)

Indicator Objectives and Targets Related UNSDG

Nation building 
& industry 
advancement

Contributing to advancing the nation by boosting economic 
growth and developing the travel, tourism and retail 
industries

Environment

Energy efficiency 
& carbon 
footprint

Using clean, renewable energy and moving towards a more 
energy-efficient future

Water 
management 

Using water efficiently and minimising water wastage

Social

Employee 
wellness, 
engagement & 
satisfaction

Attracting and retaining employees by creating a great 
place to work by providing welfare and a healthy lifestyle, 
and regular engagement with employees

Occupational 
safety & health

Maintaining an injury-free working environment for all 
employees, eliminating workplace health and safety risks 
and improving employees’ mental wellbeing

Talent 
management 

Building on employees’ functional, technical and personal 
skills to ensure that the DFI brand is positively represented

Non-
discrimination & 
diversity

Extending fair and non-discriminatory treatment to all 
employees

Employee 
benefits

Providing fair and comprehensive employee benefits

Customer 
satisfaction 

Continually assessing and responding to customers’ needs 
to enhance customers’ shopping experience

Ensuring quality 
excellence

Providing travellers with an exclusive shopping experience 
beyond expectations by having the highest standards 
of customer service, unique and exclusive travel retail 
concept, and exquisite product offerings

Data privacy Protecting the Company’s information (including 
confidential business data, employee information) and 
customers’ data privacy

Community care Being part of societies where DFI operates through 
philanthropy, community partnerships and annual 
donations to non-profitable organisations
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DFI Group Materiality Matrix

The Group’s most recent materiality assessment reveals how sustainability concerns have become critical elements 
in the group’s business decisions. The results of the materiality assessment helps the Group to identify risks and 
opportunities and support its decision-making on where to focus its resources. The findings are plotted on a matrix to 
show both the degree of stakeholder interest and potential business impact.
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ECONOMIC VALUE CREATION

Our Management Approach

Active corporate governance is vital for business development and also ensures the sustainable provision of long-term 
benefits for shareholders, employees and society. DFI seeks to maintain high standards of corporate governance, 
professionalism, integrity and commitment at all levels, underpinned by strong internal controls and risk management 
systems.

Like all aviation-related industries, the Covid-19 pandemic turned the retail travel sector on its head. While airlines 
and airports have borne the brunt of the crisis, the lower international travellers traffic is also affecting the retail travel 
sector. DFI Group aims to improve the travel experience as a leading travel retailer. The Group’s outlets welcome daily 
customers of various nationalities, initiating growth opportunities that benefit brands, international borders, airports 
and travellers. Developing attractive shopping environments supports economies, directly and indirectly, especially by 
employing local staff, sourcing local products, and paying taxes. 

DFI annually discloses its stakeholder value allocation, reflecting operations’ direct monetary impact on its primary 
stakeholders.

    
 

 

 

 

Retail Outlet at Senai International Airport, Johor Bahru 

 

  

 

Policies, Principles and Commitments 

• Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(FRSs) 

• Companies Act, 1967 (the “Act”) 
• Singapore Code of Corporate   

Governance 
• Requirements by SGX on sustainability 

disclosures 
• Code of Conduct  

Monitoring and Control Systems  

•  Financial reporting  
•  Internal audit 
•  Risk assessment 
•  Compliance training 
•  Whistleblowing 
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The following table presents the Group’s value distribution to its different stakeholders. 

RM (‘000) FY2021 FY2022 FY2023

Economic Value Distributed

-	Employees (Salary and other benefits) 21,928 12,043 14,459

-	Government (Income tax) 7,519 1,335 2,525

-	Providers of capital (Dividends and finance costs) 6,183 6,199 14,521

-	Community (Donations) 750 250 410

Total Economic Value Distributed 36,380 19,827 31,915

For further insights into the Group’s economic performance for FY2023, please refer to pages 73 to 149 of DFI’s 
Annual Report FY2023.

SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT

DFI’s businesses rely on suppliers for products, operations and maintenance. Optimising its supply chain ensures 
reduced operation costs, the highest accuracy in inventory management and delivering efficient and consistently 
improving services. 

Efficiency in the Supply Chain

Distribution is pivotal for DFI to adapt to this growing trend. Despite its widespread presence, DFI strives for consistent 
best practices, supply times and operational excellence. Based on business analysis, the Group has introduced a 
strategy that examines the end-to-end supply chain, from supplier to shelf, and the location of its brand partners and 
airports. This analysis provides the required capacity for the Group’s ever-growing business and the option to discuss 
minimising logistics constraints with its suppliers.

The main stakeholder groups pivotal to DFI’s business as a travel retailer are store customers and brand partners 
seeking to showcase their goods in the Group’s outlets. DFI has focused on refining its forecasting and replenishment 
(F&R) system.

Sustainability in the Supply Chain

Suppliers are an integral part of the organisation. DFI’s commitment to environmental and social responsibility extends 
to these suppliers. The Group screens all suppliers based on their social and environmental performance. 

DFI Group has made concerted efforts to collaborate with suppliers on reducing the carbon footprint of its supply 
chain, ensuring local and sustainable procurement practices and aligning with the ethical and social codes and labour 
practices.

Local sourcing, hiring and procurement create value for local communities. Improving the Group’s local content 
approach is similar to considering how its actions affect the local environment. More than 99% of staff at the Group’s 
outlets are nearby residents. 

There were no negative social or environmental impact cases in the supply chain in FY2023.
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ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE

Our Management Approach

DFI recognises the global concerns surrounding climate change and the potential environmental-related risks. As 
one of the largest local duty free retailing groups, DFI operates in a manner that addresses the evolving challenges of 
various environmental aspects and integrates the principles of environmental sustainability into the business strategy. 
DFI Group is adopting ways to manage climate-related risks, conserve and optimise the use of scarce resources 
and explore opportunities for reducing its environmental footprint. Collaborating with key stakeholders is critical for 
improving the Group’s environmental performance. The Group ensures full compliance with all regulatory laws and 
norms. 

DFI closely collaborates with its partners to become a more sustainable business by promoting the effective use of 
resources, especially energy, across operations and the supply chain, minimising unnecessary waste generation and 
adopting new technologies that reduce environmental impacts.

Due to the nature of the retail travel industry, DFI closely collaborates with third parties, particularly landlords, brand 
suppliers and logistic providers, to reduce the business’s environmental impact and implement circular economies 
where possible. 

RESOURCES EFFICIENCY

DFI operates outlets in highly regulated locations, in owned and leased premises. A significant proportion of utility 
consumption on leased premises, such as water or energy use and sourcing in these stores, cannot be directly 
influenced by DFI for most outlets. The landlords and building construction predetermine these factors. However, 
energy consumption for outlets at owned premises has been traditionally high due to retail business requirements that 
call for optimal in-store lighting and ambient temperature to create a luxury shopping experience. 

 

 

 

 

Solar Panel at Bukit Kayu Hitam Outlet
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DFI Group is directly able to influence its footprint in some areas and has already actioned specific initiatives to reduce 
its footprint, such as:

•	 Minimising plastic bag use

•	 Changing to differential switches to minimise consumption during closing hours

•	 Internal manual monitoring of resources and shutting down of power supply at unused operational areas

•	 Substituting traditional lighting with energy-efficient lighting systems

•	 Installation of A-rated electronic devices for air-conditioning and refrigerators at outlets

In other circumstances, DFI Group’s business model provides less potential for the Group to influence its footprint 
directly. DFI significantly increases its stakeholder dialogue, mainly the airports and supply chain, to explore 
opportunities to reduce the impact. 

Renewable Energy

Complementing our energy reduction initiatives, DFI is also increasing the adoption of renewable energy to meet the 
Group’s energy demand through non-conventional energy sources. DFI increased solar in its energy mix by installing 
panels on the roofs at Bukit Kayu Hitam and Padang Besar outlets. 

The Group’s total installed rooftop solar capacity is 565 kWp, generating 515 MWh electricity in FY2023, saving an 
average of RM21,842 monthly.

TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFD)

Climate change is more than an environmental issue; it significantly influences social and industrial structures and 
greatly impacts business activities. DFI evaluates the risks and opportunities of climate change and reflects them in the 
Group’s operational policies.

This year, DFI began aligning its climate-related disclosures with the TCFD recommendations in four key areas: 
governance, strategy, risk management and metrics and targets. The Group will continue enhancing its implementation 
of TCFD recommendations and reporting.

Key Areas Rationale DFI’s Approaches

Governance DFI’s governance around 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities

•	 The Board considers sustainability issues in formulating its 
strategy, determining material ESG factors and overseeing their 
management and monitoring.

•	 DFI Sustainability Committee is responsible for developing, 
overseeing and implementing sustainability objectives and 
strategies.

Strategy The actual and potential 
impacts of climate-related 
risks and opportunities on 
DFI’s business, strategy and 
financial planning

•	 DFI identified climate change as a critical risk in its Enterprise 
Risk Management (“ERM”) Framework, including physical and 
transitional risks. 

•	 DFI’s strategy in addressing these climate-related risks and 
opportunities spans all areas of the Group’s operations cycle.

Risk 
management

DFI’s process to identify, 
assess and manage climate-
related risks

•	 The Board identified climate change as a material risk issue and 
reviews these risks in the ERM Framework.

•	 The Company’s annual risk assessment exercise identifies, 
assesses and documents material risks, including relevant ESG 
risks, essential controls and mitigating measures.

Target The metrics and targets 
used to assess and manage 
relevant climate-related risks 
and opportunities

•	 DFI has tracked and reduced its carbon emissions and discloses 
its Scope 1, 2 and 3 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emissions. For 
more information, please refer to the Performance Data Table on 
page 40 of this Annual Report.

•	 The Company is currently developing carbon reduction targets. 
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Carbon Emissions

DFI manages and measures its carbon emissions using the internationally recognised GHG Protocol established by 
the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (“WBCSD”) and World Research Institute (“WRI”). The Group 
bases emissions accounting on the GHG Protocol classification of direct and indirect emissions.

For more information, please refer to the Performance Data Table on page 40 of this Annual Report.

WASTE AND RECYCLING

Avoiding waste in the first place or recycling is an effective way of protecting valuable resources. As part of the 
Group’s commitment to minimise its environmental footprint through a prudent waste hierarchy, DFI Group practices 
the Reduce, Reuse, Repurpose and Recycle principles – across the Group’s operations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scope 1  
(Direct Emissions) 

•DFI derived CO2 
emissions from the 
consumption of fuel from 
the emission factor 
published by the IPCC 
Guidelines for National 
Greenhouse Gas 
Inventories 

Scope 2  
(Indirect Emissions) 

•DFI derived CO2 
emissions from electricity 
use using the emission 
factor published by the 
Malaysian Green 
Technology Corporation 
for the Peninsular Grid. 

Scope 3  
(Other Indirect Emissions) 

•DFI calculates air travel 
GHG emissions point to 
point, including the number 
of employees on board 
and the distance travelled. 
Performing separate 
calculations for business 
and economy class flights, 
DFI used online tools 
derived from the WRI 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol 
to calculate the CO2 
emissions from air travel. 
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MAKING AN IMPACT THAT MATTERS TO OUR PEOPLE AND THE SOCIETY

DFI aims to contribute to a better and more sustainable future for everyone. Actively contributing to sustainable 
projects and initiatives presents the Company as an essential partner in developing sustainable, inclusive, safe, and 
resilient local communities in all operating countries.

Each employee is a brand ambassador. All personnel in stores, offices or warehouses contribute daily to shaping the 
Company and evolving the brand. DFI places high importance on building a great, unique place of work for employees. 
All departments ensure employees feel happy and motivated, driving a culture of passion and excellence through 
teamwork, integrity and high performance. 

Sample notices at workplace to ensure employees are guided on their health and safety

Our Management Approach

Providing a positive, inclusive and collaborative work environment supports the development of DFI Group’s dedicated 
staff as practical and innovative employees. In building this corporate culture, DFI actively encourages participative 
communication, collaboration and agility to change. The Group also aims to drive effectiveness and innovation by 
supporting professional and personal development, minding employee wellbeing and maintaining harmonious staff 
relations.

The Group’s human capital policies and procedures provide behavioural guidance for all employees, stipulating high 
standards of ethics and integrity set by the Group and expected by its stakeholders. These guidelines also ensure 
compliance with corporate and regulatory requirements. 
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OUR PEOPLE

Our people reflect the difference the Group creates as an organisation. DFI Group is committed to inclusivity and 
diversity in its workforce, representing the Group’s customers and the community in which it operates.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT AND WELLBEING

Identifying and providing employees with every opportunity makes them happy as we grow together. A feedback 
culture provides every employee with regular, constructive feedback on their organisational performance. 

DFI organised various engagement activities to enhance the employee experience and team bonding to unleash 
individual and collective energy in the workplace, such as festive celebrations, employee appreciation and birthday 
celebrations. 

CAREER DEVELOPMENT

DFI employees benefit from an extensive learning catalogue that covers programmes to improve their performance in 
their current positions and professional development programmes to support career progression. DFI delivers training 
that develops soft and technical skills in face-to-face, virtual and online formats. 

Personal development is vital as the Group operates in a customer-facing industry. DFI offers employees numerous 
seminars and workshops on leadership, IT, hospitality and customer service. These training programmes complement 
product training programmes for DFI store teams, typically delivered by the local teams. Training topics offered during 
the year include digitalisation, grooming and presentation, taxation principles and concepts, human resource-related 
courses and Microsoft Excel training programmes.

Target Achievement in FY2023 Rationale

18 hours of training per year per 
employee

9 hours The Group’s focus this year has been on resuming 
business following the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Moving forward, DFI Group will place greater 
emphasis on employee training as the Group gears 
up for recovery.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSIVITY

Diversity is essential for delivering the Group’s strategy. Unlike traditional retailing, DFI’s industry operates in 
multinational and multicultural environments. With outlets in major airports, seaport, international ferry terminals, 
border towns and tourist destinations, DFI engages daily with customers, suppliers and colleagues from different 
nationalities. Understanding cultural differences helps the Group engage with its customers and serve them effectively. 
DFI promotes an inclusive corporate culture that celebrates diversity in all forms, including gender, age, race, culture 
and creed. Please refer to the Group performance data table on pages 41 to 43 for a snapshot of DFI’s diversity and 
workforce balance. 

Gender Diversity and Pay Parity

DFI Group is committed to fairly treating its people and does not entertain gender discrimination in work or pay. 
Empowering women in the workplace brings a plethora of positives to the business. DFI’s concerted efforts improved 
women in the total workforce and leadership roles. In FY2023, the percentage of females in management increased to 
33%, exceeding the set target of 30%. 

DFI Group’s Employee Handbook and Code of Conduct demand strict action for any employee sexually harassing 
another employee. The Group commits to remaining an equal-opportunity employer, with a remuneration ratio of 1:1, 
for men and women. No discrimination case was reported during the year.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

DFI Group is committed to protecting the health and ensuring safety levels for employees, contractors, customers 
and visitors. Implementing workplace safety control measures in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations and 
performing regular checks minimises staff injuries stipulated in DFI’s objectives and target plans. 

The majority of DFI’s workforce operates in stores. Employees must follow the safety rules of the respective outlets 
at airports, seaport, downtown, border towns and landlords, as DFI’s work environments are highly regulated. DFI’s 
specific health and safety regulations for employees include emergency procedures. 

Health and safety training is critical for a safe working environment. Conducting induction sessions for new hires and 
regular training sessions with all employees ensures a complete understanding of the policies and procedures. DFI 
extends this training to workers who are not the Group’s employees but work on its premises for third-party service 
providers if needed.

DFI also schedules regular inspections and maintenance of all electrical and fire emergency systems, including fire 
alarms, emergency lights, exit signs, automatic sprinklers, pressurised hydrants, wet and dry risers and hose reel 
systems. A third-party service and maintenance company regularly inspects the machine room, lift and escalators 
to ensure they function optimally. DFI takes appropriate measures in emergencies and considers shopper safety, the 
firefighting system, and electrical and storage facilities in the store design. 

DFI is pleased to report that the Group has not received any reports of serious injuries, accidents or breaches of safety 
standards during this reporting period.

HUMAN RIGHTS

Employees and directors must operate with integrity and observe fair dealing when carrying out their activities for 
the Company’s brand. They must also promote sustainability, diversity, decent work, human rights, zero tolerance for 
harassment and the Group’s discrimination standards in the Code of Conduct. 

SHAPING THE FUTURE OF TRAVEL RETAIL RESPONSIBLY

Technology, shopping experiences, sustainability and the global pandemic influence customers’ current and future 
shopping patterns. These changes to the global retail landscape will also inevitably impact and shape the future of the 
retail travel environment. 

EMOTIONAL AND SENSORIAL SHOPPING EXPERIENCES

Increasingly, the shopping experience is vital in the post-pandemic shopping environment. DFI Group has to provide 
a space where shoppers are confronted with ambiences, emotions and reactions well beyond the one-dimensional 
backdrop to attract shoppers to our stores, fuelled by the unstoppable rise of digital and social media.

Texture, light, sound and smell are central as we combine the sensory and the subconscious to generate visual and 
atmospheric memories. DFI redesigned the interiors of its stores, creating a modern feel. The Group’s outlets offer a 
general lifestyle by offering merchandise that matches customers’ aspirations. The Group focuses on features such as 
cosy interior design, smells and sounds and merchandise sampling. 
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DFI also defines an exclusive shopping experience on three main elements: store, product and service.
 

    
 

 

Store - Well-organised, easy to browse and attractive  

•  DFI pays special attention to creating a strong sense of place 

by examining store designs, passenger flow and commercial 

space allocation. 

•The Group's shops are designed as standalone boutiques or 

integrated shop-in-shop in its general travel retail stores to 

effectively meet each location's travellers' profile.  

Product - Wide range of global brands 

•DFI delivers a full range of product categories, including 

perfumes and cosmetics, food and confectionery, wines and 

spirits, jewellery, fashion, leather, tobacco goods, souvenirs and 

electronics. 

•DFI is a partner of choice for global brands, allowing them to 

showcase their products in dedicated retail spaces and mirror 

their high street image. 

•No incident of non-compliance concerning the health and safety 

impact of the Group's products and services. 

Service - Service from the Heart 

•DFI delivers outstanding customer service at all outlet 

locations by allocating optimal staffing according to store 

traffic and sales and providing staff with a clear focus and 

targets. Empowering teams through solid leadership helps 

DFI improve the selling capabilities of its products. 

•Each section within an outlet is dedicated to a product 

category, with a highly-trained employee stationed to offer 

expert advice.  

•DFI commits to responsible marketing by providing 

transparent and honest information on promotions, offers 

and ongoing campaigns. There was no breach in the 

Group’s marketing communication and information labelling 

during the year.  



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 202338

Sustainability 
REPORT (cont’d)

SUSTAINABLE SHOPPING

Social and environmental sustainability will be the most defining trends of the post-pandemic retail evolution. It is 
becoming paramount as part of a long-term shift to more eco-friendly living and shopping behaviour. According to 
Forbes, consumers are asking brands what they do to support this trend, particularly among Millennials and Gen Z 
consumers. These younger shopper segments identify with more developed sustainable values than older generations.

Sustainability does not only concern the brand. Store design and product packaging are also integral parts of the more 
sustainable shopping experience that consumers seek. Customers are increasingly discerning about the impact of 
DFI’s operations across the entire supply chain: from ethical component sourcing to water consumption, management, 
pollution and waste disposal. DFI Group’s customers support the Group’s practice of minimising single-use plastic.  

REWARDING CUSTOMER LOYALTY

The ZON Community Loyalty Programme appreciates and rewards loyal customers for their continuous support 
and updates them on the ongoing promotions at the Group’s outlets. ZON Community Cardholders enjoy exclusive 
members’ discounts and benefits. The following diagram presents several other exciting activities to appreciate 
customers’ loyalty.

Other Exciting Activities to Appreciate Customer Loyalty

CYBERSECURITY AND DATA PRIVACY

DFI recognises the importance of safeguarding the privacy of customers’ data. DFI complies with data protection 
laws, including the Personal Data Protection Act, as it cultivates confidence among customers who entrust the Group 
with their personal data. DFI regularly review and update its policies, guidelines, and processes for compliance with 
applicable global privacy laws. 

DFI strives to maintain high levels of cybersecurity to defend the Group’s critical assets from cyber-attacks and 
minimise their impact. The Group did not receive any complaint concerning breaches of customer privacy and losses 
of data during this reporting period.
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OUR FUTURE COMMITMENT

At DFI, we focus on delivering a memorable “customer experience” instead of “customer service”. Customer 
experience encompasses the entire relationship between “The Zon” brand and a customer, not just one-off 
interactions. The approach leaves a lasting impression on the customer beyond quality products and excellent 
service. As customers are becoming more empowered, they call for sustainability transformation. DFI works closely 
with regulators, landlords and supply chain partners to embrace social, human, economic and environmental issues. 
When sustainability becomes part of a brand’s culture, it becomes a point of differentiation, a core value, and it will 
significantly impact customer perceptions.  

 Retail Outlet at the Duty Free Zone, Johor Bahru 
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GROUP PERFORMANCE DATA

FY2021 FY2022 FY2023

Economic (RM’000)

Political Contribution Made 0 0 0

Economic Value Generated * 3,294 23,501 50,388

Note *: Represents revenue and other income, net of operating expenses

 Economic Value Distributed

Employees (Salary and other benefits) 21,928 12,043 14,459

Government (Income tax) 7,519 1,335 2,525

Providers of capital (Dividends and finance costs) 6,183 6,199 14,521

Community (Donations) 750 250 410

Total Economic Value Distributed 36,380 19,827 31,915

Anti-Corruption

Employees receiving training on anti-corruption by employment category

DFI delivered this training to directors and management. The Human Resource department briefed the remaining 
employees on matters via the Employee Handbook and Code of Conduct upon joining the company.

Confirmed incidents of corruption 0 0 0

Environment

Total energy consumption

Electricity (MWh) 1,733 1,085 2,108

Solar installed capacity (kWp) 565 565 565

Total electricity generated from solar panels 
(MWh)

491 415 515

Monthly average electricity savings from solar 
panels (MWh)

41 35 43

Monthly average cost savings from solar panels 
(RM)

20,835 17,614 21,842

Emissions (tCO2e)

Scope 1 377 194 250

Scope 2 1,014 635 1,233

Scope 3 (air travel) 5 6 6
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GROUP PERFORMANCE DATA

  FY2021 FY2022 FY2023

Social

Diversity

Total workforce 345 296 294

Workforce Breakdown by Gender

Male 197 (57.10%) 158 (53.38%) 155 (52.72%)

Female 148 (42.90%) 138 (46.62%) 139 (47.28%)

Workforce Breakdown by Age Group

<30 81 (23.48%) 56 (18.92%) 67 (22.79%)

30-50 181 (52.46%) 164 (55.41%) 152 (51.70%)

>50 83 (24.06%) 76 (25.68%) 75 (25.51%)

Workforce Breakdown by Employment Contract

Permanent 323 (93.62%) 268 (90.54%) 265 (90.14%)

Contract 22 (6.38%) 28 (9.46%) 29 (9.86%)

Workforce Breakdown by Employment Category

Executives 105 (30.43%) 83 (28.04%) 78 (26.53%)

Non-executives 240 (69.57%) 213 (71.96%) 216 (73.47%)

Workforce Breakdown by Ethnicity

Malay 193 (55.94%) 163 (55.07%) 168 (57.14%)

Chinese 90 (26.09%) 79 (26.69%) 71 (24.15%)

Indian 14 (4.06%) 10 (3.38%) 13 (4.42%)

Others 48 (13.91%) 44 (14.86%) 42 (14.29%)

Disabled employees 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)

Workforce Breakdown by Gender and Age Group for Each Employment Contract

Permanent

Female 141 (43.65%) 125 (46.64%) 129 (48.68%)

Male 182 (56.35%) 143 (53.36%) 136 (51.32%)

<30 77 (23.84%) 48 (17.91%) 65 (24.53%)

30-50 174 (53.87%) 156 (58.21%) 144 (54.34%)

>50 72 (22.29%) 64 (23.88%) 56 (21.13%)

Contract

Female 7 (31.82%) 13 (46.43%) 10 (34.48%)

Male 15 (68.18%) 15 (53.57%) 19 (65.52%)

<30 4 (18.18%) 8 (28.57%) 2 (6.90%)

30-50 7 (31.82%) 8 (28.57%) 8 (27.59%)

>50 11 (50.00%) 12 (42.86%) 19 (65.52%)
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  FY2021 FY2022 FY2023

Workforce Breakdown by Gender and Age Group for Each Employment Category

Non-Executive 

Female 97 (40.42%) 99 (46.48%) 101 (46.76%)

Male 143 (59.58%) 114 (53.52%) 115 (53.24%)

<30 73 (30.42%) 57 (26.76%) 63 (29.17%)

30-50 114 (47.50%) 115 (53.99%) 108 (50.00%)

>50 53 (22.08%) 41 (19.25%) 45 (20.83%)

Executive

Female 51 (48.57%) 39 (46.99%) 38 (48.72%)

Male 54 (51.43%) 44 (53.01%) 40 (51.28%)

<30 8 (7.62%) 3 (3.61%) 4 (5.13%)

30-50 67 (63.81%) 47 (56.63%) 44 (56.41%)

>50 30 (28.57%) 33 (39.76%) 30 (38.46%)

Director Diversity

Total directors 6 5 5

Male 6 (100%) 5 (100%) 5 (100%)

Female 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)

<30 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)

30-50 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)

>50 6 (100%) 5 (100%) 5 (100%)

Turnover

Total turnover (number/%) 439 (127.25%) 71 (23.99%) 71 (24.15%)

Turnover by Gender

Male 190 (96.45%) 44 (27.85%) 41 (26.45%)

Female 249 (168.24%) 27 (19.57%) 30 (21.58%)

Turnover by Age Group

<30 186 (229.63%) 24 (42.86%) 24 (35.82%)

30-50 183 (101.10%) 29 (17.68%) 33 (21.71%)

>50 70 (84.34%) 18 (23.68%) 14 (18.67%)

Turnover by Employment Contract

Permanent 385 (119.20%) 50 (18.66%) 52 (19.62%)

Contract/Temporary 54 (245.45%) 21 (75.00%) 19 (65.52%)

Turnover by Employment Category

Executive 66 (62.86%) 18 (21.69%) 21 (26.92%)

Non-executive 373 (155.42%) 53 (24.88%) 50 (23.15%)
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  FY2021 FY2022 FY2023

New hires

Total new hires 52 28 70

Male 31 (59.62%) 11 (39.29%) 40 (57.14%)

Female 21 (40.38%) 17 (60.71%) 30 (42.86%)

<30 20 (38.46%) 10 (35.71%) 31 (44.29%)

30-50 15 (28.85%) 10 (35.71%) 28 (40.00%)

>50 17 (32.69%) 8 (28.57%) 11 (15.71%)

Female Representation in the Management

Women in Middle Management (number/%)  3 (60.00%)  3 (27.27%)  2 (20.00%)

Women in Senior Management (number/%)  2 (33.33%)  4 (36.36%)  5 (45.45%)

Corporate Social Responsibility

Total contribution to non-profit organisations 
(RM)

 750,000  250,000  200,000 

Training

Total training hours 1,366 1,574  2,630 

Training Hours Breakdown by Employment Category

Permanent 1,366 1,574  2,622

Contract 0 0 8

Health and Safety 

Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0

Human rights

Number of substantiated complaints concerning 
human rights violations

0 0 0

Data Privacy and Security

Number of substantiated complaints concerning 
breaches of customer privacy and losses of 
customer data

0 0 0
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GRI CONTENT INDEX

Statement of use Duty Free International Limited

GRI 1 used GRI 1: Foundation 2021

GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION

GRI 2: General 
Disclosures 2021

2-1  	 Organisational details Front cover, 1, 19

2-2 	E ntities included in the organisation’s  
sustainability reporting

20

2-3  	R eporting period, frequency and contact point 20-21

2-4  	R estatements of information 20

2-5  	E xternal assurance 21

2-6  	A ctivities, value chain and other business 
relationships

19

2-7  	 Employees 41-43

2-8  	 Workers who are not employees 41-43

2-9  	G overnance structure and composition 22-23, 47-72

2-10 	N omination and selection of the highest 
governance body

22-23, 47-72

2-11 	C hair of the highest governance body 22-23, 47-72

2-12 	R ole of the highest governance body in  
overseeing the management of impacts

22-23, 47-72

2-13 	D elegation of responsibility for managing impacts 22-23, 47-72

2-14 	R ole of the highest governance body in 
sustainability reporting

22-23

2-15 	C onflicts of interest 24

2-16 	C ommunication of critical concerns 25

2-17 	 Collective knowledge of the highest governance 
body

22-25

2-18 	E valuation of the performance of the highest 
governance body

22-25, 47-72

2-19 	R emuneration policies 58-61

2-20 	 Process to determine remuneration 58-61

2-21 	A nnual total compensation ratio 58-61

2-22 	S tatement on sustainable development strategy 22-23

2-23 	 Policy commitments 22-23

2-24 	E mbedding policy commitments 22-23
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GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION

GRI 2: General 
Disclosures 2021

2-25 	 Processes to remediate negative impacts 24-27

2-26 	 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising 
concerns

25

2-27 	 Compliance with laws and regulations 24, 29, 31, 34

2-28 	 Membership associations DFI is a member of Malaysia 
Retailers Associations 
and Singapore Business 
Federation

2-29 	A pproach to stakeholder engagement 25

2-30 	C ollective bargaining agreements Not applicable

GRI 3: Material Topics 
2021

3-1 	 Process to determine material topics 26-28

3-2 	L ist of material topics 26-28

3-3	  Management of material topics 26-28

GRI 201: Economic 
Performance 2016

201-1 	D irect economic value generated and distributed 40

201-3 	D efined benefit plan obligations and other 
retirement plans

30, 101, 109

GRI 202: Market 
Presence 2016

202-1 	R atios of standard entry level wage by gender 
compared to local minimum wage

1:1

GRI 203: Indirect 
Economic Impacts 
2016

203-2 	S ignificant indirect economic impacts 34-36

GRI 205: Anti-
corruption 2016

205-2 	C ommunication and training about anti-corruption 
policies and procedures

40

205-3 	C onfirmed incidents of corruption and actions 
taken

40

GRI 302: Energy 2016 302-1 	E nergy consumption within the organisation 40

302-2 	E nergy consumption outside of the organisation 40

302-4 	R eduction of energy consumption 40

GRI 305: Emissions 
2016

305-1 	D irect (Scope 1) GHG emissions 40

305-2 	E nergy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 40

305-3 	 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions 40

305-5 	R eduction of GHG emissions 40

GRI 306: Waste 2020 306-2 	 Management of significant waste-related impacts 33

GRI 308: Supplier 
Environmental 
Assessment 2016

308-2 	N egative environmental impacts in the supply 
chain and actions taken

30

GRI CONTENT INDEX
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GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION

GRI 401: Employment 
2016

401-1 	N ew employee hires and employee turnover 42-43

401-2 	 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are 
not provided to temporary or part-time employees

35

GRI 402: Labour/
Management Relations 
2016

402-1 	 Minimum notice periods regarding operational 
changes

A minimum of one month 
notice period is given to all 
affected parties resulting 
from operational changes 

GRI 403: Occupational 
Health and Safety 
2018

403-1 	 Occupational health and safety management 
system

36

403-2 	 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and 
incident investigation

36

403-4 	 Worker participation, consultation, and 
communication on occupational health and safety

36

403-5 	 Worker training on occupational health and safety 36

403-6 	 Promotion of worker health 36

GRI 404: Training and 
Education 2016

404-2 	 Programs for upgrading employee skills and 
transition assistance programs

35

404-3 	 Percentage of employees receiving regular 
performance and career development reviews

100%

GRI 405: Diversity and 
Equal Opportunity 
2016

405-1 	D iversity of governance bodies and employees 35, 41-42

405-2 	R atio of basic salary and remuneration of women 
to men

1:1

GRI 406: Non-
discrimination 2016

406-1 	I ncidents of discrimination and corrective actions 
taken

35

GRI 416: Customer 
Health and Safety 
2016

416-1 	A ssessment of the health and safety impacts of 
product and service categories

36-37

GRI 417: Marketing 
and Labeling 2016

417-1 	 Requirements for product and service information 
and labeling

37

417-2 	 Incidents of non-compliance concerning product 
and service information and labeling

37

417-3 	 Incidents of non-compliance concerning marketing 
communications

37

GRI 418: Customer 
Privacy 2016

418-1 	S ubstantiated complaints concerning breaches of 
customer privacy and losses of customer data

38

GRI CONTENT INDEX
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Duty Free International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with the Company, collectively the 
“Group”) is committed and dedicated to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within the Company 
and the Group in order to protect and enhance the interests of its shareholders and promote investors’ confidence.

This report outlined the Group’s corporate governance practices that were in place throughout the financial 
year ended 28 February 2023 (“FY2023”) with reference made to each of the principles of the Singapore Code of 
Corporate Governance 2018 (“Code”), which forms part of the continuing obligations of the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The Board of Directors (“Board” or “Directors”) of the 
Company confirms that, for FY2023, the corporate governance practices in place by the Group are in line with the 
recommendations of the Code. Where there are deviations from the Code, the Board considered alternative practices 
adopted by the Group are sufficient to meet the underlying objectives of the Code and appropriate explanations have 
been provided in the relevant section. The Group will continue to enhance its corporate practices appropriate to the 
conduct and growth of its businesses and to review such practices from time to time.	

(A) 	 BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Principle 1: The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible 
and works with Management for the long-term success of the company.

The Board’s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term value and return to its shareholder. It 
sets the overall corporate strategy for the Group and supervises the management of the Company 
(“Management”). To fulfil this role, the Board sets the Group’s strategic direction, establishes 
goals for the Management and monitors the achievement of these goals, thereby taking 
responsibility for the overall corporate governance of the Group as well as to ensure transparency 
and accountability to key stakeholder groups.

In addition to its statutory duties, the Board’s principal roles and functions are:

1.	 reviewing and approving the Group’s strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major 
investments and divestments and funding proposal;

2.	 approving the annual budget including reviewing the operational and financial performance 
of the business; 

3.	 approving the quarterly and full year financial results announcements of the Group including 
annual reports, circulars and material transactions (if any);

4.	 providing guidance in the overall management of the business and affairs of the Group;

5.	 overseeing the processes for risk management, financial reporting, compliance and 
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls; 

6.	 reviewing the performance of the Management, as well as approving the recommended 
framework of remuneration for the Board and key management personnel by the 
Management; and

7.	 considering sustainability issues including environmental and social factors as part of the 
strategic formulation.

The Directors exercise due diligence and independent judgement, and are obliged to act in good 
faith and consider at all times, the interests of the Group. 

In addressing and managing conflicts of interests, Directors are required to promptly declare 
any actual, potential and perceived transactions at a Board meeting or by written notification to 
the Company Secretary. In addition, the Company has in place procedures for Directors to give 
general notice of any interests in any corporation or firm, in order to anticipate possible conflicts 
of interest between the Directors and the Group. This procedure is conducted upon appointment 
and annually, prompting Directors to update any change in interests and/or confirm its previous 
disclosures. Where a potential conflict of interest arises, the Director concerned is recuse himself 
from discussions and decisions involving the issue of conflict and refrain from exercising any 
influence over other members of the Board in respect of the issue.

Provision 1.1
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The Board ensures that incoming new Directors are given guidance and orientation (including 
onsite visits, if necessary) to get familiarised with the Group’s business, strategic directions and 
corporate governance practices upon their appointment and to facilitate the effective discharge of 
their duties.

A formal letter of appointment will be furnished to every newly appointed director upon their 
appointment explaining, among other matters, their roles, obligations, duties and responsibilities 
as member of the Board. 

For newly appointed Director who does not have prior experience as a director of a public listed 
company in Singapore, the Company will, in addition to the induction as detailed above, arrange 
for such person to undertake SGX-ST’s prescribed training courses in the roles and responsibilities 
of a director of a listed company including the sustainability training and to familiarise such person 
with the relevant rules and regulations governing a listed company. 

During FY2023, no new director was appointed. 

The Directors are updated regularly with changes to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (“Listing 
Manual”), changes to the Group’s policies on risk management, corporate governance, insider 
trading and key changes in the relevant regulatory requirements and financial reporting standards 
and the relevant laws and regulations to facilitate effective discharge of their fiduciary duties as 
Board or Board Committees members from time to time. 

The Directors are also kept abreast of developments which are relevant to the Group, which have 
important bearing on the Group and the Directors’ obligations to the Group, from time to time. 
Relevant updates or new releases issued by the SGX-ST and the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) which are relevant to the Directors or new articles/reports (if any) 
including analyst reports which are relevant to the Group are circulated to all the directors from 
time to time. The Group’s external auditors also provide periodic briefing to the Audit Committee 
(“AC”) on changes or amendments to the accounting standards and their impact on the financial 
statements, if any. 

The Directors are conscious of the importance of continuing education in areas such as legal 
and regulatory responsibilities and accounting issues, so as to update and refresh themselves on 
matters that may affect their performance as a Board, or as a member of a Board committee by 
attending training courses, seminars and workshops as relevant and/or applicable for Directors 
on such relevant new laws, regulations and changing commercial risks from time to time when 
appropriate. Such conferences and seminars as well as other training courses will be arranged 
and funded by the Company for all Directors, if required. 

With effect from 1 January 2022, all Directors are required to undergo training on sustainability 
matters as prescribed by the SGX-ST. In connection thereto, all Directors of the Company have 
attended and completed the mandatory sustainability training on Environmental, Social and 
Governance Essentials organised by Singapore Institute of Directors in FY2023.

In addition, the Management regularly updates and keep the Directors abreast on the business 
activities of the Company during Board meetings. Directors will also be given opportunities to visit 
the Group’s operational facilities and meet the Management so as to gain a better understanding 
of the Group’s businesses.

Provision 1.2
Provision 4.5
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The Board has adopted a set of internal guidelines setting forth matters that requires its approval. 
Matters which are specifically reserved to the Board for approval include but not limited to the 
following: -

(i)	 any proposed material investments, acquisitions and disposals of assets;

(ii)	 annual budget;

(iii)	 quarterly and full-year financial result announcements for release to SGX-ST;

(iv)	 approval of the annual reports and audited financial statements;

(v)	 approval of the sustainability report;

(vi)	 approval of the interested person transactions;

(vii)	 dividend and/or other returns to shareholders;

(viii)	 convening of general meetings; and

(ix)	 all capital-related matters including issuance of new shares.

Provision 1.3

In order for the Board to efficiently provide strategic oversight over the Company and discharge 
its responsibilities, the Board has established a number of Board committees, namely AC, 
Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”) (collectively, “Board 
Committees”). These Board Committees function within clearly defined terms of reference 
and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure their continued 
relevance. The effectiveness of each Board Committee is also constantly monitored. All the Board 
Committees are chaired by Independent Director, and more than half of the Board consists of 
Independent Directors. 

The Board accepts that while the Board Committees have delegated power to make decisions, 
execute actions or make recommendations in their specific areas respectively, the ultimate 
responsibility for the decisions and actions vests with the Board and the Chairmen of each Board 
Committee will report back to the Board with its decisions and/or recommendations.

For further information on the duties and functions as well as the composition for the respective 
Board Committees, please refer to the various Principles in this Corporate Governance Report.

Provision 1.4

The Board meets regularly on a quarterly basis. In addition, it holds additional meetings at such 
other times as may be necessary to address specific significant matters that may arise. The Board 
and Board committee meetings are scheduled well in advance in consultation with the Directors.

To ensure maximum Board participation, the Company’s Constitution (“Constitution”) and the 
Term of Reference of the Board Committees have provision for Board and Board Committees’ 
meetings to be held via conference telephone, video-teleconference or similar communications 
equipment of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, without a director 
being in the physical presence of another director or directors. Important matters concerning 
the Group are also put to the Board for its decision by way of written resolutions. Minutes of the 
Board and Board Committees’ meetings are made available to all Board members, if requested 
and in the absence of any conflict.

Provision 1.5
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The number of meetings held in FY2023 and the attendance of each member at the Board and 
Board Committees’ meetings are disclosed below:

Name of Director
No. of Meetings attended /

No. of Meetings held 

Board AC NC RC

Dato’ Sri Adam
Sani bin Abdullah 5 / 5 – 1 / 1 1 / 1

Mr Lee Sze Siang 5 / 5 4 / 5* – –

General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd 
Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired)

5 / 5 5 / 5 1 / 1 1 / 1

Mr Chew Soo Lin 5 / 5 5 / 5 1 / 1 –

Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat 
Mahmud

5 / 5 5 / 5 – 1 / 1

* By invitation

The Board is provided with complete and adequate information on a timely manner, prior to 
Board meetings and kept informed of on-going developments within the Group. Board papers 
are generally made available to Directors on a timely manner, before the meetings and would 
include financial management reports, reports on performance of the Group, papers pertaining 
to matters requiring the Board’s decision, updates on key outstanding issues, strategic plans and 
developments in the Group. This is to enable the Directors to be properly briefed on matters to be 
considered at the Board and Board Committees’ meetings.

In addition, the Management also provides detailed explanation of the board papers, and in 
respect of budgets and financial results, any material variances between the projections and actual 
results are disclosed and explained. Directors are also entitled to request additional information as 
needed and Management shall provide the same in order for them to make informed decisions. 

Provision 1.6

The Directors have separate and independent access to the Management and the Company 
Secretary at all times to address any enquiries. Should the Directors, whether as a group or 
individually, require independent professional advice, such professionals (who will be selected 
with the concurrence of the Non-Executive Chairman or the Chairman of the Board Committees 
requiring such advice) will be appointed at the Company’s expense. 

The Company Secretary or her representatives administer, attend and prepare minutes of all 
Board and Board Committees’ meetings and assist the Chairman of the Board and/or the AC, RC 
and NC in ensuring that proper procedures at such meetings are followed and reviewed so that 
the Board and the Board Committees function effectively and the relevant requirements of the 
Companies Act 1967 (“Companies Act”), Listing Manual and Constitution are complied with. 

During FY2023, the Company Secretary has attended all the Board and Board Committees’ 
Meetings and the minutes are also circulated to the Board for review and information.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to the approval of the Board 
as a whole.

Provision 1.7
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Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought 
and background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the 
company.

Presently, the Board comprises one Non-Executive Chairman, one Executive Director and three 
Independent Directors, details are as follows:

Name of 
Director Designation Date of First 

Appointment
Date of Last 
Re-election AC NC RC

Dato’ Sri 
Adam Sani 
bin Abdullah

Non-Executive 
Chairman 7 January 2011 29 June 2021 – Member Member

Mr Lee Sze 
Siang

Executive 
Director 13 August 2010 27 August 2020 – – –

General Tan 
Sri Dato’ Seri 
Mohd Azumi 
bin Mohamed 
(Retired)

Lead 
Independent 

Director
7 January 2011 29 June 2022 Member Chairman Chairman

Mr Chew Soo 
Lin

Independent 
Director 26 August 2011 29 June 2021 Member Member –

Dato’ Megat 
Hisham 
bin Megat 
Mahmud

Independent 
Director 9 July 2013 27 August 2020 Chairman – Member

Provision 2.3
.

The NC is tasked to determine on an annual basis and as and when the circumstances require 
whether or not a director is independent, bearing in mind the provisions set forth under Provision 
2.1 of the Code and any other salient factor which would render a director to be deemed not 
independent. 

The NC adopts the definition in the Code as to what constitutes an Independent Director. 
Accordingly, the NC considers an “independent” Director as one who is independent in conduct, 
character and judgement, and has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its 
substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, 
with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgment with a view to the best interests 
of the Company. 

Based on the annual confirmation of independence and self-declaration submitted by the 
Independent Directors, the NC has reviewed and determined that these Independent Directors are 
independent in character and judgement and there are no relationships or circumstances which 
are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the Independent Directors’ judgement.

Provision 2.1
Provision 4.4

The Non-Executive Chairman, Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah, is not independent in accordance 
with the definition of the Code. 

The Independent Directors make up more than half of the Board which meets the requirements 
set out under Provision 2.2 and Provision 2.3 of the Code. This provides a strong and independent 
element on the Board. This is fundamental to good corporate governance as it facilitates the 
exercise of independent and objective judgement on corporate affairs. It also ensures that key 
issues and strategies are critically reviewed, constructively challenged, fully discussed and 
thoroughly examined.

Provision 2.2
Provision 2.3
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In addition, the Company had appointed General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd Azumi bin Mohamed 
(Retired) as the Lead Independent Director, to provide leadership in situations where the Chairman 
is conflicted, and especially when the Chairman is not independent. Therefore, the NC considered 
the Board has sufficient independent element and its composition is appropriate to facilitate 
effective decision-making.

The Board recognises that Independent Directors may over time develop significant insights in 
the Group’s business and operations and can continue to provide noteworthy and valuable 
contribution objectively to the Board as a whole. The independence of the Independent Directors 
must be based on their professionalism, integrity, objectivity as well as they possess core 
competencies such as financial, accounting and legal and not merely based on form such as the 
number of years which they have served on the Board.

As at 28 February 2023, three Independent Directors, namely General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd 
Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired), Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud and Mr Chew Soo Lin 
(collectively knows as “Affected Directors”) have served on the Board beyond nine (9) years from 
the date of their initial appointment. 

In view of the above, the other Directors have particularly reviewed and assessed the 
independence of the Affected Directors.

After due consideration and with the recommendation of the NC, the Board continues to regard 
the Affected Directors as independent notwithstanding the length of tenure of their service, after 
taking into consideration, inter alia, the guidelines for independence as provided for under the 
Code, the absence of potential conflicts of  interest for the Affected Directors which may arise 
through, inter alia, shareholding interest in the Company and/or business dealings directly 
or indirectly with the Group, and as they have demonstrated independence in character and 
judgment through, inter alia, their contributions to Board discussions, deliberations, ability and 
preparedness to exercise independent business judgment and/or decisions with the view to the 
best interests of the Company, without undue reliance, influence or consideration of the Group’s 
interested parties such as the Chairman, the other non-independent Directors, controlling 
shareholders and/or their associates.

Also, the NC and the Board have also evaluated the participation of the Affected Directors 
at the Board and Board Committee meetings and determined that they have been objective 
and independent minded in Board deliberations as well as their vast experience enables them 
to provide the Board and the Board Committees on which they serve, with pertinent experience 
and competence to facilitate sound decision-making and able to discharge their duties 
independently with integrity and competency. Additionally, the Affected Directors fulfil the 
definition of independent directors of the Listing Manual and the Code. The Board trust that the 
Affected Directors are able to continue to discharge their duties independently with integrity and 
competency. The Affected Directors have recused themselves from all NC and Board deliberations 
and decisions relating to their independence.

Taking into account the above, the Board has affirmed their independence status and resolved 
that the Affected Directors continues to be considered an independent director, notwithstanding 
they have served the Board beyond nine years from the date of their first appointment.

The Board notes that, with effect from 11 January 2023, the Independent Directors who have 
served more than nine (9) years from the date of his appointment either to step down or re-
designated as Non-Independent Director before the annual general meeting for the financial year 
ending 29 February 2024 which is to be held in June 2024 to comply with the Rule 210(5)(d)(iv) of 
Listing Manual together with the Transitional Practice Note 4 of the Listing Manual. 

The Board and the NC are fully aware on such requirements and will source suitable new Board 
candidates which shall be recommended and referred from various sources, including existing 
Board members, external networks or engaging the services of search consultants if the need 
so arises. For more details on the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, kindly 
refer to Provision 4.3. The Company will continuously review and take the necessary steps to 
comply with such requirements and relevant announcements will be published, where appropriate.
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The Company recognises the benefits of having an effective and diverse Board, and views 
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic 
objectives and sustainable development.

On an annual basis, the NC will review the appropriateness of the current Board size and 
composition, taking into consideration the changes in the nature and scope of operations as well 
as the regulatory environment of the Group. In reviewing the size and composition of the Board 
and Board Committees, the NC also reviews, the skills and core competencies of its members to 
ensure an appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience, gender and knowledge of the 
Company. These competencies include accounting and finance, business acumen, management 
consultancy experience, industry knowledge, strategic planning experience, customer-based 
knowledge, familiarity with legal and regulatory requirements and knowledge of risk management.

The Board and the NC have considered and are satisfied that the current size and composition of 
the Board is appropriate has adequate ability to meet the existing scope of needs and the nature 
of operations of the Group, which facilitates effective decision-making. The Board is confident that 
its Directors possess the essential competencies and knowledge required to effectively lead and 
govern the Group.

The NC is also tasked to review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time and to ensure its 
effectiveness and alignment with best practice and the requirements of the Code and any other 
relevant legislation. Any revisions or improvements, where necessary, will be recommended to the 
Board for approval.

Provision 2.4

The Company is committed to provide fair and equal opportunities and to nurture diversity within 
the Group. The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy where in designing the Board’s 
composition, board diversity has been considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not 
limited to age, gender, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, 
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that the Board may consider 
relevant and applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on ensuring a balanced 
composition of skills and experience at the Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, 
insights and challenge that enable the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, 
support good decision making in view of the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and 
support succession planning and development of the Board. For achieving an optimal Board, 
additional measurable objectives/specific diversity targets may be set and reviewed from time to 
time to ensure their appropriateness.

The Board recognises gender as one of the important aspects of diversity. Accordingly, the 
Company aims to appoint a female director within the next three years, following a merit-based 
approach that considers the necessary skills, experience, independence, and knowledge required 
by the Board to effectively fulfill its responsibilities. 

Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors do not exercise management functions in the 
Group. Although all the Directors have equal responsibility for the performance of the Group, the 
role of the Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors is particularly important in ensuring 
that the strategies proposed by the Management are fully disclosed and rigorously examined and 
take into account the long-term interests, not only of the shareholders, but also of the employees, 
customers, suppliers and the communities in which the Group conducts its business. The Non-
Executive Directors and Independent Directors are also involved in reviewing the performance of 
Management against agreed goals and objectives. The NC considers the Non-Executive Directors 
and Independent Directors to be of sufficient calibre and their views to be of sufficient weight such 
that no individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision-making process.

Based on the foregoing, the Board is of the view that the practices adopted by the Company 
are consistent with the intent of Principle 2 of the Code, which requires the Board to have an 
appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to 
enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company.
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The Company co-ordinates informal meeting sessions for Independent Directors to meet without 
the presence of the Management to discuss matters such as Board processes, succession 
planning as well as leadership development and the remuneration of the Executive Director and 
key management personnel. Regular meetings are also held by the Management to brief the 
Independent Directors on the Group’s financial performance, corporate governance initiatives, 
prospective deals and potential developments. The Independent Directors, led by the Lead 
Independent Director, meet amongst themselves without the presence of the other Directors, 
where necessary and the Lead Independent Director will provide feedback to the Non-Executive 
Chairman after such meetings.

The profiles of each of the Directors are set out on pages 12 to 13 of this Annual Report.

Provision 2.5

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board 
and Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Mr Lee Sze Siang is an Executive Director of the Company and assumed the roles and 
responsibilities of the CEO, including the execution of strategic business directions as well 
as oversee the day-to-day business operations and business development of the property and 
investment holding segments of the Group.

The Group’s Chairman, Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah, is a Non-Executive Director and was 
appointed as Chairman of the Board on 7 January 2011. He is consulted on the Group’s strategic 
direction and formulation of policies as well as to ensure the smooth running of the Board. His 
responsibilities include:

(i)	 setting the meeting agenda and ensuring that all Board meetings are convened and held as 
and when required;

(ii)	 ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information, and ensuring 
effective communication with shareholders;

(iii)	 ensuring that proper procedures are set to comply with the Code; and

(iv)	 acting in the best interest of the Group and the shareholders.

The Company Secretary may be called to assist the Non-Executive Chairman in any of the above.

Provision 3.1

The roles of the Chairman and Executive Director are separate and distinct, each having their own 
areas of responsibilities. The Company believes that a distinctive separation of responsibilities 
between the Chairman and the Executive Director will ensure an appropriate balance of power, 
increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision-making. As 
such, the decision-making process of the Group would not be unnecessarily hindered.

Provision 3.2

In line with Provision 3.3 of the Code, the Board has appointed General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd 
Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired) as the Lead Independent Director to co-ordinate and lead the 
Independent Directors to provide a non-executive perspective and contribute to a balance of 
viewpoints on the Board. He is the main liaison on the Board’s issues between the Independent 
Directors and the Non-Executive Chairman. He will also be available to shareholders who have 
concerns in the event that normal interactions with the Non-Executive Chairman, Executive 
Director or Financial Controller have failed to resolve their concerns or where such channel of 
communication is considered inappropriate.

Provision 3.3
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Board Membership

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-
appointment of directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the 
Board.

As at the date of this report, the NC comprises the following members, the majority of whom, 
including the Chairman of the NC, are independent:

1.	G eneral Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired)
(Chairman) (Lead Independent Director)

2.	D ato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah
(Member) (Non-Executive Chairman)

3.	 Mr Chew Soo Lin
(Member) (Independent Director)

The NC, which has written terms of reference, is responsible:

(a)	 re-nominating Directors (including Independent Directors) taking into consideration each 
Director’s contribution and performance;

(b)	 determining annually whether or not a director is independent;

(c)	 deciding whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his 
duties as a Director;

(d)	 proposing a set of objective performance criteria to the Board for approval and 
implementation, to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and of each Board 
Committee, and the contribution of each Director to the effectiveness of the Board;

(e)	 reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on all candidates nominated for 
appointment to the Board of the Company;

(f)	 recommending to the Board the review of Board succession plans for the Company’s 
Directors, in particular, for the Chairman of the Board and key management personnel; 

(g)	 reviewing and recommending to the Board on an annual basis, the Board structure, 
size and composition, taking into account, the balance between the Executive Director, 
Non-Executive Director and Independent Directors to ensure that the Board as a whole 
possesses the right blend of relevant experiences and core competencies to effectively 
manage the Company; 

(h)	 reviewing training and professional development programs for the Directors; and

(i)	 reviewing and ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.

Provision 1.4
Provision 4.1
Provision 4.2
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The NC is responsible for identifying and recommending new Director(s) to the Board to fill 
vacancies arising from resignation, retirement or any other reasons, after considering the benefits 
of all aspects of diversity, including but not limited to those described in the Board Diversity Policy, 
in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of skills, experience and background on the 
Board. 

In selecting potential new Director(s), the NC will consider candidates on merit against objective 
criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, the balance of skills, 
experience, independence and knowledge of the Company on the Board and the diversity 
representation of the Board and seek to identify the competencies required to enable the Board to 
fulfil its responsibilities.

The potential candidate may be proposed by the existing directors, substantial shareholders, 
management or through third party referrals. The NC may engage consultants to undertake 
research on, or assess, candidates applying for new positions on the Board, or to engage such 
other independent experts, as it considers necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities. 
Subsequent to the review of potential candidate’s curriculum vitae, qualifications, experience and 
expertise, the recommendations for new Director(s) will be put to the Board for consideration. 

Provision 4.3

The Regulation 104 of the Constitution requires one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if 
their number is not multiple of three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall 
retire from office at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company and all Directors 
to retire from office at least once every three years. It is also provided in the Regulation 108 of 
the Constitution that the Directors appointed by the Board during the course of the year must 
retire and submit themselves for re-election at the next AGM of the Company following their 
appointments.

The date of first appointment and last re-appointment for each of the Directors are set out in 
Provision 2.3 of this Corporate Governance Report.

The NC, in considering the re-appointment of any Director, considers factors including but not 
limited to attendance record at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, participation 
at meetings, and the quality of contributions to the development of strategy, the degree of 
preparedness, industry and business knowledge and the experience each Director possesses 
which is crucial to the Group’s business.

Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect to his re-
nomination as a Director.

The NC has recommended to the Board that Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud and Mr 
Lee Sze Siang be nominated for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. The Board has accepted the 
recommendation and the retiring Directors have also offered themselves for re-election.

Key information on Directors seeking re-election pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual are 
set out on pages 158 to 159 of this Annual Report.

The task of assessing the independence of the Directors is delegated to the NC. The NC reviews 
the independence of each Director annually, and as and when circumstances require.

Annually, each Independent Director is required to complete a Director’s Independence Checklist/
Declaration (the “Independence Checklist”) to confirm his independence. The Independence 
Checklist is drawn up based on the guidelines provided in the Code. Thereafter, the NC reviews 
the Independence Checklist completed by each Independent Director, assess the independence of 
the Independent Directors and recommends its assessment to the Board.

For the purpose of Provision 4.4 of the Code, based on the Independence Checklist submitted 
by each of the Independent Directors, the NC is of the view that the Independent Directors are 
independent as defined in the Code and are able to exercise judgment on the corporate affairs of 
the Group independent of the Management for the financial year under review.

Provision 4.4
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Despite some of the Directors having other Board representations, the NC and the Board 
were satisfied that these Directors are able to and have adequately carried out their duties as 
Directors of the Company at all times. In arriving at the aforesaid conclusion, the NC had taken 
into account, inter alia, the contributions by the Directors during the meetings and attendance 
at such meetings. Currently, the Board has not determined the maximum number of listed 
Board representations which any Director may hold as it considers that the multiple board 
representations presently held by its directors do not impede their performance in carrying out 
their duties to the Company. The NC and the Board will review the requirement to determine the 
maximum number of listed Board representations as and when it deemed fits.

There was no alternate Director being appointed to the Board in FY2023. 

The names and the key information as well as shareholdings of the Directors in office as at the 
date of this report are set out in pages 12 to 13 and 74 to 75 of this Annual Report.

Provision 4.5

Board Performance

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a 
whole, and that of each of its board committees and individual directors.

The Board and Board Committees have implemented a process for assessing the effectiveness 
of the Board as a whole and of each Board Committee respectively, as well as the contribution 
by the Chairman and each individual director to the Board. The Board had approved the objective 
performance criteria and process for such evaluations based on the NC’s recommendation. The 
NC has adopted an assessment checklist, which includes various quantitative and qualitative 
evaluation factors, and disseminates the same to each Director for completion. 

The NC had conducted the Board’s performance evaluation as a whole, together with the 
performance evaluation of the Board Committees and each Director individually as well as 
Chairman of the Board. The summary of the assessment results was presented at the NC Meeting 
for review and discussion.

The performance criteria cover the following main areas:

(i)	 Board Composition and Structure;

(ii)	 Conduct of Meetings;

(iii)	 Corporate Strategy and Planning;

(iv)	 Risk Management and Internal Control;

(v)	 Measuring and Monitoring Performance;

(vi)	 Training and Recruitment;

(vii)	 Compensation;

(viii)	 Financial Reporting;

(ix)	 Chairman of the Board;

(x)	 Board Committees; 

(xi)	 Board Contribution;

(xii)	 Knowledges and Duties; and

(xiii)	C ommunication skills with internal and external parties i.e. Shareholders.

Provision 5.1
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The assessment parameters for each Director include their knowledge and abilities, attendance 
records at the meetings of the Board and Board Committees, and the quality of participation at 
meetings. The NC and the Board have relied on the above-mentioned parameters to evaluate the 
Directors’ contribution individually and have taken such evaluation into consideration for the re-
nomination of the Directors. 

The assessment is generally conducted by requesting each individual Director to complete 
evaluation questionnaires. Each individual Director completes an evaluation questionnaire 
assessing the Board as a whole and the individual Directors as well as the Chairman. In addition, 
Directors who are also Board Committee members are required to complete the relevant 
evaluation questionnaire for each committee that they are a member of. 

To ensure confidentiality, completed evaluation forms by all Directors are submitted to the 
Company Secretary for collation. The results of the performance evaluation are presented first to 
the NC for review and discussion and then to the Board. 

The Board was satisfied with the results of the annual evaluation assessment for FY2023. For 
the financial year under review, no external facilitator was engaged by the Company during the 
evaluation process.

The replacement of a director, when it occurs, does not necessarily reflect the Director’s 
performance, but may be driven by the need to align the Board with the changing needs of the 
Group’s business and operations.

The Board and the NC have endeavoured to ensure that the Directors appointed to the Board 
possess the relevant experience, knowledge and expertise critical to the Group’s business.

Provision 5.2

(B) 	 REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on 
director and executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual 
directors and key management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own 
remuneration.

As at the date of this report, the RC comprises the following members:

1.	G eneral Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired)
(Chairman) (Lead Independent Director)

2.	D ato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah
(Member) (Non-Executive Chairman)

3.	D ato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud
(Member) (Independent Director)

All three members of the RC are Non-Executive Directors, and the majority of whom, including the 
Chairman of the RC, are independent.

Provision 1.4
Provision 6.2



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 59

Corporate 
Governance Report (cont’d)

The RC is responsible for:

(a)	 reviewing and submitting to the Board for endorsement, a framework of remuneration and 
the specific remuneration packages and terms of employment (where applicable) for each 
Director and key management personnel;

(b)	 reviewing and approving annually all aspect of remuneration, including but not limited to 
directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, share based incentives and awards 
and benefits-in-kind, of the Directors and key management personnel; and

(c)	 reviewing and submitting its recommendations for endorsement by the Board, any share 
options schemes, share award plans or long-term incentive schemes which may be set up 
from time to time and to do all acts necessary in connection therewith.

Provision 6.1

In reviewing the service agreements of the Executive Director and key management personnel 
of the Company, the RC will review the Company’s obligations, in particular, in the event of 
termination of these service agreements, to ensure that such service agreements contain fair and 
reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous.

Provision 6.3

No Director will be involved in determining his own remuneration. The RC has full authority to 
engage any external professional advice on matters relating to remuneration as and when the 
need arises. The expense of such services shall be borne by the Company. During the financial 
year under review, the RC did not engage the service of an external remuneration consultant.

Provision 6.4

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management 
personnel are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value 
creation of the company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the Company.

The RC will take into account the industry norms, the Group’s performance as well as the 
contribution and performance of each Director and key management personnel (“KMP”) when 
determining remuneration packages.

The remuneration for the Executive Director and KMP comprises a fixed and variable component. 
The variable component is performance related and is linked to the Group’s performance as well 
as the performance of each individual Executive Director and KMP.

The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors receive Directors’ fees in accordance with 
their contributions, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, responsibilities of 
the Directors and the need to pay competitive fees to attract, retain and motivate the Directors. 
The payment of Directors’ fees is subject to approval of the Shareholders at each AGM. The 
Independent Directors shall not be over-compensated to the extent that their independence 
may be compromised. There were no share-based compensation schemes in place for the 
Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors.

The Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive 
components of remuneration from Executive Director and KMP in the event of exceptional 
circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to 
the Company. The Executive Director owe a fiduciary duty to the Company. The Company should 
be able to avail itself to remedies against the Executive Director in the event of such breach of 
fiduciary duties.

Provision 7.1
Provision 7.2
Provision 7.3



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 202360

Corporate 
Governance Report (cont’d)

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of 
remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between 
remuneration, performance and value creation.

The Company does not have any formal remuneration policy. Notwithstanding that, in determining 
the remuneration packages of the Executive Director and KMP, the RC has considered the 
compensation and benefits which commensurate with the level of the Executive Director 
and KMP’s responsibilities and performance, as well as taking into consideration the Group’s 
performance relative to the industry. The Executive Director is not entitled to annual fee or 
allowance nor is entitled to receive any meeting allowances for the Board and Board Committees’ 
meetings he attends. Each of the Non-Executive Directors abstains from deliberating and voting 
on his own remuneration.

A breakdown of the level and mix of remuneration paid/payable to each Director in remuneration 
bands of S$250,000 with a breakdown in percentage for FY2023 are as follows:

Remuneration Band and 
Name of Director

Salary and
Bonus

Directors’
Fees

Others
Benefits Total

% % % %

Below S$250,000

Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin 
Abdullah

– 100 – 100

Mr Lee Sze Siang 100 – – 100

General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd 
Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired)

– 100 – 100

Mr Chew Soo Lin – 100 – 100

Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat 
Mahmud

– 100 – 100

The total Directors’ fees for FY2023, which will be put to shareholders for approval at the 
forthcoming AGM, amounted to S$145,000 (FY2022: S$145,000). 

For FY2023, the Group had identified the following KMP (who are not Directors or the CEO of the 
Company) and the details of remuneration paid to the KMP of the Group (who are not Directors or 
the CEO of the Company) for FY2023 are set out below:

Remuneration Band and Name of KMP
Salary and

Bonus
Other

Benefits Total

% % %

Below S$250,000

Ms Cheah Im Bee 100 – 100

Mr Stuart Saw Teik Siew 100 – 100

Mr Ng Chun How 100 – 100

Ms Tee Lay Yen 100 – 100

Ms Ooi Poay Hoon 100 – 100

Provision 8.1
Provision 8.3
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The aggregate total remuneration paid to the KMP of the Group (who are not Directors or the CEO 
of the Company) amounted to approximately S$361,400.

The Company does not have any employee share option scheme or any long-term incentive 
scheme in place during FY2023.

There were no terminations, retirement or post-employment benefits granted to the Directors and 
KMP during FY2023.

The Board, has on review, determined that it is in the best interests of the Group not to disclose 
the precise remuneration of Directors and KMP in the Annual Report. This decision is based on 
considerations of confidentiality and sensitivity surrounding remuneration matters. The Board 
believes that disclosing this information may potentially harm the Group’s business interests, 
considering the competitive environment in which it operates.

The RC has reviewed the practices of the industry and evaluated the implications of disclosing 
remuneration information. As a Group with a small and closely-knit team, the RC recognizes 
that such disclosure could potentially have adverse effects on the cohesion and team spirit 
among employees. Additionally, it may impact the ability to retain talent at the Board and top 
management levels.  

Notwithstanding that the Company did not disclose the exact remuneration of Directors 
and KMP (who are not Director or CEO of the Company) in its Annual Report for FY2023, the 
Board is of the view that the Company has provided sufficient transparency on the Company’s 
remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration and 
the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation, which are consistent 
with the intent of Principle 8 of the Code.

There were no employees who are substantial shareholders of the Company or immediate family 
members of a Director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the Company whose remuneration 
exceeds S$100,000 in the Group’s employment during FY2023.

Provision 8.2

(C) 	 ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that 
Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls, to 
safeguard the interests of the company and its shareholders.

The Board as a whole is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board will:

(i)	 ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal 
controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets;

(ii)	 determine the nature and extent of the significant risks and the level of risk tolerance, which 
the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation;

(iii)	 provide oversight in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management 
framework and system of internal controls (including financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls), including ensuring that Management puts in place action 
plans to mitigate the risks identified where possible;

(iv)	 review the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal controls 
systems annually; and

(v)	 set and instil the appropriate risk-aware culture throughout the Group for effective risk 
governance.

Provision 9.1



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 202362

Corporate 
Governance Report (cont’d)

The Group’s internal auditors conduct review of the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal 
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and 
coordinate a risk assessment on a regular basis to ensure the adequacy thereof. The findings 
of the review conducted by the internal auditors together with the review undertaken by the 
external auditors as part of their statutory audit are presented to the AC. Any material non-
compliance or failures in internal controls and recommendations for improvements are reported 
to the AC. The AC also reviews the effectiveness of the actions taken by the Management on the 
recommendations made by the internal auditors and external auditors in this respect.

The AC is responsible for reviewing the audit reports from the internal auditors and external 
auditors and assists the Board in overseeing the Management in the formulation, updating and 
maintenance of an adequate and effective risk management framework and internal controls. The 
Board, with the assistance of the AC, is responsible for the governance of risk by ensuring the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the system of risk management and internal controls.

In this regard, the AC is assisted by the Risk Management Team (“RMT”), as part of the Group’s 
efforts to strengthen its risk management processes and policy framework.

The RMT is tasked to:

(i)	 provide executive oversight and coordination of risk management efforts across the Group;

(ii)	 conduct review of its risk management framework and processes to ensure their adequacy 
and effectiveness on regular basis;

(iii)	 maintain a risk register which identifies the material risks facing the Group and the internal 
controls in place to manage or mitigate those risks; and 

(iv)	 review and update the risk register regularly by the business and corporate heads in the 
Group.

The Board notes that the system of risk management and internal controls established by the 
Management provides reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the Group will not be 
significantly affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve 
its business objectives. The Board also notes that no system of risk management and internal 
controls can provide absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against poor 
judgment in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

The Board has received assurance from:

(i)	 the Executive Director and the Financial Controller that the financial records have been 
properly maintained and the financial statements for FY2023 give a true and fair view in all 
material respects, of the Company’s operations and finances; and

(ii)	 the Executive Director, Financial Controller and KMP who are responsible that the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems are adequate and operating effectively in all 
material respects given its current business environment. 

Based on the risk management processes and policy framework, internal controls system 
established and maintained by the Group, reviews performed by the Management, and work 
performed by the external auditors and internal auditors, the Board, with the concurrence of 
the AC, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls and risk management systems are 
adequate and effective in addressing the financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology controls of the Group for FY2023.

Provision 9.2
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Audit Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee (“AC”) which discharges its duties 
objectively.

As at the date of this report, the AC comprises the following members:

1.	D ato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud
(Chairman) (Independent Director)

2.	G eneral Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd Azumi Bin Mohamed (Retired)
(Member) (Lead Independent Director)

3.	 Mr Chew Soo Lin
(Member) (Independent Director)

All three members of the AC are Independent Directors. The AC members have had many years of 
experience in accounting, business and financial management. The Board considers that the AC 
members are appropriately qualified to discharge the responsibilities of the AC.

Provision 1.4
Provision 10.2

The AC assists the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, particularly by 
providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting, management of 
financial and control risks, and monitoring of the internal control systems.

The AC has written terms of reference, setting out their duties and responsibilities, which include 
the following:

(i)	 to review with the external auditors:

(a)	 the audit plan, including the nature and scope of the audit before the audit 
commences;

(b)	 their evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls;

(c)	 their audit report; and 

(d)	 their management letters and the Management’s response;

(ii)	 to discuss with the external auditors any problems or concerns arising from their quarterly 
reviews, interim and final audits, and any other matters which the external auditors may 
wish to discuss;

(iii)	 to ensure co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

(iv)	 to review and assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls (including 
financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls and risk management) 
systems established by Management to identify, assess, manage, and disclose financial 
and non-financial risks;

(v)	 to monitor the scope and results of the external audit, its cost effectiveness and the 
independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually and give recommendations 
to the Board and the Company in general meeting regarding the appointment, re-
appointment or removal of the external auditors;

(vi)	 to review and ensure that assurance has been received from the Executive Director and 
Financial Controller in relation to the financial statements of the Group;

(vii)	 to review the internal audit programme and ensure co-ordination between the internal 
auditors and external auditors and the Management;

Provision 10.1
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(viii)	 to review the quarterly, half-yearly and full year financial statements of the Company and of 
the Group, including announcements relating thereto, to shareholders and the SGX-ST, and 
thereafter to submit them to the Board for approval;

(ix)	 to review interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual), 
potential conflict of interest and report its findings to the Board;

(x)	 to undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board or as the 
Committees may consider appropriate; and

(xi)	 to undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by law or by the Listing 
Manual, as amended from time to time.

Apart from the duties listed above, the AC is given the task of commissioning investigations into 
matters where there is suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement 
of any law, rule or regulation which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s 
operating results or financial position, and to review its findings.

The AC has full access to and the co-operation of Management and the full discretion to invite any 
Director or Executive Officer to attend its meetings, and has reasonable resources to enable it to 
discharge its functions properly. The external auditors have unrestricted access to the AC.

The AC recommends to the Board on the proposals to shareholders on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors and approving the remuneration of the 
external auditors. The AC had evaluated the performance of the external auditors based on 
the key indicators of audit quality and guidance, where relevant, as set out in the Guidance to 
Audit Committees on Evaluation of Quality of Work Performed by External Auditors, issued 
in July 2010 by SGX-ST and ACRA. Accordingly, the AC has recommended to the Board the 
nomination of Messrs Ernst & Young LLP for reappointment as external auditors of the Company 
at the forthcoming AGM. The Company confirms that Rule 712, Rule 715 and Rule 716 of the 
Listing Manual in relation to the appointment of auditing firms for the Group have been complied 
with. The Board and the AC are satisfied that the appointment of different auditing firms for its 
Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the 
audit of the Group.

None of the members of the AC was former partner or director of the Company’s external auditors 
within a period of two years commencing on the date of their ceasing to be a partner or director 
of the external auditors and none of the AC members hold any financial interest in the external 
auditors.

Provision 10.3

The annual audit plan is established in consultation with, but independent of the Management 
and tabled to the AC for approval. The AC has reviewed and approved the audit plan. Significant 
findings, recommendations and status of remediation are circulated to the AC, the Board and 
relevant Management.

The AC is kept updated annually or from time to time on any changes to the accounting and 
financial reporting standards by the external auditors. The external auditors will work with the 
Management to ensure that the Group complies with the new accounting standards which have a 
direct impact on financial statements, if applicable.

In the review of the financial statements for FY2023, the AC had discussed with the Management 
and the external auditors on changes to accounting standards and significant issues and 
assumptions that impact the financial statements. The most significant matters had also been 
included in the Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of the Company under “Key Audit 
Matters”. Following the review, the AC is satisfied that those matters as follows had been properly 
dealt with. The Board had approved the financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters Approach and measurements

Impairment assessment of Property, 
plant and equipment (“PPE”) and 
right-of-use assets (“ROUA”)

The AC reviewed and is satisfied with the 
reasonableness of management’s judgements and 
assumptions used in the value in use calculations 
to determine the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating units (“CGU”). The recoverable amount 
was determined using probability-based cash flow 
projection. The key estimates included revenue growth 
rate under various recovery scenarios, budgeted gross 
margin, budgeted operating costs and discount rate.

AC is satisfied with the carrying value of the PPE and 
ROUA. The impairment review was also an area of focus 
for external auditor. The external auditor has included 
this as key audit matter in its auditor report for FY2023. 
Please refer to the pages 79 to 80 of this Annual Report.

Impairment assessment of goodwill 
and investments in subsidiaries        

The AC reviewed and is satisfied with the 
reasonableness of management’s judgements 
and assumptions used in the determination of the 
recoverable amount of the respective CGU. The 
recoverable amount was determined using either value 
in use calculations based on probability-based cash 
flow projection or fair value less costs of disposal 
approach. The key estimates in value in use calculations 
included revenue growth rate under various recovery 
scenarios, budgeted gross margin, budgeted operating 
costs and discount rate and long term growth rate. 

AC is satisfied with the carrying value of the goodwill 
and investment in subsidiaries. The impairment review 
was also an area of focus for external auditor. The 
external auditor has included this as key audit matter in 
its auditor report for FY2023. Please refer to the pages 
79 to 80 of this Annual Report.

The AC has met separately with the external auditors and internal auditors without the presence of 
the Management to discuss their findings and provide opportunities for the external auditors and 
internal auditors to bring to its attention any significant matters encountered during the course of 
their audit in FY2023.

The AC has conducted a review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors and 
was satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would not prejudice the independence 
and objectivity of the external auditors. In FY2023, the aggregate amount of fees paid or payable 
to the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, was S$87,000, comprising approximately 
S$81,000 of audit fees and S$6,000 of non-audit fees; whereas the aggregate amount of fees paid 
or payable to other auditors of the Group was S$241,000, comprising approximately S$230,000 
of audit fees, and S$11,000 of non-audit fees. The breakdown is also set out in Note 7 of the 
Consolidated Audited Financial Statements of the Group for FY2023.

Provision 10.5
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The Group has implemented a whistleblowing policy (“WB Policy”) whereby accessible channels 
are provided for employees to raise concerns about possible irregularities or malpractice within the 
Group to the Chairman of the AC in matters of financial reporting or other matters which they may 
become aware and if such event occurs, to ensure that:

(i)	 independent investigations are carried out in an appropriate and timely manner;

(ii)	 appropriate action is taken to correct the weakness in internal controls and policies which 
allowed the perpetration of fraud and/or misconduct and to prevent a recurrence; and

(iii)	 administrative, disciplinary, civil and/or criminal actions that are initiated following the 
completion of investigations are appropriate, balance and fair, while providing reassurance 
that employees will be protected from reprisals or victimisation for whistleblowing in good 
faith and without malice.

The AC is responsible for oversight and monitoring of the WB Policy which is designed to provide 
guidance to the staff of the Group may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties 
in matters of financial reporting or other matters to their immediate superior or the AC Chairman. 

Details of the WB Policy, together with the dedicated whistleblowing communication channels and 
procedures have been made available to all employees and disseminated to new employees as 
part of their orientation training. It has a well-defined process which ensures that the identity of 
the whistleblower is kept confidential, independent investigation of issues/concerns raised and 
arrangements in place for the independent investigation of such matters for appropriate follow-
up actions to be taken and provides assurance that whistleblower will be protected from reprisal 
within the limits of the law or victimization for whistleblowing in good faith. Also, the AC reviews all 
the whistleblowing complaints (if any) at its quarterly AC meetings to ensure appropriate action is 
taken.

If there is any amendment or modification of the WB Policy regardless in whole or in part, at 
any time without assigning any reason whatsoever, it is subject to the approval of the Board of 
Directors. 

No whistleblowing letter was received in FY2023.

The Group has an Internal Audit Department which reports directly to the Chairman of the AC. The 
Internal Audit Department has unfettered access to all the Group’s documents, records, properties 
and personnel, including access to the AC, and has appropriate standing within the Company and 
the Group.

In FY2023, the Group’s internal audit team was headed by Mr Muhamad Anwar Mustaffa, 
an Associate Member of the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia and Certified Practising 
Accountant Australia. He has fifteen years of experience in the audit field, particularly ten years in 
internal audit. The Internal Audit Department carried out its function according to its Group Internal 
Audit Charter, which was drawn up according to the Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing set out by The Institute of Internal Auditors. None of the internal audit personnel 
had any relationship or conflict of interest that could impair their objectivity and independence in 
conducting their internal audit functions.

The AC reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function to ensure that 
internal audits function is conducted effectively, and that the Management provided the necessary 
co-operation to enable the internal auditors to perform the function. After having reviewed the 
internal audit reports and remedial actions implemented by Management, the AC is satisfied that 
the internal audit function is independent, effective, adequately resourced and is staffed with 
suitably qualified and experienced professionals with the relevant experience. 

Provision 10.4
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(D) 	 SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder rights and conduct of general meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable 
them to exercise shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their 
views on matters affecting the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and 
understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. In line with the continuous obligations of 
the Company under the Listing Manual and the Companies Act, the Board’s policy is that all 
shareholders should equally and on a timely basis be informed of all major developments that 
impact the Group via SGXNet.

Accountability to shareholders is demonstrated through the presentation of the Group’s quarterly 
and full year financial statements, results announcements and all announcements on the Group’s 
business and operations.

The Management provides the Board with appropriately detailed management accounts of the 
Group’s performance, position and prospects on a quarterly basis and when deemed appropriate 
by particular circumstances.

The Board also takes adequate steps to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements and observes obligations of continuing disclosure under the Listing Manual. For 
example, in line with the Listing Manual, the Board provides a negative assurance statement to the 
shareholders in respect of the interim financial statements.

The Management maintains regular contact and communication with the Board by various means 
including the preparation and circulation to all Board members of quarterly and full year financial 
statements of the Group. This allows the Board to monitor the Group’s performance as well as 
Management’s achievements of the goals and objectives determined and set by the Board.

All shareholders are entitled to attend the Company’s general meetings and are provided the 
opportunity to participate in the general meetings. Shareholders are also briefed by the Company 
or respective professional bodies on the rules, including voting procedures that govern general 
meetings. If any shareholder is unable to attend, he/she is allowed to appoint up to two proxies 
to vote on his/her behalf at the meeting through proxy forms sent in advance. A member who is a 
Relevant Intermediary (as defined in Section 181 of the Companies Act) is allowed to appoint more 
than two proxies to attend and participate in general meetings without being constrained by the 
two-proxy requirement. Relevant Intermediary includes corporations holding licenses in providing 
nominee and custodial services and Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board which purchases 
shares on behalf of the CPF investors.

Notice of the general meetings is dispatched to shareholders, together with annual reports, 
explanatory notes or a circular on items of special businesses (if necessary), providing at least 14 
days’ notice (for ordinary resolutions) or at least 21 days’ notice (for special resolutions) in writing 
(exclusive both of the day on which the notice is served or deemed to be served and of the day 
for which the notice is given). 

All shareholders will receive the notice of general meetings, together with annual reports, 
explanatory notes or a circular on items of special businesses (if necessary) by post and the notice 
of general meetings will also be published in the newspapers within the mandatory period. The 
AGMs are held within four months after the close of the financial year.

Provision 11.1
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The Company has conducted its AGM on 29 June 2022 in respect of financial year ended 28 
February 2022 (“FY2022”) by electronic means (“AGM 2022”). Pursuant to the COVID-19 
(Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital 
Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020 (the “Order”) which 
was gazetted on 13 April 2020, shareholders were invited to participate in the virtual AGM 2022 
by (a) observing and/or listening to the AGM proceedings via live audio-visual webcast or live 
audio-only stream; (b) submitting questions in advance of the AGM 2022; and (c) appointing the 
Chairman of the AGM 2022 as proxy to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the AGM 2022.

For AGM 2022, the notice of AGM 2022, proxy form, Annual Report 2022 and its Appendix in 
relation to the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, were sent to the shareholders 
via electronic means via the publication on SGXNet and the Company’s corporate website at 
https://ir.dfi.com.sg/. 

The Company will be holding its AGM in respect of FY2023 by electronic means (“AGM 2023”) on 
27 June 2023. The shareholders will not be able to attend the Company’s AGM 2023 in person. 
The details of the steps for pre-registration, submission of questions and voting at the AGM 
2023 by shareholders, are set out in the notice of AGM 2023 to be published on SGXNet and the 
Company’s corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.

The Company adheres to the requirements of the Rule 730A of the Listing Manual and the Code 
whereby all resolutions at the Company’s general meetings are put to vote by poll. The detailed 
results of each resolution will be announced via SGXNet after the general meetings on the same 
day.

Each item of special business resolutions included in the notice of the general meetings will be 
accompanied by explanation of the effects of the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are 
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings. There is no bundling of the 
resolutions as they are not interdependent and linked to each other. 

There is no “bundled” resolutions tabled to the Shareholders of the Company at AGM 2022 and 
AGM 2023 for approval.

Provision 11.2
 

All shareholders are entitled to attend general meetings of the Company and are given the 
opportunity to raise questions to the Board, participate effectively and to vote accordingly. 
The respective Chairman of the AC, NC and RC are normally present and available to address 
questions from shareholders at general meetings. Furthermore, the external auditors are present to 
assist the Board in addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. 

For AGM 2022, save for the Non-Executive Chairman of the Group who has appointed General 
Tan Sri Dato’ Sri Mohd Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired) to chair the AGM 2022 and the Independent 
Director, Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud, all the other Directors and the external auditors 
have attended the AGM 2022 held on 29 June 2022 by electronic means. 

Please refer to the Provision 11.1 for more details on the AGM 2022.

Provision 11.3

The Company has not amended its Constitution to provide for absentia voting methods. Voting 
in absentia and by electronic mail may only be possible following careful study to ensure that 
integrity of the information and authentication of the shareholders’ identities through the web are 
not compromised.

Provision 11.4

Under Provision 11.5 of the Code, the Company should publish the minutes of general meetings 
of shareholders on SGXNet and/or its corporate website as soon as practicable and such minutes 
shall record substantial and relevant comments or queries from shareholders relating to the 
agenda of the general meeting, and responses from the Board and Management. The minutes 
of the general meetings which include substantial comments or queries from shareholders and 
responses from the Board and Management, will be published on SGXNet and the Company’s 
corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/ within one month after the general meetings.

Provision 11.5
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The Group does not have a formal dividend policy at present. The form, frequency and amount of 
dividends declared each year will take into consideration the Group’s profit, cash position, positive 
cash flow generated from operations, projected capital requirements for business growth and 
other factors as the Board may deem appropriate. Nonetheless, the Company had on 11 January 
2023 declared a first one-tier tax exempt interim dividends of S$0.002 per ordinary share for 
FY2023 which were paid to shareholders on 10 February 2023.

Provision 11.6

ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilities 
the participation of shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow 
shareholders to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting the Group, whether at the 
general meetings of shareholders or on an ad-hoc basis. At the general meetings, shareholders 
will be given the opportunity to express their views and ask Directors or the Management 
questions regarding the Group.

For AGM 2022, the Company did not receive any question from the shareholders in relation to the 
Company’s businesses, operations and the resolutions tabled at the AGM 2022 prior to the AGM 
2022. The Company has published the minutes of the AGM 2022 proceedings on 13 July 2022 via 
SGXNet and its corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.

Provision 12.1

Shareholders are informed of general meetings through announcements released via SGXNet and 
notices contained in the annual reports or circulars sent to all shareholders.

The Company ensures that timely and adequate disclosure of information on matters of material 
impact on the Company are made to shareholders via the SGXNet and press where appropriate, 
in compliance with the requirements set out in the Listing Manual, with particular reference to 
the Corporate Disclosure Policy set out therein. Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to 
a selected group, the Company will make the same disclosure publicly to all others as soon as 
practicable.

Provision 12.2

Communication to shareholders by the Company is made through:

(i)	 annual reports that are prepared and sent to all shareholders. The Board ensures that the 
annual report includes all relevant information about the Company and the Group, including 
future developments and other disclosures required by the Companies Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards;

(ii)	 quarterly announcements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs of 
the Group for that period;

(iii)	 notices of explanatory memoranda for AGMs and Extraordinary General Meetings 
(“EGMs”); and

(iv)	 the Company’s corporate website at https://www.dfi.com.sg at which shareholders can 
access financial information, corporate announcements, press releases, annual reports and 
the profile of the Group.

Provision 12.3

Apart from the mandatory announcements through SGX-ST, the Company also  
established a dedicated section on “Investor Relations Enquiries” at its corporate website 
at https://www.dfi.com.sg to further enhance communication with the investors or other 
stakeholders.

Price sensitive information is first publicly released through the SGXNet before the Company 
meets with any investors or analysts. 
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Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general meetings to ensure a high level 
of accountability and to stay informed of the Group’s strategies and growth plans. The Board 
welcomes questions from shareholders who wish to raise issues, either informally or formally 
before or during the general meetings.

(E) 	 MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS’ RELATIONSHIPS

Engagement with Stakeholders

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the 
needs and interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure 
that the best interest of the company are served.

The Company has its materiality assessment process to identify their key stakeholders who have 
direct influence on the business and operations but not limited to customers, employees, board 
of directors, government, investors, suppliers and financiers via the engagement platforms, areas 
of concern and its frequency announced to SGX-ST via its Sustainability Report 2022 which was 
published together with its Annual Report 2022 on 6 June 2022. The Sustainability Report for 
FY2023 is released together with this Annual Report which detailed information is set out in pages 
17 to 46 of this Annual Report.

The Company maintains a corporate website which is updated regularly with the information 
released on SGXNet and business developments of the Group to communicate and engage with 
the stakeholders. The stakeholder can assess the relevant materials such as financial information, 
corporate announcements, press releases, annual reports, sustainability reports and the profile of 
the Group via the corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.

Provision 13.1
Provision 13.2
Provision 13.3

(F) 	 DEALINGS IN COMPANY’S SECURITIES

The Company has adopted and implemented policies in line with the SGX-ST’s best practices in 
relation to dealing in the securities of the Company. The Company issues circular to its officers 
(includes directors and employees) to remind them that they are not allowed to deal in the 
Company’s shares during the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the 
Company’s financial results for each of the first three quarters of its financial year, and one month 
before the announcement of the Company’s full-year financial results, and ending on the date of 
the announcement of the relevant results. Officers of the Company are also discouraged from 
dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations and in circumstances where they 
are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group. They are also advised 
to be mindful of the laws on insider-trading at all times.

In addition, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of its own shares 
pursuant to its share buyback mandate at any time after a price sensitive development has 
occurred or has been the subject of a decision, until the price sensitive information has been 
publicly announced.
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(G) 	 INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has established procedures for recording and reporting interested person 
transactions in a timely manner to the AC and such transactions are conducted at arm’s length 
basis and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.

The aggregate value of the interested person transactions entered into by the Group during the 
financial year was as follows:

Name of interested 
person

Nature of 
relationship

Aggregate value of 
all interested person 
transactions during 
the financial period 

under review (excluding 
transactions less 
than $100,000 and 

transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to 

Rule 920)
(RM’000)

Aggregate value of 
all interested person 

transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to 
Rule 920 (excluding 

transactions less than 
$100,000)
(RM’000)

Atlan Holdings Bhd
Immediate 

holding company
1,600 –

The Company does not have any existing general mandate from shareholders for interested 
person transactions pursuant to Rule 920 of the Listing Manual.

(H) 	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save for the service agreement entered into between the Executive Director and the Company, 
there was no material contract entered into by the Company and any of its subsidiaries involving 
the interests of any Director or controlling shareholders, either still subsisting at the end of 
FY2023, or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year ended 
28 February 2022.
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(I) 	 USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACEMENT EXERCISES

The Company had, on 7 March 2016, 24 March 2016, 11 August 2016, 26 August 2016, and 23 
March 2017 completed five placement exercises of (i) 39 million new ordinary shares, (ii) 5.5 million 
treasury shares, (iii) 20 million new ordinary shares, (iv) 30 million new ordinary shares and (v) 
34.15 million new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company respectively (total 128.65 million 
new ordinary shares), raising a total net proceeds of S$43.6 million. 

As at the date of this report, the Company has utilised the net proceeds from the placement 
exercises as detailed below:-

(a)	US $2.80 million (or approximately S$3.82 million) for the subscription for 2,800,000 new 
ordinary shares in Brand Connect Holding Pte. Ltd. announced on 8 August 2018;

(b)	US $850,000 (or approximately S$1.16 million) for the purchase of inventories and payment 
of professional fees in relation to the acquisition of Brand Connect Holdings Pte. Ltd. 
Group announced on 9 November 2018; 

(c)	US $800,000 (or approximately S$1.10 million) for the purchase of inventories for Brand 
Connect Holding Pte. Ltd. Group announced on 5 December 2018;

(d)	 US$10.93 million (or approximately S$14.91 million) for the acquisition of 31,494,575 
ordinary shares in DFZ Capital Sdn Bhd announced on 7 December 2021; and

(e)	US $1.53 million (or approximately S$2.09 million) for the payment of trade payables due to 
Heinemann Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. announced on 7 December 2021.

The amount remaining from the net proceeds as at date of this report is approximately S$20.52 
million and the Company will make periodic announcements as and when the net proceeds from 
the abovementioned placement exercises is materially disbursed.
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The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of Duty Free International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the 
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 28 
February 2023.

Opinion of the directors

In the opinion of the directors,

(i)	 the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and of the Company as at 28 February 2023 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)	 at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah Non-Executive Chairman
Lee Sze Siang Executive Director
General Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Mohd Azumi bin Mohamed (Retired) Lead Independent Director
Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud Independent Director
Chew Soo Lin Independent Director

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures

Except as described aforesaid and below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the 
Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable directors of the 
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body 
corporate.

Directors’ 
Statement
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Directors’ interests in shares, warrants or debentures

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ 
shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, an interest in shares, 
warrants or debentures of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated 
below:

Direct interest Deemed interest
Name of director As at 01.03.2022 As at 28.02.2023 As at 01.03.2022 As at 28.02.2023

Ordinary shares of the Company

Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah – – 905,028,113(1) 905,028,113(1)

Chew Soo Lin 2,669,399 2,669,399 133,000(2) 133,000(2)

Ordinary shares in the immediate 
holding company 

Atlan Holdings Bhd

Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah – – 130,319,214(3) 130,319,214(3)

Chew Soo Lin 3,842,966 3,842,966 – –

(1)	D ato’ Sri Adam Sani Bin Abdullah is deemed to have interest in the 905,028,113 shares held by Atlan Holdings Bhd through 
Chesterfield Trust Company Limited as Trustees of The Lim Family Trust by virtue of himself as the settlor, initial Protector and 
a primary beneficiary of The Lim Family Trust.

(2)	C hew Soo Lin is deemed interested in the 133,000 shares held by his mother, Chong Sai Noi @ Chong Mew Leng.

(3)	D eemed interested held though Chesterfield Trust Company Limited as Trustees of The Lim Family Trust in Distinct Continent 
Sdn. Bhd. and Alpretz Capital Sdn. Bhd. by virtue of himself being the Settlor, initial Protector and a primary beneficiary of 
Trust.

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year 
and 21 March 2023.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had an interest in shares, 
warrants or debentures of the Company or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or at 
the end of the financial year.

Options

There is presently no option scheme on unissued shares of the Company or any related corporation in the Group.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (the “AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with section 201B (5) of the Singapore 
Companies Act 1967, including the following:

(a)	R eviewed the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Group and the Company, and reviewed the 
internal auditors’ evaluation of the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and the 
assistance given by the Group and the Company’s management to the external and internal auditors; 

(b)	R eviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual financial 
statements of the Group and the Company before their submission to the Board of Directors (the “Board”); 

(c)	R eviewed effectiveness of the Group and the Company’s material internal controls, including financial, 
operational, information technology and compliance controls and risk management via reviews carried out by 
the internal auditors;

(d)	 Met with the external auditors, internal auditors, other committees, and management in separate executive 
sessions to discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

(e)	R eviewed legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related 
compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;

(f)	 Reviewed the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

(g)	 Reviewed the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

(h)	R ecommended to the Board the external auditors to be nominated, approved the compensation of the external 
auditors and reviewed the scope and results of the audit;

(i)	R eported actions and minutes of the AC to the Board with such recommendations as the AC considered 
appropriate; and

(j)	R eviewed interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited’s Listing Manual.

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied that the 
nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. The AC has also 
conducted a review of interested person transactions. 

The AC convened five meetings during the financial year with full attendance from all members. The AC has also met 
with internal auditors and external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once during 
the financial year.

Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.
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Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the Board:

Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah 
Director

Lee Sze Siang
Director

Singapore
31 May 2023
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Duty Free International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 
28 February 2023, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial position 
and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 1967 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”) so as to give 
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as 
at 28 February 2023 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated 
cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 
(ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. 
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the 
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

Independent
Auditors’ Report
For the financial year ended 28 February 2023
To the Members of Duty Free International Limited
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For the financial year ended 28 February 2023
To the Members of Duty Free International Limited

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and right-of-use assets (“ROUA”)

As at 28 February 2023, the net carrying amount of the Group’s PPE and ROUA is RM51.1 million and RM105.5 
million, which represents 29% and 61% of the non-current assets respectively. During the year ended 28 February 
2023, management recognised RM Nil and RM85,000 impairment loss on PPE and ROUA respectively. This is in 
view of the improvements in the business due to the full resumption of the Group’s retail outlets following the easing 
of COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and re-opening of international borders. As such, no impairment loss on PPE 
and minimal impairment on ROUA were recognized for the year ended 28 February 2023 based on management’s 
forecasted cashflows for the significant cash-generating units (“CGU”) of the Group. Management’s impairment 
assessment of these assets remains significant to the audit due to magnitude of the amount, heightened level 
of estimation uncertainty associated with current market and economic condition and the pace of post COVID-19 
recovery and it involved significant management judgment. Hence, we consider this to be a key audit matter.

For outlets with indicators of impairment, the recoverable amounts of the PPE and ROUA have been determined 
based on value in use calculations using probability-based cash flow projections approved by management. Our audit 
procedures included, amongst others, reviewing management’s identification of impairment indicators. In evaluating 
management’s estimation of the recoverable amount, we tested management’s key assumptions underlying the 
value-in-use calculation. The key assumptions include the revenues growth rates under various recovery scenarios, 
budgeted gross margin, budgeted operating costs and discount rates. 

We evaluated these estimates based on our knowledge of the business and available industry news providing insights 
on the different scenarios of possible recovery of passenger traffic for outlets located at airports and land borders. 
We assessed the reasonableness of the revenue growth rates and budgeted gross margin, taking into consideration 
past performance and recovery growth in the current year as the world continues to recover from COVID-19, by 
comparing them to industry information on market outlook and expected recovery scenarios. We compared the 
budgeted operating costs to historical results taking into account the cost optimization measures undertaken by 
the Group. Where applicable, we also compared the assumptions to financial results available subsequent to year 
end. We involved our internal valuation specialist to assess the reasonableness of the discount rates by checking to 
comparable companies in the same industry. We also reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures in Note 11 and Note 
25 to the financial statements. 

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investment in subsidiaries  

The carrying amount of goodwill is RM5.8 million, net of accumulated impairment losses of RM23.0 million as at 
28 February 2023. During the year ended 28 February 2023, management did not recognise any further impairment 
on goodwill. Investment in subsidiaries amounted to RM646.1 million, net of accumulated impairment losses of 
RM275.2 million as at 28 February 2023. During the year ended 28 February 2023, management recognised a net 
reversal of impairment on investment in subsidiaries of RM89.8 million based on their expected recoverable values. 
We considered the audit of management’s impairment assessment of these assets to be a key audit matter because 
the assessment process involved significant management judgment and heightened level of estimation uncertainty 
associated with current market and economic condition and the pace of post COVID-19 recovery.
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Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

The recoverable amounts of the CGU except for investment in Brand Connect Holding Pte. Ltd. (“BCH”) have 
been determined based on value-in-use calculations using probability-based cash flow projections approved by 
management. For the value-in-use calculations, we have performed similar procedures as described in key audit 
matter on Impairment assessment of PPE and ROUA. Additionally, we also involved our internal valuation specialist 
to assess the reasonableness of the long-term growth rate by comparing it to external data such as economic growth 
and inflation rate. 

For the assumption on renewal of the Group’s duty free license agreement, we inquired with senior management on 
their historical renewal experience and their assessment of the Group’s ability to renew the agreement.

For investment in BCH, management used the fair value less costs of disposal approach to determine the recoverable 
amount of the investment in view of the planned liquidation of BCH in next financial year. The recoverable amount is 
based on the net assets of BCH and its subsidiaries as at 28 February 2023 comprising of cash at bank, receivables at 
estimated realizable values and liabilities at estimated settlement amounts with adjustments made for effect of costs of 
disposal. We performed procedures to confirm the cash at bank balance and receivables, assess the collectability of 
the receivables and verified the existence of the liabilities as at 28 February 2023 and review the computation of costs 
of disposal.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures in Note 13 and Note 14 to the financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or 
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation 
of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lee Lai Hiang.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
31 May 2023
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated 
Income Statement

For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

Group
Note 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 4 151,797 99,125

Changes in inventories 32,044 (24,589)

Inventories purchased and materials consumed (127,688) (54,639)

Other income 5 14,478 15,891

Employee benefits expenses 6 (14,459) (12,043)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 (3,853) (4,096)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 25 (7,609) (7,729)

Amortisation of intangible assets 15 – (162)

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 25 (85) –

Rental of premises (5,860) (755)

Commission expenses (417) (86)

Professional fees (971) (1,676)

Utilities and maintenance expenses (2,067) (1,478)

Gain arising from changes in fair value of options 222 –

Realised foreign exchange gain/(loss) 58 (1,107)

Unrealised foreign exchange gain 4,350 3,432

Other operating expenses 7 (15,883) (10,868)

Operating profit/(loss) 24,057 (780)

Finance costs 8 (6,666) (6,199)

Profit/(loss) before tax 17,391 (6,979)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 9 (1,971) 1,002

Profit/(loss) for the year 15,420 (5,977)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 15,569 (3,637)

Non-controlling interests (149) (2,340)

15,420 (5,977)

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners of the Company  
(sen per share)
Basic 10 1.30 (0.30)

Diluted 10 1.30 (0.30)
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Profit/(loss) for the year 15,420 (5,977)

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Foreign currency translation 563 801

Total comprehensive income for the year 15,983 (5,176)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 16,125 (2,892)

Non-controlling interests (142) (2,284)

Total comprehensive income for the year 15,983 (5,176)
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Group Company
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 51,065 54,532 – –

Goodwill 13 5,818 5,818 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 14 – – 646,060 556,259

Prepayments 17 4,000 3,500 – –

Deferred tax assets 18 7,680 7,403 – –

Right-of-use assets 25 105,547 112,776 – –

174,110 184,029 646,060 556,259

Current assets
Biological assets 12 178 155 – –

Trade and other receivables 16 46,533 48,774 355 125

Prepayments 17 5,147 1,775 – –

Inventories 19 90,047 53,567 – –

Cash and bank balances 20 156,919 153,401 90,356 83,970

Tax recoverable 5,153 6,453 – –

Derivative assets 24 29 – – –

304,006 264,125 90,711 84,095

Total assets 478,116 448,154 736,771 640,354

Equity and liabilities

Current liabilities

Borrowings 21 4,009 79 – –

Trade and other payables 22 22,175 15,470 702 570

Provision for restoration costs 23 198 110 – –

Lease liabilities 25 440 504 – –

Income tax payable 295 454 143 10

27,117 16,617 845 580

Net current assets 276,889 247,508 89,866 83,515

Statements of 
Financial Position

As at 28 February 2023

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of 
Financial Position (cont’d)
As at 28 February 2023

Group Company
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 18 5,760 6,037 1,719 1,655

Derivative liabilities 24 – 222 – 515

Lease liabilities 25 100,076 93,787 – –

Provision for restoration costs 23 672 672 – –

Borrowings 21 – 49 – –

106,508 100,767 1,719 2,170

Total liabilities 133,625 117,384 2,564 2,750

Net assets 344,491 330,770 734,207 637,604

Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company

Share capital 26 487,903 487,902 978,725 978,724

Treasury shares 26(c) (22,017) (22,017) (22,017) (22,017)

Other reserves 26(a) (178,096) (180,916) 661 661

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 53,854 45,608 (223,162) (319,764)

341,644 330,577 734,207 637,604

Non-controlling interests 2,847 193 – –

Total equity 344,491 330,770 734,207 637,604

Total equity and liabilities 478,116 448,154 736,771 640,354
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Ordinary 
shares

Treasury 
shares

Total 
other 

reserves

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Net premium 
paid/ 

received on 
transactions 

with non-
controlling 
interests 

Gain on 
reissuance 
of treasury 

shares
Capital 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners  

of the 
Company

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total  
equity

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Opening balance at  
1 March 2022 487,902 (22,017) (180,916) 606 (178,818) 661 (3,365) 45,608 330,577 193 330,770

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – – – – 15,569 15,569 (149) 15,420

Other comprehensive 
income for the year – – 556 556 – – – – 556 7 563

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – 556 556 – – – 15,569 16,125 (142) 15,983

Transactions with 
owners:

Exercise of warrants 1 – – – – – – – 1 – 1

Dividend on ordinary 
shares (Note 35) – – – – – – – (7,855) (7,855) – (7,855)

Effect of changes in 
functional currency of 
a subsidiary – – (532) (532) – – – 532 – – –

Total transactions with 
owners 1 – (532) (532) – – – (7,323) (7,854) – (7,854)

Transactions with non-
controlling interests:

Derecognition of put 
option liability – – 2,796 (569) – – 3,365 – 2,796 2,796 5,592

Total transactions with 
non-controlling 
interests – – 2,796 (569) – – 3,365 – 2,796 2,796 5,592

Closing balance at  
28 February 2023 487,903 (22,017) (178,096) 61 (178,818) 661 – 53,854 341,644 2,847 344,491

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of 
Changes in Equity

For the financial year ended 28 February 2023
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of 
Changes in Equity (cont’d)
For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

Ordinary 
shares

Treasury 
shares

Total 
other 

reserves

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Net premium 
paid/ 

received on 
transactions 

with non-
controlling 
interests 

Gain on 
reissuance 
of treasury 

shares
Capital 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners  

of the 
Company

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total  
equity

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Opening balance at  
1 March 2021 487,902 (22,017) (145,204) (139) (142,893) 661 (2,833) 49,245 369,926 11,939 381,865

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (3,637) (3,637) (2,340) (5,977)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year – – 745 745 – – – – 745 56 801

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – 745 745 – – – (3,637) (2,892) (2,284) (5,176)

Transactions with non-
controlling interests:

Transfer to reserves – – (532) – – – (532) – (532) 532 –

Effect of changes in 
shareholdings – – (35,925) – (35,925) – – – (35,925) (9,994) (45,919)

Total transactions with 
non-controlling 
interests – – (36,457) – (35,925) – (532) – (36,457) (9,462) (45,919)

Closing balance at  
28 February 2022 487,902 (22,017) (180,916) 606 (178,818) 661 (3,365) 45,608 330,577 193 330,770
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of 
Changes in Equity (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

Ordinary
shares

Treasury
shares

Others
reserve

Retained 
earnings/ 

(accumulated 
losses)

Total
equity

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company (Note 26)

Opening balance at 1 March 2022 978,724 (22,017) 661 (319,764) 637,604

Profit for the year – – – 104,457 104,457

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – – 104,457 104,457

Transactions with owners:

Exercise of warrants 1 – – – 1

Dividend on ordinary shares  
(Note 35) – – – (7,855) (7,855)

Total transactions with owners 1 – – (7,855) (7,854)

Closing balance at 28 February 
2023 978,725 (22,017) 661 (223,162) 734,207

Opening balance at 1 March 2021 978,724 (22,017) 661 (328,863) 628,505

Profit for the year – – – 9,099 9,099

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – – 9,099 9,099

Closing balance at 28 February 
2022 978,724 (22,017) 661 (319,764) 637,604
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Group
Note 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax 17,391 (6,979)

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 15 – 162

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 3,853 4,096

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 25 7,609 7,729

Deposit forfeited 5 (594) –

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 25 85 –

Bad debts written off 7 45 47

Finance costs 8 6,666 6,199

Lease concessions 25 (164) (218)

Gain arising from changes in fair values of biological assets 12 (23) (55)

Gain arising from changes in fair value of options (222) –

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (19) (84)

Interest income 5 (5,744) (4,586)

Net reversal of inventories written down 5 (4,435) (5,593)

Net unrealised foreign exchange gain (4,350) (3,432)

Property, plant and equipment written off 7 5 19

Reversal of impairment losses on receivables 5 (382) (108)

Provision/(reversal) of short term accumulating compensated absences 6 25 (55)

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 19,746 (2,858)

Changes in working capital

Decrease in trade and other receivables 2,579 10,243

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (3,872) 424

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (32,045) 24,716

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 13,334 (24,425)

Cash flows (used in)/from operations (258) 8,100

Interest paid (136) (87)

Income taxes paid (1,384) (6,645)

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities (1,778) 1,368

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated 
Cash Flow Statement
For the financial year ended 28 February 2023
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated 
Cash Flow Statement (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

Group
Note 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 5,744 4,586

Payment for acquisition of equity interest in subsidiary, net of cash acquired – (45,919)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 19 84

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (303) (117)

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) investing activities 5,460 (41,366)

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in pledged fixed deposits (170) (154)

Payment of lease liabilities 25 (652) (700)

Proceeds from/(repayment of) other short term borrowings 21 3,960 (6,249)

Net repayment of obligations under finance leases 21 (79) (97)

Dividends paid to the ordinary shareholders of the Company 35 (7,855) –

Proceeds from exercise of warrants 26 1 –

Net cash used in financing activities (4,795) (7,200)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,113) (47,198)

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes 4,461 5,430

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 143,461 185,229

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 20 146,809 143,461
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1.	 Corporate information

	D uty Free International Limited (the Company) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in 
Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). 

	 The holding company is Atlan Holdings Bhd (“Atlan”). Atlan is a public limited company incorporated in 
Malaysia and listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

	 The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 138 Cecil Street #12-01A 
Cecil Court, Singapore 069538.

	 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are 
disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements.

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1	 Basis of preparation

	 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”). 

	 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below. The financial statements are presented in Malaysian Ringgit (RM) and all values in the tables are 
rounded to the nearest thousand (RM’000), except when otherwise indicated.

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

	 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that in the 
current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and amended standards which are relevant to the 
Group and are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 March 2022. The adoption of these 
standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of the Group.

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective

	 The Group has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning

on or after

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-8: Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS (I) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting 

Policies  
1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 17: Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from  

a Single Transaction
1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 17: Initial Application of SFRS(I) 17 and SFRS(I) 9—Comparative 
Information

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I): 1-28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between  

an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
Date to be determined

	 The directors expect that the adoption of the SFRS(I) equivalent of the above standards will have no material 
impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. 

Notes to 
the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 28 February 2023
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Notes to 
the Financial Statements (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a)	 Basis of consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiary companies as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiary 
companies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same 
reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances.

	A ll intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

	S ubsidiary companies are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

	L osses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit 
balance.

	A  change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

–	D e-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying 
amounts at the date when control is lost;

–	 De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

–	 De-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

–	 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

–	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

–	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

–	R e-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

(b)	 Business combinations and goodwill

	 Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the 
costs are incurred and the services are received. 

	A ny contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is an asset 
or liability are recognised in profit or loss.

	N on-controlling interest in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to 
a proportionate share of net assets of the acquire are recognised on the acquisition date at either fair 
value, or the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

	A ny excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, 
the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquire (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. 
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Notes to 
the Financial Statements (cont’d)
For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(b)	 Business combinations and goodwill (cont’d)

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units that 
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

	 The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined 
for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates.

	A cquisitions of subsidiaries that includes put options to acquire non-controlling interests in the future 
are accounted for in accordance with SFRS(I) 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. During the period 
the non-controlling interests put options remain unexercised, the non-controlling interests are calculated 
and immediately derecognised as though it was acquired at that date. A financial liability with respect 
to put options is recognised in accordance with SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. The difference between derecognition of the non-controlling interests and recognition of 
the financial liabilities is accounted for as an equity transaction, and disclosed under capital reserve in 
equity.

2.5	 Transactions with non-controlling interests

	N on-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiary companies not attributable, directly or indirectly, to 
owners of the Company, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
and within equity in the statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the 
Company.

	C hanges in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

2.6	F oreign currency

	 The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”), which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

(a)	 Transactions and balances

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company 
and its subsidiary companies and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at 
exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the 
reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the 
fair value was measured.

	E xchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at 
the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on 
monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised 
initially in other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in 
equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group 
on disposal of the foreign operation.
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Notes to 
the Financial Statements (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6	F oreign currency (cont’d)

(b)	 Consolidated financial statements

	F or consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated 
at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on 
the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the 
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in 
profit or loss.

2.7	P roperty, plant and equipment

	A ll items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Such cost includes the cost of replacing 
part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying property, plant and equipment. The accounting policy for borrowing 
costs is set out in Note 2.18. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, 
and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.

	S ubsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment other than leasehold land are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  When significant parts of property, plant 
and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets 
with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost 
is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are 
satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	C apital-work-in-progress, which comprise the refurbishment and renovation of building and land improvements 
are not depreciated as these assets are not available for use.

	D epreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost 
of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, as follows:

Buildings over 27 to 48 years

Golf course over the remaining lease term of 35 years

Furniture and fittings 5 to 10 years

Electrical installation and air conditioner 5 to 10 years 

Other assets 5 to 10 years

	 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

	 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

	A n item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss 
in the year the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to 
the Financial Statements (cont’d)
For the financial year ended 28 February 2023

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8	I ntangible assets

	I ntangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally 
generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is 
reflected in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

	 The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

	I ntangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period 
and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted 
for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates.

2.9	 Bearers trees and biological assets

	 Bearer trees are living plants used in the production or supply of agricultural produce which are expected to 
bear produce for more than one period and have a remote likelihood of being sold as agricultural produce, 
except for incidental scrap sales. Bearer trees mainly include mature and oil palm plantations and are 
recognised as non-current assets measured at cost less accumulated depreciation. Mature plantations are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 25 years. 

	I n general, oil palms are considered mature over 30 to 36 months after field planting. 

	 The carrying values of bearer trees are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

	 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure 
that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits.

	 Bearer trees are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the bearer trees is included in the income statement in the 
year the bearer plant is derecognised.

	 Produce that grows on mature plantations are recognised as biological assets measured at fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs. Point-of-sale costs include all costs that would be necessary to sell the produce. 
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Notes to 
the Financial Statements (cont’d)
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10	I mpairment of non-financial assets

	 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate 
of the asset’s recoverable amount.

	A n asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected 
to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining 
fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available.  If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by 
valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators. 

	
	 The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared 

separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated.  These 
budgets and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term 
growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

	I mpairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously revalued where the 
revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

	F or assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any 
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. 
Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.11	 Subsidiaries

	A  subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee.

	I n the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
impairment losses.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12	F inancial assets

	I nitial recognition and measurement

	F inancial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

	A t initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in 
profit or loss.

	 Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of 
third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition.

	 Subsequent measurement

	 Investments in debt instruments

	 The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

(a)	A mortised cost

	F inancial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through amortisation 
process.

(b)	F inancial assets at fair value through profit or loss

	F inancial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. Financial 
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the near term.  This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group. 
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading.

	S ubsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised 
in profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 
exchange differences, interest and dividend income.

	D erecognition

	A  financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.13	I mpairment of financial assets

	 The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects 
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows 
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms. 

	ECL s are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

	F or trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at 
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

	F or debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (“OCI”), the Group applies the low 
credit risk simplification. At every reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered 
to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost 
or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In 
addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when the contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due.

	 The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, 
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.14	 Cash and cash equivalents

	C ash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management.

2.15	I nventories

	I nventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition are accounted for on a weighted average basis.

	 Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying 
value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

	N et realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.16	F inancial liabilities

	I nitial recognition and measurement

	F inancial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition.

	A ll financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

	F inancial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading. Financial 
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This 
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

	 Subsequent measurement

	S ubsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

	F inancial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

	D e-recognition

	A  financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in 
profit or loss.

2.17	P rovisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

	 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.18	 Borrowing costs

	 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset.  Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing 
costs are incurred.  Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their 
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist 
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.19	 Employee benefits

(a)	 Short term benefits

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Short term accumulating compensated 
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that 
increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated 
absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(b)	D efined contribution plans

	D efined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further contributions if any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating 
to employee services in the current and preceding financial years. Such contributions are recognised 
as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.  As required by law, companies in Malaysia make such 
contributions to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”) and companies in Singapore make contributions 
to the Central Provident Fund scheme (“CPF”).

(c)	 Employee leave entitlements

	E mployee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to employees. 
An accrual is made for estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees 
up to the end of the reporting period.

(d)	 Termination benefits

	 Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date in 
accordance with the provisions of the employment contract and/or local labour laws. 

2.20	L eases

	 The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

	 Group as a lessor 

	L eases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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2.20	L eases (cont’d)

	 Group as a lessee

	 The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(i)	R ight-of-use assets 

	 The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

Leasehold land – Over 92 years

Land use rights – 39 to 99 years

Office premises, retail outlets, warehouse, staff quarters – 1 to 19 years

	I f ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

	 The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policy in Note 2.10.

(ii)	L ease liabilities 

	A t the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. 
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the 
Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a 
rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which 
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

	I n calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is 
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. 
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease 
payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2.20	L eases (cont’d)

	 Group as a lessee (cont’d)

(iii)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

	 The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are 
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	 The Group has applied the Amendment to SFRS(I) 16 Leases: COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions. 
The Group applies the practical expedient allowing it not to assess whether a rent concession related to 
COVID-19 is a lease modification. The Group applies the practical expedient consistently to contracts 
with similar characteristics and in similar circumstances. For rent concessions in leases to which the 
Group chooses not to apply the practical expedient, or that do not qualify for the practical expedient, the 
Company assesses whether there is a lease modification. 

2.21	R evenue

	R evenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

	R evenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 
service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance 
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount 
allocated to the satisfied performance obligation. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met 
before revenue is recognised:

(a)	 Sale of goods

	R evenue from sale of goods is recognised upon transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
the goods to the customer, usually on delivery of goods. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where 
there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the 
possible return of goods.

(b)	 Consignment sales

	 The Group acts as an agent to sell consignment goods at their premise. The Group recognises the net 
amount of consideration that the Group retains after paying the consignor as and when the goods are 
sold. 

(c)	R ental income

	R ental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of 
incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis.

(d)	R evenue from parking operations

	R evenue from parking operations is recognised as and when the services are rendered. 

(e)	 Sale of fresh oil palm fruit bunches

	R evenue from sale of fresh oil palm fruit bunches is recognised when significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of goods are transferred to the customer.

(f)	I nterest income
	
	I nterest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
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2.22	G overnment grants

	G overnment grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with. When government grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised 
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, 
are expensed. Grant relating to income are presented as part of profit or loss under “Other income”.

2.23	 Taxes

(a)	 Current income tax

	C urrent income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

	C urrent income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(b)	D eferred tax

	D eferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

	D eferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

–	 Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

–	I n respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

	D eferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised except: 

–	 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

–	I n respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of 
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
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2.23	 Taxes (cont’d)

(b)	D eferred tax (cont’d)

	D eferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

	D eferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or 
loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is 
adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

(c)	G oods and services tax

	R evenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax except: 

–	 Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

–	R eceivables and payables that are stated with the amount of goods and services tax included.

2.24	 Segment reporting

	F or management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products 
and services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the 
management of the Group who regularly review the segment results for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. 

	A dditional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 34, including the factors used to identify 
the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.25	 Share capital and share issuance expenses

	 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

	 The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase or cancellation of ordinary shares. 

2.26	 Contingencies

	A  contingent liability is:

(a)	 a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group; or

(b)	 a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i)	I t is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation; or 

(ii)	 The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.26	 Contingencies (cont’d)

	A  contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group.

	C ontingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position of the Group, except 
for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair 
values can be reliably determined.

2.27	 Treasury shares

	 The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and 
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation 
of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount of treasury shares and the 
consideration received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights related to treasury shares are 
nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

3.	 Significant accounting judgments and estimates

	 The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in the future periods.

3.1	 Judgments made in applying accounting policies

	I n the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management is of the opinion that there is no 
instance of application of judgment which is expected to have a significant impact on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements, apart from those involving estimations described below.

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters 
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the 
Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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3.	 Significant accounting judgments and estimates (cont’d)

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(a)	I mpairment of non-financial assets 

	 Management performs impairment testing for the following assets: 

•	 Goodwill;

•	 Property, plant and equipment;

•	 Right-of-use assets;

•	 Investments in subsidiaries 

	 The above non-financial assets are tested whenever there is an indication of impairment, except goodwill 
which is tested for impairment annually. Impairment is recognised when events and circumstances 
indicate that the non-financial assets may be impaired and the carrying amounts of the non-financial 
assets exceed the recoverable amounts. Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of the non-
financial assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and its value-in-use. 

	 When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, Management estimates the recoverable amount 
based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget approved by 
the Management. The recoverable amount is sensitive to budgeted gross margin, revenue growth rate 
as well as the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model. For impairment assessment of 
goodwill and investments in subsidiaries, in addition to assumptions mentioned above, the recoverable 
amount is also sensitive to long term growth rate. Changes in these assumptions may result in changes 
in recoverable values.  

	F or FY2023, despite the full resumption of the Group’s retail outlets following the easing of the COVID-19 
pandemic restrictions and re-opening of international borders, management’s impairment assessment 
of these assets remains significant to the audit due to magnitude of the amount, heightened level of 
estimation uncertainty associated with current market and economic condition and the pace of post 
COVID-19 recovery. The determination of value-in-use calculations was based on a range of probability-
weighted possible outcomes and these possible outcomes (recovery scenarios) included the expected 
effects that the pace of the post COVID-19 recovery might have on the cash flows projections.

	 The carrying amount of the non-financial assets as at 28 February 2023 and related assumptions are 
disclosed in their respective notes to the financial statements.

Non-financial assets Notes to the financial statements 

Property, plant and equipment 11

Goodwill 13

Investments in subsidiaries 14

Right-of-use assets 25
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4.	R evenue

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Sale of goods 148,515 97,299

Parking operations 993 –

Sale of fresh oil palm fruit bunches 2,286 1,823

Rental income 3 3

151,797 99,125

Timing of transfer of goods and services

At a point in time 151,797 99,125

5.	 Other income

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Interest income from licensed banks 2,843 986

Interest income from Berjaya Waterfront Sdn. Bhd. (Note 16) 2,901 3,600

Rental income

-  advertisement space 32 608

-  property, plant and equipment 462 154

Commission income 19 23

Promotion income 44 60

Incentive income received from suppliers 55 39

Gain arising from changes in fair value of biological assets 23 55

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 19 84

Deposit forfeited (Note 22) 594 –

Lease concessions 164 218

Net reversal of inventories written down 4,435 5,593

Reversal of impairment loss on receivables 382 108

Miscellaneous income 2,505 4,363

14,478 15,891

	 Included in miscellaneous income were government grants of RM535,000 (2022: RM2,073,000) received by the 
Group under the wage subsidy programmes introduced in Malaysia and Singapore in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 
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6.	 Employee benefits expenses

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Wages and salaries 12,310 10,012

Contributions to defined contribution plan 1,352 1,121

Accommodation benefits 137 131

Staff welfare 39 189

Social security contributions 160 148

Medical benefits 54 81

Staff uniforms 8 1

Provision/(reversal) of short term accumulating compensated absence 25 (55)

Other benefits 374 415

14,459 12,043

7.	 Other operating expenses

	 The following items have been included in arriving at other operating expenses:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Non-executive directors’ remuneration 488 449

Assessment and quit rent 1,067 1,040

Auditors’ remuneration:

Audit fees:

-	Auditors of the Company 263 242

-	Other auditors 740 584

Non-audit fees:

-	Auditors of the Company 20 46

-	Other auditors 35 104

Bank charges 1,104 1,400

Bad debts written off 45 47

Donations 410 256

GST related expenses 1,225 –

Management fees 1,600 1,505

Payment in relation to settlement with Customs* 1,500 –

Property, plant and equipment written off 5 19

*	 On 6 July 2022, the Company’s subsidiary, Seruntun Maju Sdn. Bhd. (“SMSB”), amicably reached a settlement 
with the Royal Malaysian Customs (“Customs”) whereby Customs has terminated all prosecution and investigation 
instituted against SMSB and four of its officers. The settlement was recorded as a Consent Order in the High Court 
of Taiping and on 15 July 2022, SMSB paid a settlement payment of RM1,500,000 to Customs with no admission of 
guilt or liability. With the above-mentioned settlement with Customs, the said matter with Customs has therefore been 
resolved.
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8.	F inance costs

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Interest expense on:

-  Bank borrowings 132 78

-  Obligations under finance leases 5 9

-  Lease liabilities 6,529 6,112

6,666 6,199

9.	I ncome tax expense/(benefit)

Major components of income tax expense/(benefit)

The major components of income tax expense/(benefit) for the financial years ended 28 February 2023 and 28 
February 2022 are:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Consolidated income statement:
Current income tax:

-	 Current income taxation 2,902 1,540

-	 Over provision in respect of previous years (377) (205)

2,525 1,335

Deferred income tax (Note 18):

-	 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (83) (3,095)

-	 (Over)/under provision in respect of previous years (471) 758

(554) (2,337)

Income tax expense/(benefit) recognised in profit or loss 1,971 (1,002)
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9.	 Income tax expense/(benefit) (cont’d)

Relationship between income tax expense/(benefit) and accounting profit/(loss)

A reconciliation between income tax expense/(benefit) and the product of accounting profit/(loss) multiplied by 
the applicable corporate tax rate for the years ended 28 February 2023 and 28 February 2022 is as follows:

Group

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 17,391 (6,979)

Tax at Malaysia’s statutory rate of 24% (2022: 24%) 4,174 (1,675)

Adjustments:

Income not subject to taxation (37) (409)

Non-deductible expenses 1,473 379

Effect of different tax rates in other country (271) (34)

Effect of tax relief (84) (74)

Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously not recognised (2,697) –

Deferred tax assets not recognised 261 258

(Over)/under provision of deferred tax in respect of previous years (471) 758

Over provision of current tax in respect of previous years (377) (205)

Income tax expense/(benefit) recognised in profit or loss 1,971 (1,002) 

10.	 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit, net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. Diluted earnings 
per share are calculated by dividing profit, net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary 
shares.

The following tables reflect the loss and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per 
share for the years ended 28 February 2023 and 28 February 2022, respectively:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Earnings/(loss) net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company used in 
the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations 15,569 (3,637)

No. of shares No. of shares
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 
computation (’000) 1,198,200 1,198,199

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 
computation (’000) 1,198,200 1,198,199
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11.	P roperty, plant and equipment

Group Buildings
Golf 

course
Bearer 
trees

Capital
work-in-
progress

Furniture 
and 

fittings

Electrical 
installation 

and air 
conditioner

Other 
assets Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost:

At 1 March 2021 35,731 44,648 2,825 14 3,682 5,113 43,611 135,624

Additions – – – – 15 4 98 117

Disposals – – – – (17) (12) (638) (667)

Written-off – – – – (63) (11) (69) (143)

Reclassification – – – (14) – – 26 12

Exchange difference – – – – 1 – 1 2

At 28 February 2022 and 
1 March 2022 35,731 44,648 2,825 – 3,618 5,094 43,029 134,945

Additions – – – 226 – 30 135 391

Disposals – – – – – – (192) (192)

Written-off – – – – – (15) (357) (372)

Exchange difference – – – – (2) – (1) (3)

At 28 February 2023 35,731 44,648 2,825 226 3,616 5,109 42,614 134,769

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses:

At 1 March 2021 19,463 17,174 1,083 – 2,953 3,196 33,225 77,094

Depreciation charge for 
the year 520 766 113 – 220 219 2,258 4,096

Disposals – – – – (17) (12) (638) (667)

Written-off – – – – (51) (8) (65) (124)

Reclassification – – – – – – 12 12

Exchange difference – – – – 1 – 1 2

At 28 February 2022 and 
1 March 2022 19,983 17,940 1,196 – 3,106 3,395 34,793 80,413

Depreciation charge for 
the year 510 766 113 – 196 207 2,061 3,853

Disposals – – – – – – (192) (192)

Written-off – – – – – (11) (356) (367)

Exchange difference – – – – (2) – (1) (3)

At 28 February 2023 20,493 18,706 1,309 – 3,300 3,591 36,305 83,704

Net carrying amount:

At 28 February 2023 15,238 25,942 1,516 226 316 1,518 6,309 51,065

At 28 February 2022 15,748 26,708 1,629 – 512 1,699 8,236 54,532

Other assets comprise of office equipment, computer, renovations, and motor vehicles.
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11.	P roperty, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Office
equipment

Company and computer
RM’000

Cost:
At 1 March 2021, 28 February 2022, 1 March 2022 and 28 February 2023 5

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 March 2021, 28 February 2022, 1 March 2022 and 28 February 2023 5

Net carrying amount:

At 28 February 2023 –

At 28 February 2022 –

(a)	 Addition of property, plant and equipment 

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment by the following means:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Cash payment 303 117

Capitalisation of restoration costs 88 –

391 117

The net carrying amount of motor vehicles held by the Group under finance leases at the end of the 
reporting period was RM49,000 (2022: RM142,000).

(b)	 Impairment review

During the current financial year, the management performed a review on the recoverable amount of the 
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 25).

The cash-generating units (“CGU”) recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Note 25) have been determined based on value-in-use calculations using probability-
weighted cash flow projections approved by management. The financial forecasts which were approved 
include management’s different scenarios of possible recovery from COVID-19 pandemic scenarios of 
passenger traffics at outlets located at airports and land borders. The pre-tax discount rate applied to 
cash flow projections is 7.6% to 18.2% (2022: 16.2% to 23.5%). 

For the financial year ended 28 February 2023, management recognised impairment loss on right-of-use 
assets of RM85,000 (2022: RM Nil) (Note 25) and no impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 
(2022: RM Nil). 
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12.	 Biological assets

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

At fair value:

At 1 March 155 100

Gain arising from changes in fair values 23 55

At 28 February 178 155

Mature oil palm trees produce fresh fruit bunches (“FFB”), which are used to produce Crude Palm Oil (“CPO”) 
and Palm Kernel (“PK”). The fair values of bearer fruits are determined by using the total sales figure in the 
following month with the assumptions that all the fruits harvested are sold subsequently to the customer.

During the year, the Group’s bearer fruits produced approximately 2,600 tonnes (2022:  2,100 tonnes) of 
FFB. The selling prices per tonne for those FFB ranged between RM2,200 to RM5,900 (2022: RM2,600 to 
RM6,400).  The selling prices per tonne for those FFB were based on a calculation using the periodic market 
prices of CPO and PK and contracted pre-determined extraction rates of CPO and PK as agreed with the buyer 
of FFB crop.

13.	G oodwill

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Cost
At 1 March and 28 February 28,816 28,816

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 March and 28 February 22,998 22,998

Net carrying amount at end of year 5,818 5,818

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill relates to the following business segment:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Emas Kerajang Sdn. Bhd. 5,818 5,818

The recoverable amount of the CGUs was determined based on value in use calculations using probabilities-
weighted cash flow projections from financial forecasts with key assumptions approved by management 
covering a five-year period. The financial forecasts which were approved include management’s different 
scenarios of possible recovery of passengers traffics at outlets located at land borders from COVID-19 
pandemic. 

In the financial year ended 28 February 2023 and 28 February 2022, no impairment loss has been recognised 
by management on goodwill arising from acquisition of these CGUs.
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13. 	G oodwill (cont’d)

Key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow models were revenue growth rates, budgeted gross 
margins, ability to renew duty free licenses, discount rates, and long-term growth rate. 

(i)	 The revenue projection for the first year was determined based on financial budget prepared. Revenue 
growth rates for FY2022 range between 6% to 14% and 3% to 48% for FY2026 to FY2028. (2022: 
Revenue growth rates for FY2024 range between 3% to 18% and 3% to 5% for FY2025 to FY2027).

(ii)	 The budgeted gross margins for the trading of duty free goods and non-dutiable merchandise segment 
were in the range of 22% to 24% (2022: 10% to 25%) which was based on average gross margin 
achieved in past years.

(iii)	 The duty free business requires a number of licences, which include duty free shop licence, wholesale 
dealer’s licence, bonded warehouse licence and/or liquor import licence. It is assumed that the licences 
will be renewed upon their expiry on terms and conditions which are not less favourable.

(iv)	 The forecasted long-term growth rates were based on published industry research and did not exceed 
the long-term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the CGUs. The forecasted growth rate 
used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the five-year period was 2.2% (2022: 2.2%).

(v)	 The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 15.4% to 15.6% based on weighted 
average cost of capital of the Group (2022: 16.1% to 16.2%). 

Sensitivity analysis

With regard to the assessment of value in use of the CGUs, management believes that no reasonably possible 
changes in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its 
recoverable amount.

14.	I nvestments in subsidiaries

Company
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Equity shares, at cost 921,239 921,239

Allowance for impairment losses (275,179) (364,980)

Total 646,060 556,259

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 March (364,980) (364,980)

Reversal for the year 89,801 –

At 28 February (275,179) (364,980)
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14.	I nvestments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Impairment testing of investments in subsidiaries

During the current financial year, the Management performed a review on the recoverable amount of the 
investments in subsidiaries. The recoverable amounts of the investments in subsidiaries, except for Brand 
Connect Holding Pte. Ltd. (“BCH”), were estimated based on value-in-use calculations derived from cash 
flow projections. Key assumptions adopted in the value-in-use calculations include revenue projections, 
gross margins, discount rates and terminal growth rate. Based on the assessment, impairment losses of 
RM92,054,000 was reversed during the financial year when the recoverable amount is above the carrying 
amount of investment in subsidiaries. 

For investment in BCH, in view of the planned liquidation within the next financial year, fair value less costs of 
disposal approach was used to determine the recoverable amount of the investment. An impairment loss of 
RM2,253,000 (2022: RM Nil) was recognised for the current financial year based on the net assets of BCH and 
its subsidiaries as at 28 February 2023 with adjustments made to estimate the amount expected to be received 
by the Company upon the liquidation.

(a)	 Composition of the Group

	 The Group has the following significant investments in subsidiaries.

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation 
and principal 

place of 
business

Principal
activities

Proportion of 
ownership interest Cost of investment

2023 2022 2023 2022
% % RM’000 RM’000

Held by the Company

DFZ Capital Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Investment 
holding 100.00 100.00 678,039 678,039

Darul Metro Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Dormant 100.00 100.00 230,645 230,645

Orchard Boulevard Sdn. 
Bhd. ^

Malaysia Investment 
holding 
and resort 
development 100.00 100.00 * *

Zon Duty Free Pte. Ltd. # Singapore Wholesaler and 
distributor of 
duty free and 
non-dutiable 
merchandise 100.00 100.00 * *

Brand Connect Holding  
Pte. Ltd. # 

Singapore Investment 
holding 77.78 77.78 12,555 12,555

921,239 921,239

	 *	C ost of investment less than RM500. 
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14.	I nvestments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(a)	 Composition of the Group (cont’d)

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation
and principal 

place of
business Principal activities

Proportion of
ownership interest

2023 2022
% %

Held by DFZ Capital Sdn. Bhd.

DFZ Trading Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Investment holding and 
management services

100.00 100.00

Selasih Ekslusif Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise 

100.00 100.00

Winner Prompt Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Licensed distributor and 
wholesaler of duty free 
merchandise

100.00 100.00

Emas Kerajang Sdn. Bhd. ^** Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

69.90 69.90

Seruntun Maju Sdn. Bhd. ^** Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

69.80 69.80

Held by Darul Metro Sdn. Bhd.

Binamold Sdn. Bhd.^ Malaysia Property investment 100.00 100.00

Held by Orchard Boulevard Sdn. Bhd.

Gold Vale Development Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Dormant 100.00 100.00

Kelana Megah Sdn. Bhd. ^** Malaysia Dormant 41.60 100.00

Cergasjaya Properties Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Resort development and 
properties management 
and cultivation of oil 
palm

100.00 100.00

Black Forest Golf and Country Club 
Sdn. Bhd. ^

Malaysia Dormant 100.00 100.00

Tenggara Senandung Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Dormant 100.00 100.00

DFZ Asia Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Investment holding 100.00 100.00

PT DFZ Indon Indonesia Dormant 99.00 99.00
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14.	I nvestments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(a)	 Composition of the Group (cont’d)

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation
and principal 

place of
business Principal activities

Proportion of
ownership interest

2023 2022
% %

Held by Brand Connect Holding Pte. Ltd.
Drinks Hub Asia Pte. Ltd. # Singapore Wholesales of alcoholic 

beverages and soft 
drinks

100.00 100.00

Brand Connect Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. # Singapore Wholesales of alcoholic 
beverages and soft 
drinks

100.00 100.00

Held by DFZ Trading Sdn. Bhd.
Cergasjaya Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Wholesaler and retailer 

of duty free and non-
dutiable merchandise

100.00 100.00

Melaka Duty Free Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

51.00 51.00

DFZ Duty Free Supplies Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Wholesaler and distributor 
of duty free and non-
dutiable merchandise

100.00 100.00

Jasa Duty Free Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

100.00 100.00

DFZ Emporium Sdn. Bhd. ^** Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

29.30 29.30

DFZ (M) Sdn. Bhd. ^** Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

69.89 69.89

Wealthouse Sdn. Bhd. ^** Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

28.60 28.60

Jelita Duty Free Supplies  
Sdn. Bhd. ^

Malaysia Wholesaler and distributor 
of duty free and non-
dutiable merchandise

100.00 100.00

DFZ Duty Free (Langkawi) Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Retailer of duty free 
and non-dutiable 
merchandise

100.00 100.00

Zon Emporium Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Dormant 100.00 100.00

DFZ Utara Sdn. Bhd. ^ Malaysia Dormant 100.00 100.00
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14.	I nvestments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(a)	 Composition of the Group (cont’d)

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation
and principal 

place of
business Principal activities

Proportion of
ownership interest

2023 2022
% %

Held by DFZ Asia Sdn. Bhd.

PT DFZ Indon Indonesia Dormant 1.00 1.00

Held by Brand Connect Asia Pacific  
Pte. Ltd.

Brand Connect Pte. Ltd. #  Singapore Retail sale of beverages 100.00 100.00

^	A udited by Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants (Malaysia), a member firm of the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants

#	A udited by other firms of Certified Public Accountants

**	A ccounted as subsidiaries with 100% effective ownership as the Group has full control in the entities through 
the terms of non-voting Convertible Redeemable Preference Shares and shareholder agreement entered into 
by the Group and the non-controlling interest.

Acquisition of additional interest in DFZ Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“DFZ”)

On 7 December 2021, the Company acquired 15% equity interest in DFZ for a cash consideration of 
RM45,919,000.

2022
RM’000

Consideration paid to non-controlling shareholders 45,919
Carrying amount of interest acquired in DFZ (9,994)

Difference recognised in other reserves 35,925
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15.	I ntangible assets

Distribution
rights

Group RM’000

Cost:
At 1 March 2021 and 28 February 2022  619

Written-off during the year (619)

At 28 February 2023 –

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 March 2021 457

Amortisation charge for the year 162

At 28 February 2022 and 1 March 2022 619

Written-off during the year (619)

At 28 February 2023 –

Net carrying amount:

At 28 February 2023 –

At 28 February 2022 –

	D istribution rights relate to the various distribution contracts for the Group’s alcohol distribution business that 
were acquired in business combination. The amortisation of distribution rights is included in the profit or loss. 
These rights were fully amortised and written-off in the current financial year. 
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16.	 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables
Third parties 2,199 1,780 – –
Allowance for impairment (218) (746) – –

Trade receivables, net 1,981 1,034 – –

Other receivables
Deposits 3,064 5,373 – –
Due from Berjaya Waterfront Sdn. Bhd. 40,338 40,434 – –
Sundry receivables 1,218 2,074 355 125
Allowance for impairment (68) (141) – –

Other receivables, net 44,552 47,740 355 125

Total trade and other receivables 46,533 48,774 355 125

Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 20) 156,919 153,401 90,356 83,970
Less: Goods and Services Tax receivable – (1,225) – –

Total financial assets at amortised cost 203,452 200,950 90,711 84,095

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 14 to 90 days’ terms. Other credit terms are 
assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis.  

Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice amounts, which represent their fair values on initial 
recognition.

Related party balances

Included in sundry receivables for the Company are amounts due from subsidiaries of RM101,000 (2022: 
RM99,000), which are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand.

Due from Berjaya Waterfront Sdn. Bhd. (“BWSB”)

The amount due from BWSB is related to the uncollected portion of the sale consideration for the Group’s 
interests over leasehold properties in the Zon Johor Bahru, which was completed in March 2013. 

This balance, guaranteed by BWSB’s holding company, is subject to interest throughout the term that the 
balance was outstanding. The interest rate was initially at 6% per annum but has been revised to 9% per 
annum since 16 July 2015 until 15 April 2022. The interest rate was revised to 7% per annum from 16 April 
2022 onwards. 

The balance of RM40.0 million was scheduled to be repaid on or before 15 April 2023. On 15 April 2023, both 
parties have mutually agreed that BWSB shall pay the remaining deferred consideration of RM40.0 million on 
or before 15 April 2024 and BWSB will continue to pay interest at the rate of 7% per annum on the unpaid 
consideration on a quarterly basis. 

The amount is guaranteed by BWSB’s holding company.
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16.	 Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

Trade receivables that are impaired

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement of the 
allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables – nominal amounts 218 746

Less: Allowance for impairment (218) (746)

– –

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 March 746 843

Reversal for the year (339) (110)

Written-off during the year (216) –

Exchange difference 27 13

At 28 February 218 746

Other receivables that are impaired

The Group’s other receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement of the 
allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Individually impaired
Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Other receivables – nominal amounts 68 141 – –

Less: Allowance for impairment (68) (141) – –

– – – –

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 March 141 2,022 – –

(Reversal)/charge for the year (43) 2 – –

Written-off during the year (30) (1,883) – –

At 28 February 68 141 – –

Receivables that are impaired

Trade and other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period 
relate to debtors that are in legal dispute or financial difficulties, and have defaulted on payments. These 
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. The Group has provided for lifetime 
expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision matrix. Please refer to Note 32(a).
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17.	P repayments

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Current
Prepaid rental 3,400 – – –

Prepaid other operating expenses 1,747 1,775 – –

5,147 1,775 – –

Non-current
Prepaid development return* 4,000 3,500 – –

Total prepayments 9,147 5,275 – –

Amount to be charged out to profit or loss:

-	N ot later than one year 5,147 1,775 – –

-	L ater than one year but not later than five 
years 4,000 3,500 – –

9,147 5,275 – –

Included in prepaid rental was the rental paid in advance by the Group in relation to one of the Group’s retail 
outlets. 

*	R elated to development return paid to the State Government of Johore and City Council of Johore.

18.	D eferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 March 1,366 (971) (1,655) (1,655)

Recognised in profit or loss 554 2,337 (64) –

At 28 February 1,920 1,366 (1,719) (1,655)

Presented after appropriate offsetting as 
follows:

Deferred tax assets 7,680 7,403 – –

Deferred tax liabilities (5,760) (6,037) (1,719) (1,655)

Net deferred tax asset/(liabilities) 1,920 1,366 (1,719) (1,655)
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18.	D eferred tax assets/(liabilities) (cont’d)

The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets during the financial year prior to offsetting 
are as follows:

	D eferred tax assets of the Group:

Unused tax 
losses and 

unabsorbed 
capital 

allowances Lease liabilities Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 March 2021 2,274 21,579 23,853

Recognised in profit or loss 1,459 1,633 3,092

At 28 February 2022 and  
1 March 2022 3,733 23,212 26,945

Recognised in profit or loss (95) 1,297 1,202

At 28 February 2023 3,638 24,509 28,147

Deferred tax liabilities of the Group:

Property,
plant and 

equipment
Right-of-use 

assets Others Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 March 2021 (5,046) (19,133) (645) (24,824)

Recognised in profit or loss 44 (948) 149 (755)

At 28 February 2022 and  
1 March 2022 (5,002) (20,081) (496) (25,579)

Recognised in profit or loss 295 (504) (439) (648)

At 28 February 2023 (4,707) (20,585) (935) (26,227)

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Unutilised tax losses 245,773 252,168

Unabsorbed capital allowances 48,312 48,474

Other deductible temporary differences 105,872 109,389

Lease liabilities 203 277

400,160 410,308
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18.	D eferred tax assets/(liabilities) (cont’d)

	 At the end of the reporting year, the Group has unutilised tax losses of RM245,773,000 (2022: RM252,168,000) and 
unabsorbed capital allowances of RM48,312,000 (2022: RM48,474,000) that are available for offset against future 
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose, for which no deferred tax asset is recognised due to 
uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the taxation authorities 
and compliance with certain provisions in the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the companies 
operate.

	 The expiry date of the Group’s unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Within 5 years 224,113 –
Within 6 to 10 years 21,660 252,168

245,773 252,168

19.	I nventories

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Statement of financial position:
Trading goods 89,806 53,258
Consumables 241 309

Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 90,047 53,567

Consolidated income statement:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 95,644 79,228
Inventories recognised as an expense in other operating expenses
  Inclusive of the following charge:
  -  Net reversal of inventories written down (4,435) (5,593)

20.	 Cash and bank balances

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash at banks and on hand 73,584 75,591 17,131 16,100
Deposits with licensed banks 83,335 77,810 73,225 67,870

156,919 153,401 90,356 83,970

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  

Deposits with licensed banks of the Group amounting to RM10,110,000 (2022: RM9,940,000) are pledged to 
banks for credit facilities granted to certain subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 21. Deposits with licensed banks 
are readily convertible to cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and earn interest at the 
respective deposit rates. The weighted average effective interest rate as at 28 February 2023 for the Group and 
the Company were 2.58% (2022: 1.59%) and 3.31% (2022: 0.18%) per annum respectively.
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20.	 Cash and bank balances (cont’d)

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 
the end of the reporting period:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash and deposits with licensed banks 156,919 153,401 90,356 83,970

Deposits pledged with licensed banks (10,110) (9,940) – –

Cash and cash equivalents 146,809 143,461 90,356 83,970

Cash and short term deposits denominated in foreign currencies at the end of reporting period are as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Singapore Dollar (SGD) 68,710 63,379 68,655 63,335

United States Dollar (USD) 8,788 8,013 5,086 4,706

77,498 71,392 73,741 68,041

21.	 Borrowings

Group
2023 2022

Maturity RM’000 RM’000

Current
Secured:

Bankers’ acceptances FY2024 3,960 –

Obligations under finance leases (Note 27) FY2024 49 79

4,009 79

Non-current
Secured:

Obligations under finance leases (Note 27) – – 49

Total loan and borrowings 4,009 128
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21.	 Borrowings (cont’d)

Bankers’ acceptances

Bankers’ acceptances are denominated in RM with weighted average effective interest rate of 4.49% p.a. (2022: 
Nil).

Obligations under finance leases

These obligations are secured by a charge over the leased assets (Note 27). The average discount rate implicit 
in the leases of the Group is 2.99% p.a. (2022: 2.99% p.a.).

The bankers’ acceptances are secured by way of:

•	 deposits with licensed banks amounting to RM10,110,000 (2022: RM9,940,000); and

•	 corporate guarantees from a subsidiary, DFZ Capital Sdn Bhd.

Other information on financial risks of borrowings is disclosed in Note 32.

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

2022 Cash flows

Non-cash changes 

Additions 
Interest 
expense Others 2023

28 February 2023 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Other short term borrowings – 3,960 – – – 3,960

Obligations under finance 
leases 128 (79) – – – 49

Lease liabilities 94,291 (652) 465 6,529 (117) 100,516

Total 94,419 3,229 465 6,529 (117) 104,525

2021 Cash flows

Non-cash changes 

Additions 
Interest 
expense Others 2022

28 February 2022 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Other short term borrowings 6,249 (6,249) – – – –

Obligations under finance 
leases 225 (97) – – – 128

Lease liabilities 87,906 (700) 1,086 6,112 (113) 94,291

Total 94,380 (7,046) 1,086 6,112 (113) 94,419
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22.	 Trade and other payables 

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade payables
Third parties 15,815 3,398 – –

Other payables
Accruals 1,922 2,918 649 563

Accrued payroll related expenses 1,292 321 – –

Rental payables 798 1,320 – –

Deposit received for the proposed disposal # – 560 – –

Other deposits received 287 448 – –

Royalty payables 1,043 100 – –

Sundry payables 1,018 813 53 7

Put option liability ^ – 5,592 – –

6,360 12,072 702 570

Total trade and other payables 22,175 15,470 702 570

Add: Borrowings (Note 21) 4,009 128 – –

Less: Goods and Services Tax payable (1) (41) – –

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised 
cost 26,183 15,557 702 570

#	 This deposit relates to the proposed sale of Kelana Megah Sdn. Bhd.’s intended lease interests in the land parcel 
bearing lot number PTB 20379 to Berjaya Waterfront Sdn. Bhd. for a consideration of RM27,990,000 (“KMSB 
Agreement”). However, the Agreement was rescinded and revoked on 8 April 2022. The deposit was hence deemed 
forfeited and is recognised as income during the financial year.

^ 	 The put option liability reflects the carrying value of the put options issued to 22.22% of non-controlling interest in 
a subsidiary Brand Connect Holding Pte. Ltd. (“BCH”) in the prior year. As at 28 February 2023, the carrying value 
of the liability has been adjusted to RM Nil as the option is no longer expected to be exercised due to the planned 
voluntary liquidation of BCH within the next financial year.
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22.	 Trade and other payables (cont’d)

(a)	 Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted to the Group ranges 
from 30 to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days).

Trade payables denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Great Britain Pound (GBP) 234 –

Singapore Dollar (SGD) 256 –

United States Dollar (USD) 7,839 1,368

8,329 1,368

Further details on related party transactions are disclosed in Note 30.

Other information on financial risks of trade and other payables are disclosed in Note 32.

23.	P rovision for restoration costs

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

At 1 March 782 907

Provision during the year 88 –

Written off during the year – (125)

At 28 February 870 782

Analysis of present value of restoration costs:
Not later than 1 year 198 110

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 672 672

870 782

Less: Amount due within 12 months (198) (110)

Amount due after 12 months 672 672

	 Provision represents the estimated costs of asset dismantlement, removal or restoration of premises arising 
from the use of such premises, which are capitalised and included in right-of-use assets and property, plant and 
equipment. 
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24.	D erivatives  

2023 2022
Notional 
amount

Assets/
(liabilities)

Notional 
amount

Assets/
(liabilities)

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Forward currency contracts 1,093 29 – –
Call options – – 103 103
Put options – – (325) (325)

29 (222)

2023 2022
Assets Liabilities
RM’000 RM’000

Group

Current 29 –
Non-current – (222)

29 (222)

2023 2022
Notional 
amount

Assets/
(liabilities)

Notional 
amount

Assets/ 
(liabilities)

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

Call options – – 103 103
Put options – – (618) (618)

– (515)

2023 2022
Liabilities Liabilities
RM’000 RM’000

Company

Non-current – (515)

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage some of its transaction exposure. These 
contracts are not designated as cash flow or fair value hedges and are entered into for periods consistent 
with currency translation exposure and fair value changes exposure. Such derivatives do not qualify for hedge 
accounting. The derivatives represent total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, classified as 
held for trading.

The call and put options relate to the acquisition of BCH in financial year ended 28 February 2019. The carrying 
amount has been adjusted to RM Nil as the options are no longer expected to be exercised due to the planned 
voluntary liquidation of BCH within the next financial year.
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25.	R ight-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into operating leases on its buildings and advertisement space. These leases have 
terms of less than 1 year to 3 years. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year is RM494,000 
(2022: RM762,000).

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows:

Building
RM’000

At 28 February 2023
Within one year 397

After one year but not more than five years 169

At 28 February 2022
Within one year 213

After one year but not more than five years 186

Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for leasehold land, land use rights and buildings (office premises, retail outlets, 
warehouse, staff quarters) used for its operations. Leased premises generally have lease terms of 1 to 18 
years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, 
the Group is restricted from assigning or subleasing the leased assets. There are several lease contracts that 
include extension and termination options and variable lease payments.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

Leasehold 
land

Land use 
rights Buildings Total

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 March 2022 234 21,689 90,853 112,776

Additions – – 465 465

Depreciation expense (4) (466) (7,139) (7,609)

Impairment losses – – (85) (85)

At 28 February 2023 230 21,223 84,094 105,547

At 1 March 2021 238 22,155 97,033 119,426

Additions – – 1,086 1,086

Depreciation expense (4) (466) (7,259) (7,729)

Lease terminations – – (7) (7)

At 28 February 2022 234 21,689 90,853 112,776
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25.	R ight-of-use assets and lease liabilities (cont’d)

Group as a lessee (cont’d)

Please refer to Note 11(b) to the financial statements for details on the impairment assessment of the right-of-
use assets.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings) and the movements during the period:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

At 1 March 94,291 87,906
Additions 465 1,086
Accretion of interest 6,529 6,112
Lease concessions (117) (106)
Lease terminations – (7)
Payments (652) (700)

At 28 February 100,516 94,291

Current 440 504
Non-current 100,076 93,787

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 32(b).

The following are the amount recognised in profit or loss:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Group
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 7,609 7,729
Interest expense on lease liabilities 6,529 6,112
Expenses relating to short-term leases  
(included in rental of premises) 1,134 933

Lease concessions (117) (106)
Lease concessions related to prior year (47) (112)
Variable lease payments (included in rental of premises) 4,939 –

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 20,047 14,556

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of RM6,561,000 in 2023 (2022: RM1,415,000). The Group also 
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RM465,000 in 2023 (2022: RM1,086,000). 

The future cash outflows which are not capitalised in lease liabilities: 

Variable lease payments

The Group has lease contracts for retail stores that contain variable lease payments based on a percentage of 
sales generated by the stores, on top of fixed payments. Such variable lease payments are recognised in profit 
or loss when incurred and amounted to RM4,939,000 (2022: RM Nil) for the financial year ended 28 February 
2023. 
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26.	 Share capital

Number of ordinary  
shares Amount

2023 2022 2023 2022
’000 ’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group
At 1 March 1,198,199 1,198,199 487,902 487,902
Conversion of warrants 1 – 1 –

At 28 February 1,198,200 1,198,199 487,903 487,902

Company
At 1 March 1,198,199 1,198,199 978,724 978,724
Conversion of warrants 1 – 1 –

At 28 February 1,198,200 1,198,199 978,725 978,724

	 The difference in the share capital amount of the Group and the Company arose as a result of the acquisition of 
DFZ Capital Sdn. Bhd. and Darul Metro Sdn. Bhd. and their subsidiaries in a reverse take-over exercise by the 
Company during the financial year ended 28 February 2011.

	 The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared 
by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no 
par value. 

(a)	 Other reserves

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Group

Foreign currency translation reserve (i) 61 606
Premium paid on acquisition of non-controlling interests (ii) (178,818) (178,818)
Gain on reissuance of treasury shares (iii) 661 661
Capital reserve (iv) – (3,365)

(178,096) (180,916)

Company
Other reserves 661 661

(i)	 The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from 
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are 
different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

(ii)	 Pursuant to the MGO (“Compulsory Acquisition”) exercise undertaken by the Company, the 
difference between the carrying amount of non-controlling interests at the point of acquisition 
and the consideration paid was reflected as premium paid. The Compulsory Acquisition was 
completed on 1 April 2011.

This reserve also includes the excess of the consideration received over the carrying value of the 
equity interest acquired from non-controlling interests.

On 7 December 2021, the Company acquired 15% equity interest in DFZ and the difference 
between the consideration paid to non-controlling shareholders of RM45,919,000 and carrying 
amount of interest acquired in DFZ of RM9,994,000 amounted to RM35,925,000 which was 
recognised in other reserves. 

(iii)	 This represents the gain arising from the sale of treasury shares. No dividend may be paid, and 
no other distribution (whether in cash or otherwise) of the Company’s assets (including any 
distribution of assets to members on a winding up) may be made in respect of this reserve.

(iv)	 This represents the difference between derecognition of the non-controlling interest and the 
recognition of financial liability for the put options associated with acquisition of BCH.
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26.	 Share capital (cont’d)

(b)	 Share premium

	S hare premium represents the excess of consideration received from the issue of shares over the 
nominal (par) value, which is based on the Companies Act 1965 (Malaysia). This is presented in the 
consolidated financial statements consistent with reverse acquisition accounting principles, which 
reflect the equity balances of DFZ Capital Sdn. Bhd. and Darul Metro Sdn. Bhd.. On 31 January 2017, 
the Companies Act 2016 (Malaysia’s CA2016) came into force. As a result, the share premium was 
reclassified under share capital balances.

(c)	 Treasury shares

	 Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that is held by the Company.

27.	 Obligations under finance leases

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Future minimum lease payments:
Not later than 1 year 50 84
Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years – 50

Total future minimum lease payments 50 134
Less: Future finance charges (1) (6)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 49 128

Analysis of present value of finance lease liabilities:
Not later than 1 year 49 79
Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years – 49

49 128
Less: Amount due within 12 months – (79)

Amount due after 12 months 49 49

	 The Group has hire purchase contracts on property, plant and equipment. There were no restrictions placed 
upon the Group by entering into these leases.

28.	 Commitments

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure approved as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial 
statements are as follows:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000
Capital expenditure
Approved and contracted for:
Property, plant and equipment 9,503 10,000

Included in capital expenditure is RM9,500,000 (2022: RM10,000,000) in relation to development return payable 
to the State Government of Johore and City Council of Johore. 
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29.	 Contingent liabilities

Company
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Corporate guarantees for borrowings and banking facilities to certain 
subsidiaries 47,150 40,650

30.	R elated party disclosures

An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purpose of the financial statements if: 
i) it possesses the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or exercise significant influence over the operating and 
financial decisions of the Group or vice versa; or ii) it is subject to common control.

(a)	 Significant transactions

In addition to those related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following significant transactions between the Group and related parties, who were not members of the 
Group, took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Related companies:
-  Management fee 1,600 1,200

Related party:
-  Donation to Yayasan Harmoni * 200 250

-  Purchases from Heinemann Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd (“HAP”)** – 26,340 

-  Management fee paid to HAP** – 305

-  Ad-space rental received from HAP** – 589

-  Reimbursement of costs from HAP** – 4,300

(i)	 Management fees were made according to negotiated prices between the parties.

(ii)	A d-space rental income was made in accordance with prices negotiated between the parties.

*	 The Non-Executive Chairman of the Company is the founder and executive chairman of Yayasan Harmoni.

**	 The transactions disclosed above took place prior to 7 December 2021 which were in pursuant to the ancillary 
agreement entered with HAP which had since been terminated upon the acquisition of interest mentioned in 
Note 14. 

Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 28 February 
2023 and 28 February 2022 are disclosed in Note 16 and Note 22.
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30.	R elated party disclosures (cont’d)

(b)	 Compensation of key management personnel

	 The remuneration of certain directors and other members of key management during the year are as 
follows:

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,445 1,673

Defined contribution plan 162 90

1,607 1,763

Comprise amounts paid to:
Directors of the Company 390 672

Other key management personnel 1,217 1,091

1,607 1,763

31.	F air value of assets and liabilities

(a)	F air value hierarchy

	 The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the 
valuation inputs used as follows:

	L evel 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Group can access at the measurement date;

	L evel 2 – Inputs other that quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly, and

	L evel 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

	F air value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in 
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement.
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31.	F air value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

(b)	A ssets and liabilities measured at fair values

	 The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value at the 
end of the reporting period:

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical 

instruments

Significant 
observable 
inputs other 
than quoted 

prices

Significant
un-

observable 
inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 28 February 2023

Non-financial assets:
-  Biological assets (Note 12) – – 178 178

Financial assets:
Derivatives (Note 24)

-  Forward currency contracts – 29 – 29

At 28 February 2022

Non-financial assets:
-  Biological assets (Note 12) – – 155 155

Financial liabilities:
Derivatives (Note 24)

-  Call and put options – – (222) (222)

Company

At 28 February 2022

Financial liabilities:
Derivatives (Note 24)

-  Call and put options – – (515) (515)

(c)	L evel 2 fair value measurements 

The following is a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value measurement 
for assets and liabilities that are categorised within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy:

Forward currency contracts (Note 24): Forward currency contracts are valued using a valuation 
technique with market observable inputs.  The most frequently applied valuation techniques include 
forward pricing models, using present value calculations.  The models incorporate various inputs 
including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate 
curves. 
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31.	F air value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

(d)	L evel 3 fair value measurements

The following is a description of the fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 
3):

Biological assets (Note 12): The fair values of bearer fruits are determined by using the total sales figure 
in the following month with the assumptions of all the fruits harvested are sold subsequently to the 
customer. 

Call and put options (Note 24): The fair values of call and put options are determined by using Black- 
Scholes tree model, which includes some assumptions that are supported by observable market data. 
The key inputs used in determining the fair value are as follows:

Description Valuation techniques
Unobservable

inputs
Range (weighted 

average)

28 February 2022

Call and put options Black-Scholes Exercise price USD 2,252,000

Time to expiry 7.6 years

Volatility 29.58%

Risk free rate 1.41%

Dividend yield 0%

Sensitivity analysis for call and put option

A significant increase in the expected dividend yield would result in a significantly higher fair value 
measurement. A significant increase (decrease) in risk free rate would result in a significantly lower 
(higher) fair value measurement. 

In order to determine the effect of the above reasonably possible alternative assumptions, the Group 
adjusted the following key unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement:

If the underlying share value had been increased by Nil (2022: 10%) with all other variables held 
constant, the fair value of call and put options will increase by approximately RM Nil (2022: RM17,000) 
as at the end of the reporting period. 

(e)	F air value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

2023 2022

Note
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial liabilities:
Obligations under finance 

leases 27 49 49 128 130
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32.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are available 
for the development of the Group’s businesses whilst managing its interest rate risks (both fair value and cash 
flow), foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.  The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing 
each of these risks and they are summarised below. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to 
the effectiveness of the risk management process.  

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a)	 Credit risk

	C redit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from 
trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and short-term deposits and 
derivatives), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit 
rating counterparties. 

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to 
increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is 
the Group’s policy that all borrowers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification 
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. 

The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when the counterparty fails to 
make contractual payments, within 60 days when they fall due, which are derived based on the Group’s 
historical information.

The Group considers “low risk” to be an investment grade credit rating with at least one major rating 
agency for those investments with credit rating. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit 
risk, the company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at reporting date with the risk 
of default as at the date of initial recognition. The Group considers available reasonable and supportive 
forwarding-looking information which includes the following indicators:

–	I nternal credit rating

–	E xternal credit rating

–	A ctual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations

–	A ctual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the customer

–	S ignificant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same customer

–	S ignificant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of 
third-party guarantees or credit enhancements

–	S ignificant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the customer, including 
changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of 
the customer
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32.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 
30 days past due in making contractual payment.

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

–	 There is significant difficulty of the issuer or the borrower

–	A  breach of contract, such as a default or past due event

–	I t is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation

–	 There is a disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulty

The Group categorises a loan or receivable for potential write-off when a debtor fails to make contractual 
payments more than 120 days past due. Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where 
loans and receivables have been written off, the company continues to engage enforcement activity to 
attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

A summary of the Group’s basis for recognition of the Group’s expected credit loss (“ECL”) for trade 
receivables, debt securities and other receivables is as follows: 

Assets classifications Basis for recognition of expected credit loss provision

Trade receivables Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 

Debt securities 12-month ECL 

Other receivables 12-month ECL

Due from Berjaya Waterfront Sdn. Bhd. Lifetime ECL

The gross carrying amount of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 16.

Trade receivables

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision matrix. 
The provision rates are determined based on the Group’s historical observed default rates analysed in 
accordance to days past due. The loss allowance provision as at 28 February 2023 and 28 February 
2022 incorporates forward looking information such as forecast of economic conditions.

Summarised below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables 
using provision matrix.

Current

More than 
30 days 
past due

More than 
60 days 
past due

More than 
90 days 
past due Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

28 February 2023
Gross carrying amount 1,292 43 46 818 2,199
Loss allowance provision – – – (218) (218)

Current

More than 
30 days 
past due

More than 
60 days 
past due

More than 
90 days 
past due Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

28 February 2022
Gross carrying amount 694 43 111 932 1,780
Loss allowance provision – – – (746) (746)
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32.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

Debt securities and other receivables

The company’s debt securities at amortised cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the 
loss allowance recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. 
Management considers ‘low credit risk’ for the debt securities when they have a low risk of default and 
the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

As for other receivables including amount due from Berjaya Waterfront Sdn. Bhd., the Group assessed 
the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for the future outlook of 
the industry in which the counterparties operate in. The Group measured the impairment loss allowance 
using general approach of ECL and determined that the ECL is insignificant.

Exposure to credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by:

–	 A nominal amount of RM95,150,000 (2022: RM111,779,000) relating to a corporate guarantee 
provided by the Group to the bank on subsidiaries’ loans.

–	 A nominal amount of RM47,150,000 (2022: RM40,650,000) relating to a corporate guarantee 
provided by the Company to a bank on a subsidiary’s bank loan. 

Information regarding credit enhancements for trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 16.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty nor does 
it have any major concentration of credit risk related to any financial assets, except for the amount due 
from Berjaya Waterfront Sdn. Bhd. as described in Note 16.

(b)	L iquidity risk

The Group manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so 
as to ensure that refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall liquidity 
management, the Group maintains sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its 
working capital requirements. 

In addition, the Group strives to maintain available banking facilities at a reasonable level to its overall 
debt position. As far as possible, the Group raises committed funding from both capital markets and 
financial institutions and balances its portfolio with some short-term funding so as to achieve overall cost 
effectiveness.

As at 28 February 2023, the Group’s holding of cash and short-term deposits amounting to 
RM146,809,000 (2022: RM143,461,000) are expected to be sufficient for working capital purposes as 
well as meet its on-going financial commitments in the next financial year.
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32.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b)	L iquidity risk (cont’d)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted obligations.

2023 2022

One year 
or less

One to 
five years

Over five 
years Total

One year 
or less

One to 
five years

Over five 
years Total

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial assets

Trade and other 
receivables 46,533 – – 46,533 47,549 – – 47,549

Cash and bank 
balances 156,919 – – 156,919 153,401 – – 153,401

Forward currency 
contracts 29 – – 29 – – – –

Total undiscounted 
financial assets 203,481 – – 203,481 200,950 – – 200,950

Financial liabilities

Trade and other 
payables 22,174 – – 22,174 15,429 – – 15,429

Borrowings 4,010 – – 4,010 84 50 – 134

Lease liabilities 9,455 53,222 99,000 161,677 412 51,444 110,000 161,856

Total undiscounted 
financial liabilities 35,639 53,222 99,000 187,861 15,925 51,494 110,000 177,419

Total net undiscounted 
financial assets/
(liabilities) 167,842 (53,222) (99,000) 15,620 185,025 (51,494) (110,000) 23,531
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32.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b)	L iquidity risk (cont’d)

2023 2022
One year 
or less

One to five 
years Total

One year 
or less

One to five 
years Total

Company RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 355 – 355 125 – 125

Cash and bank balances 90,356 – 90,356 83,970 – 83,970

Total undiscounted financial 
assets 90,711 – 90,711 84,095 – 84,095

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 702 – 702 570 – 570

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 702 – 702 570 – 570

Total net undiscounted 
financial assets 90,009 – 90,009 83,525 – 83,525

	 The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Company’s contingent liabilities. The 
maximum amount of the financial guarantee contracts are allocated to the earliest period in which the 
guarantee could be called.

2023 2022
One year 
or less

One to five 
years Total

One year 
or less

One to five 
years Total

Company RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Corporate guarantees 47,150 – 47,150 40,650 – 40,650

(c)	I nterest rate risks

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing 
borrowings. The Group manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate 
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had been 10 (2022: 10) basis points lower with 
all other variables held constant, the Group’s and the Company’s profit before tax would have been 
RM63,000 and RM57,000 lower/higher (2022: loss before tax would have been RM59,000 and RM52,000 
higher/lower) respectively, arising mainly as a result of lower interest expense on fixed and floating rate 
loans and borrowings, lower interest income from fixed deposit. The assumed movement in basis points 
for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment. Interest 
rates of 10 basis point higher would have had equal but opposite effect on the above amounts, on the 
basis that all other variables remain constant.
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32.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d)	F oreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate, primarily United States 
Dollars (“USD”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) and Australian Dollar (“AUD”). The foreign currencies in which 
these transactions are denominated are mainly USD and SGD. Approximately 54% (2022: 77%) of the 
Group’s purchases are denominated in foreign currencies. Foreign currency exposures in transactional 
currencies other than functional currencies of the operating entities are kept to an acceptable level.

The Group also holds cash and cash balances denominated in USD and SGD for working capital 
purposes as at the end of the reporting period.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss before tax to a reasonably possible 
change in the USD, SGD and AUD exchange rates against the functional currency of the Group entities, 
with all other variables held constant.

2023 2022
Profit before 

taxation
Loss before 

taxation
Increase/
(decrease)

Decrease/
(increase)

RM’000 RM’000

USD/RM -  strengthened 3% 274 114

-  weakened 3% (274) (114)

SGD/RM -  strengthened 3% 8 1,900

-  weakened 3% (8) (1,900)

SGD/USD -  strengthened 3% (20) 19

-  weakened 3% 20 (19)

AUD/USD -  strengthened 3% (11) (199)

-  weakened 3% 11 199

RM/USD -  strengthened 3% – 329

-  weakened 3% – (329)
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33.	 Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating 
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, 
policies or processes during the year/period under review.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total external debt divided by total equity. 

The Group’s ensure that the gearing ratio shall not be more than 2.00 times to comply with covenants from its 
borrowings.

The Group includes within total external debt, all financial borrowings of the Group. Total external debt due 
and payable within 12 months consists of bankers’ acceptances, short term loan, interest payable and current 
portion of finance lease liabilities.

Group
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Borrowings (non-current) (Note 21) – 49

Borrowings (current excluding term loan,  
i.e. due and payable within 12 months) 4,009 79

Total external debt 4,009 128

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company 341,644 330,577

Gearing ratio (times) 0.01 0.00*

* 	R atio less than 0.01
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34.	 Segment information 

(a)	 Operating segments

For management purposes, the operating businesses are organised and managed separately according 
to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic 
business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. The Group’s risks and rates of 
return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced. The Group has 
the following reportable operating segments:

(i)	 Trading of duty free goods and non-dutiable merchandise

	 This segment includes revenues from sale of goods.

(ii)	 Investment holding and others

This segment includes revenues from the following:

–	 management fee income; and
–	 sale of fresh oil palm fruit bunches.

The activities of the Group are carried out mainly in Malaysia and as such, segmental reporting by 
geographical locations is not presented. The Group has no major customers. 

(b)	A llocation basis and transfer pricing

	S egment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

	 The directors are of the opinion that transfer prices between operating segments are based on 
negotiated prices.  Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between operating 
segments. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.
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34.	 Segment information (cont’d)

Operating segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other information 
by operating segment:

Trading of duty free 
and duty paid goods 

and non-dutiable 
merchandise

Investment holdings 
and others

Adjustments
and

eliminations Notes
Per consolidated 

financial statements

12 months ended 12 months ended 12 months ended 12 months ended

28 February 28 February 28 February 28 February

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue

Sales to external 
customers 148,514 97,299 3,283 1,826 – – 151,797 99,125

Inter-segment sales – – 10,457 657 (10,457) (657) A – –

Total revenue 148,514 97,299 13,740 2,483 (10,457) (657) 151,797 99,125

Results

Interest income 1,072 748 4,672 3,856 – (18) 5,744 4,586

Miscellaneous income 8,003 10,617 1,840 1,734 (1,109) (1,046) 8,734 11,305

Depreciation and 
amortisation (11,132) (11,631) (1,406) (1,419) 1,076 1,063 (11,462) (11,987)

Finance costs (6,880) (6,430) – (19) 214 250 (6,666) (6,199)

Other  
non-cash income/ 
(expenses) 5,094 4,501 5,390 3,654 (558) – B 9,926 8,155

Segment profit/(loss) 16,576 (5,556) 7,481 4,776 (6,666) (6,199) C 17,391 (6,979)

Assets

Additions to non-
current assets 391 117 – – – – D 391 117

Segment assets 269,258 254,082 196,025 180,216 12,833 13,856 E 478,116 448,154

Segment liabilities 125,922 103,064 1,648 7,829 6,055 6,491 F 133,625 117,384
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34.	 Segment information (cont’d)

Operating segments (cont’d)

Notes	� Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements

A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

B Other material non-cash income/expenses consist of reversal of/impairment loss on receivables, property, 
plant and equipment written off, reversal of/provision of inventories written down, inventories written off and 
net unrealised foreign exchange gain/loss as presented in the respective notes to the financial statements.

C The following item is deducted from segment result to arrive at loss before tax presented in the income 
statement:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Finance costs 6,666 6,199

D	A dditions to non-current assets consist of:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Property, plant and equipment 391 117

E 	 The following items were added to segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Deferred tax assets 7,680 7,403

Tax recoverable 5,153 6,453

12,833 13,856

F	 The following items were added to segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position: 

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Deferred tax liabilities 5,760 6,037

Income tax payable 295 454

6,055 6,491
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35.	D ividends

Group and Company
2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000

Declared and paid during the financial year:

Dividends on ordinary shares

- First interim one tier tax exempt dividend for 2023: S$0.002 (2022: S$ Nil)  
per share 7,855 –

36.	A uthorisation of financial statements

	 The financial statements for the financial year ended 28 February 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on 31 May 2023.



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023150

Statistics of 
Shareholdings
As at 17 May 2023

Class of Shares : Ordinary Share

Number of Issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) : 1,198,200,293

Issued and fully paid-up capital : SGD368,279,626

Voting Rights : One vote per share

Number of Treasury Shares and Percentage  : 30,999,300 (2.52%)

Number of Subsidiary Holdings and Percentage : Nil 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 99 172 10.49 2,070 0.00

100 - 1,000 232 14.15 119,334 0.01

1,001 - 10,000 470 28.66 2,449,569 0.20

10,001 - 1,000,000 739 45.05 57,209,633 4.78

1,000,001 AND ABOVE 27 1.65 1,138,419,687 95.01

TOTAL 1,640 100.00 1,198,200,293 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1. ATLAN HOLDINGS BHD  905,028,113 75.53

2. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  111,567,032 9.31

3. MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  23,522,043 1.96

4. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD  17,488,780 1.46

5. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED  9,427,503 0.79

6. CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.  8,212,797 0.69

7. UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED  8,158,730 0.68

8. IFAST FINANCIAL PTE. LTD.  6,944,350 0.58

9. RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED  6,550,405 0.55

10. DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  6,104,856 0.51

11. SOH CHONG CHAI  5,299,080 0.44

12. ELLPHA INVESTMENTS PTE LTD  4,100,000 0.34

13. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD  2,876,400 0.24

14. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  2,555,927 0.21

15. CHAN KENG LOKE  2,500,000 0.21

16. E-FOS SDN BHD  2,472,722 0.21

17. DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  2,344,399 0.20

18. GOH BEE LAN  1,855,000 0.15

19. OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED  1,589,350 0.13

20. BPSS NOMINEES SINGAPORE (PTE.) LTD.  1,516,600 0.13

TOTAL 1,130,114,087 94.32
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 MAY 2023
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

NO. NAME 

DIRECT INTERESTS DEEMED INTERESTS

NO. OF SHARES 
HELD % NO. OF SHARES 

HELD %

1. Atlan Holdings Bhd 905,028,113 75.53 – –

2. Chesterfield Trust Company Limited as 
Trustees of The Lim Family Trust (1)

– – 905,028,113 75.53

3. Distinct Continent Sdn Bhd (2) – – 905,028,113 75.53

4. Lim Family Holdings Limited (3) – – 905,028,113 75.53

5. Dato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah (4) – – 905,028,113 75.53

6. Berjaya Corporation Berhad (5) – – 905,028,113 75.53

Notes:

1.	C hesterfield Trust Company Limited as Trustees of The Lim Family Trust is deemed to have interest in the 905,028,113 Shares 
held by Atlan Holding Bhd (“Atlan”) through Distinct Continent Sdn Bhd which is owned by Lim Family Holdings Limited by virtue 
of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

2.	D istinct Continent Sdn Bhd is a substantial shareholder of Atlan. Distinct Continent Sdn Bhd is deemed interested in the 
905,028,113 Shares held by Atlan by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

3.	L im Family Holdings Limited is deemed to have interest in the 905,028,113 Shares held by Atlan through its majority interest in 
Distinct Continent Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

4.	D ato’ Sri Adam Sani bin Abdullah is deemed to have interest in the 905,028,113 Shares held by Atlan through Chesterfield Trust 
Company Limited as Trustees of The Lim Family Trust by virtue of himself as the settlor, initial Protector and a primary beneficiary 
of The Lim Family Trust.

5.	 Berjaya Corporation Berhad is deemed interested in the 905,028,113 Shares held by Atlan through its direct and indirect interest 
totalling 26.31% in Atlan.

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS 

Based on the information available to the Company as at 17 May 2023, approximately 24.23% of the issued ordinary shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with 
Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST which requires that at least 10% of the issued ordinary shares (excluding 
preference shares, convertible equity securities and treasury shares) of the Company in a class that is listed is at all times 
held in the hands of the public.
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Notice of 
Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Duty Free International Limited (“Company”) 
will be held by way of electronic means on Tuesday, 27 June 2023 at 11:00 a.m., for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS 

1.	 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 28 February 
2023 together with the Directors’ Statement and the Auditors’ Report thereon.	 (Resolution 1)

2.	 To re-elect the following Directors of the Company who are retiring pursuant to Regulation 104 of the 
Constitution of the Company and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election, as Director of the 
Company. 	

(a)	D ato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud	  (Resolution 2)
(b)	 Mr. Lee Sze Siang	         (Resolution 3)
	
[See Explanatory Note (i)]	
	

3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$145,000 for the financial year ended 28 February 2023 (FY2022: 
S$145,000).			   (Resolution 4)

4.	 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company and to hold office until the conclusion of 
the next AGM and to authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration. 	 (Resolution 5)

5.	 To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an AGM of the Company.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

6.	 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without any modifications, the following resolutions as Ordinary 
Resolutions:

6.1	 Share Issue Mandate

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (“Act”) and Rule 806 of the Listing 
Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be 
authorised and empowered to:

	 (a)	 (i)	 allot and issue shares in the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; 
and/or

	
(ii)	 make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 

require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares, 

	 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b)	 (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares 
in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution 
was in force,

(the “Share Issue Mandate”)

provided that:

(1)	 the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made 
or granted pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall 
not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and 



DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 153

Notice of 
Annual General Meeting

subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph 
(2) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares and Instruments to be issued other than on a 
pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the 
total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the 
Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2)	 (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 
aggregate number of Shares and Instruments that may be issued under subparagraph (1) above, the 
percentage of issued Shares and Instruments shall be based on the total number of issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time of the 
passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(a)	 new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible 
securities;

(b)	 new Shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding and 
subsisting at the time of the passing of this Ordinary Resolution; and

(c)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

(3)	 in exercising the Share Issue Mandate conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 
provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has 
been waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements under the Act and the Constitution of the 
Company; and

(4)	 unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, the Share Issue Mandate shall continue 
in force (i) until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company or the 
date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) 
in the case of shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this 
Resolution, until the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of the Instruments.”

		  [See Explanatory Note (ii)] 	 (Resolution 6) 

6.2	 Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

	 “That for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, the Directors of 
the Company be and are hereby authorised to make purchases or otherwise acquire issued shares in the 
capital of the Company from time to time (whether by way of market purchases or off-market purchases on 
an equal access scheme) of up to ten per cent (10%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as ascertained as at the date of Annual General 
Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company) at the price of up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price as defined in the 
Appendix to the Notice of AGM dated 2 June 2023 (“Appendix”), in accordance with the authority and limits of 
the renewed Share Buyback Mandate set out in the Appendix, and this mandate shall, unless revoked or varied 
by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or 
the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.”

	 [See Explanatory Note (iii)] 	 (Resolution 7)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Thum Sook Fun
Company Secretary 
Singapore, 2 June 2023
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Explanatory Notes:

(i)	 Ordinary Resolution 2 and 3 in relation to the re-election of Directors

Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, remain as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Audit Committee and member of Remuneration Committee. The Board considers him 
independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”). 
	
Mr. Lee Sze Siang will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, continue to serve as Executive Director of the Company. 

Detailed information on Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud and Mr. Lee Sze Siang (including information as set out in 
Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST) can be found under sections entitled “Board of Directors” and “Additional 
Information on Directors seeking re-election” in the Company’s Annual Report for the financial year ended 28 February 
2023 (“Annual Report 2023”).

(ii)	 The Ordinary Resolution 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM of the 
Company until the date of the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by 
law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue 
shares, make or grant Instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number 
not exceeding, in total, fifty per cent (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings) in the capital of the Company, of which up to twenty per cent (20%) may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to 
existing shareholders of the Company.

	 This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire on the date of the next AGM of the Company or on 
the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. 

(iii)	 The Ordinary Resolution 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM until the 
next AGM of the Company or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is 
the earlier, to repurchase ordinary shares of the Company by way of market purchases or off-market purchases of up to ten 
per cent (10%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the 
Company as at the date of passing of this Resolution. 

	D etails of the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate, including the sources of funds to be used for the purchase 
or acquisition, the amount of financing (if any) and the illustrative financial effects on the Group are set out in the Appendix to 
the Annual Report 2023. 

IMPORTANT NOTES: -

1.	 INTRODUCTION

	 The AGM is being convened, and will be held, by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) 
(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and 
Debenture Holders) Order 2020 including amended, varied or supplemented from time to time. Accordingly, printed copies of 
the Notice of AGM will NOT be sent to members. Instead, the Notice of AGM will be sent to members by electronic means 
via publication on (i) SGX-ST’s website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) the Company’s 
corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.

	A lternative arrangements relating to, among others, attendance, submission of questions and/or voting at the AGM 
are set out in this Notice of AGM which has been published on SGXNet and the Company’s corporate website at 

	 https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.

2.	 CONDUCT OF AGM

	 To minimise physical interactions and COVID-19 transmission risks, the Company will arrange for (i) a real-time audio-
visual webcast or audio-only stream which allows members to view and participate in the proceedings of the AGM 
contemporaneously (“Live Webcast”) and (ii) real-time remote electronic voting (“Live Voting”), which allows Members to 
vote remotely through electronic means. 

	 Members will NOT be allowed to attend the AGM physically in person and can ONLY participate in the AGM by:

(a)	 participating the proceedings of the AGM through Live Webcast via their mobile phones, tablets or computers or 
through a “live” audio feed via telephone. Please refer to Note 3 below for further details; 
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(b)	 asking questions relating to the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM for approval, “live” at the AGM, by submitting 
their questions through the live chat function via the platform or submitting questions in advance of the AGM. Please 
refer to Note 4 below for further details; and

(c)	 voting (i) “live” by the members or by their duly appointed proxy(ies) (other than the Chairman of the AGM); or (ii) by 
appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy to vote on their behalf at the AGM. Please refer to Note 5 below for 
further details.

3.	 PARTICIPATION IN AGM PROCEEDINGS VIA LIVE WEBCAST

(a)	 Members who wish to attend or appoint proxy (other than Chairman of the AGM) to attend the AGM via Live Webcast 
are required to pre-register via https://go.lumiengage.com/dfiagm2023 by 11:00 a.m. on Saturday, 24 June 2023 to 
enable the Company to verify their status as members. Upon the verification, verified members/proxies will receive 
a confirmation email by 5:00 p.m. on Monday, 26 June 2023 on how to access the Live Webcast (“Details”). 

	 Please DO NOT disclose the Details to those who are not entitled to attend the AGM. Your presence via Live 
Webcast shall be taken as attendance at the AGM. Members/proxies who have registered by 11:00 a.m. on 
Saturday, 24 June 2023 but have not received the confirmation email by 5:00 p.m. on Monday, 26 June 2023, 
should contact the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., by telephone at  
(+65) 6536 5355 during Monday to Friday, from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. (excluding Public Holiday), or by email to  
AGM.TeamE@boardroomlimited.com. Further, if the members’/proxies’ information is unable to be verified or 
incomplete (e.g. typo error), you will be denied to access the AGM via Live Webcast.

(b)	I nvestors who hold shares through Relevant Intermediary*, other than Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme 
(“CPF Investors”) and/or the Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investors”) (as may be applicable), who 
wish to participate in the AGM via Live Webcast should contact their Relevant Intermediary through which they 
hold shares as soon as possible in order for the necessary arrangements to be made for their participation in the 
AGM. The Relevant Intermediary is required to submit a consolidated list of participants (setting out in respect of 
each participant, his/her name, email address and NRIC/Passport number) to the the Company’s Share Registrar, 
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., via email to AGM.TeamE@boardroomlimited.com no later than 
11:00 a.m. on Saturday, 24 June 2023.

(c)	 The CPF Investors and SRS Investors who wish to participate in the AGM via Live Webcast are required to  
pre-register via https://go.lumiengage.com/dfiagm2023 by 11:00 a.m. on Saturday, 24 June 2023.

*A Relevant Intermediary is:-

(a)	 a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking 
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; 
or

(b)	 a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the 
Securities and Futures Act 2001 and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c)	 the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in respect of shares 
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from 
the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Central 
Provident Fund Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with 
that subsidiary legislation.

Please note that recording of the AGM in whatever form is also STRICTLY prohibited.

4.	 SUBMISSION OF QUESTIONS

	 Members/proxies (including CPF and SRS Investors) who pre-register and are verified to attend the AGM via Live Webcast may 
ask questions relating to the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM for approval, “live” at the AGM, by submitting their questions 
through the live chat function via the platform and will not be able to do so via the “live” audio feed of the AGM proceedings. 

	 Members (including CPF and SRS Investors) who pre-register to participate the AGM via Live Webcast may also submit 
questions related to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM in advance of the AGM. To do so, all questions must 
be submitted by 5:00 p.m. on Friday, 16 June 2023: -

(a)	 via the pre-registration website at https://go.lumiengage.com/dfiagm2023; 

(b)	 in hard copy by post to the office of the Share Registrar of the Company at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay 
Tower, Singapore 098632; or 

(c) 	 by email to AGM.TeamE@boardroomlimited.com.
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	 When sending in your questions via email or by post, the following details is mandatory to be provided for verification purpose: -

(i)	 Your full name;

(ii)	 Your full NRIC / Passport / Company Number; 

(iii)	Y our contact number and email address: and

(iv)	 The manner in which you hold shares in the Company (e.g. via CDP, CPF and/or SRS).

	 The Company will endeavour to address all substantial and relevant questions (which are related to the resolutions to be tabled 
for approval at the AGM) received from members at least 72 hours prior to the closing date and time of the lodgement of the 
proxy forms via SGXNet and Company’s corporate website.  Where substantial and relevant questions submitted by members 
are unable to be addressed prior to the AGM, the Company will address them at the AGM. Where questions overlap, we may 
consolidate such questions and address them by topic. Consequently, some questions may not be individually address.

	 The minutes of AGM, including the responses to substantial and relevant questions from members addressed prior and/or 
during AGM, will be published on the SGXNet and the Company’s corporate website within one (1) month after the conclusion 
of the said AGM.

5.	 VOTING AT THE AGM AND SUBMISSION OF PROXY FORM

	 Members (whether individual or corporate) who wish to exercise their voting rights at the AGM may:

(a)	 (where the member is an individual) vote “live” via electronic means at the AGM;

(b)	 (where the member is an individual or a corporate) appoint a proxy(ies) (other than Chairman of the AGM) to vote “live” 
at the AGM via electronic means at the AGM on their behalf by completing and submitting proxy form appointing a 
proxy(ies); or

(c)	 (where the member is an individual or a corporate) appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to vote 
on his/her/its behalf at the AGM. In appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, a member (whether individual or 
corporate) must give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in the form of proxy, failing which the 
appointment will be treated as invalid.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company. The proxy form may also be accessed same as the Notice of this AGM based 
on Note 6.

Vote “live” at the AGM

Members who wish to vote “live” at the AGM must first pre-register themselves at the pre-registration website at the URL: 
https://go.lumiengage.com/dfiagm2023.

“Live” voting will be conducted during the AGM. It is important for members and proxies to have their own web-browser 
enabled devices ready for voting during the AGM. Examples of web-browser enabled devices include mobile smartphones, 
laptops, tablets or desktop computers with internet capabilities.

Members, or where applicable, their appointed proxy(ies) must access the AGM proceedings via the “live” webcast in order to 
vote live at the AGM and will not be able to do so via the “live” audio feed of the AGM proceedings. Instructions will be provided 
at the start of the AGM on how to vote.

Appointment of Proxy and Submission of proxy form

Members who wish to appoint proxy(ies) (including the Chairman of the AGM) to vote at the AGM on their behalf can either 
choose to submit the completed and signed proxy form by the following manners by 11:00 a.m. on Saturday, 24 June 2023, 
being not less than 72 hours before the time appointed for the AGM:-

(i)	 If submitted by post, be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar of the Company at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 
Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632; or

(ii)	I f submitted electronically, via email to AGM.TeamE@boardroomlimited.com.

A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must first download, complete and sign the proxy form, before 
submitting it by post to the address provided above, or scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above. 

Members are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via email. 
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For Investors who hold shares through a Relevant Intermediary, including CPF Investors and/or SRS Investors (as may be 
applicable), who wish to appoint proxy(ies) (including the Chairman of the AGM) to vote at the AGM on their behalf, should 
contact their (i) Relevant Intermediary as soon as possible to specify voting instructions, (ii) CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators 
through which they hold shares to submit their votes at least seven (7) working days before the AGM by 5:00 p.m. on 
Thursday, 15 June 2023. 

Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001), you should insert that number of shares. If you have 
shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number of shares.  If you 
have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and the Register of Members of the Company, you should 
insert the aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name 
in the Register of Members of the Company. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be 
deemed to relate held by you.

The instrument appointing proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the 
instrument appointing proxy is executed by a corporation, it must be either under its common seal or under the hand of any 
duly authorised officer or attorney duly authorised. The power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which the instrument 
of proxy is signed on behalf of the member or duly certified copy of that power of attorney or other authority (failing previous 
registration with the Company), if required by law, be duly stamped and attached together with the proxy form, falling which 
the proxy form may be treated as invalid.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are entered against his/her name 
in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument of proxy lodged if such member, being the appointor, is not 
shown to have shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the 
AGM, as certified by the Depository to the Company.

6.	 ANNUAL REPORT AND OTHER DOCUMENTS

	I n addition, no printed copies of the Annual Report 2023, Notice of AGM, Proxy Form and Appendix in relation to the 
Proposed Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate (“Annual Report and Documents”) will be despatched to the 
members. The Annual Report and Documents are made available to members via publication on (i) SGX-ST’s website at 

	 https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) the Company’s corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.

Personal Data Privacy

“Personal data” in this notice of AGM has the same meaning as “personal data” in the Personal Data Protection Act 2012, 
which includes the member’s name and its proxy’s and/or representative’s name, address and NRIC/Passport number. Where a 
member of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote 
at the AGM of the Company and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and 
disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by 
the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the 
preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations 
and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s 
proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, (iii) undertakes that the member will only use the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iv) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, 
claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty. The member’s personal data and the proxy’s 
and/or representative’s personal data may be disclosed or transferred by the Company to its subsidiaries, its share registrar and/or 
other agents or bodies for any of the Purposes, and retained for such period as may be necessary for the Company’s verification and 
record purposes.

Photographic, sound and/or video recordings of the AGM may be made by the Company for record keeping and to ensure the 
accuracy of the minutes prepared of the AGM. Accordingly, the personal data of a member of the Company (such as his/her name, 
his/her presence at the AGM and any questions he/she may raise or motions he/she proposes/seconds) may be recorded by the 
Company for such purpose.
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Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-election 

Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud and Mr. Lee Sze Siang are the Directors seeking re-election at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be convened on Tuesday, 27 June 2023 under 
Ordinary Resolutions 2 and 3 as set out in the Notice of AGM dated 2 June 2023.

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Trading Securities Limited (“SGX-ST”), 
the information relating to the Directors as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST is set out 
below, and to be read in conjunction with their respective profiles under section entitled “Board of Directors” in the 
Company’s Annual Report 2023 on pages 12 to 13:

Name of the Directors Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat 
Mahmud

 Lee Sze Siang

Date of Appointment 9 July 2013 13 August 2010

Date of last re-appointment 27 August 2020 27 August 2020

Age 66 53

Country of principal residence Malaysia Malaysia

The Board’s comments on this 
appointment (including rationale, 
selection criteria, and the search 
and nomination process)

The Board has considered, among 
others, the recommendation of 
the Nominating Committee and 
has reviewed and considered the 
contribution, performance, attendance 
preparedness, participation, 
independency and suitability of Dato’ 
Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud for 
re-election as director of the Company 
and concluded that Dato’ Megat 
Hisham bin Megat Mahmud possesses 
the experience, expertise, knowledge 
and skills to contribute towards the core 
competencies of the Board.

The Board has considered, among 
others, the recommendation of 
the Nominating Committee and 
has reviewed and considered the 
contribution, performance, attendance 
preparedness, participation, and 
suitability of Mr. Lee Sze Siang for re-
election as director of the Company 
and concluded that Mr. Lee Sze Siang 
possesses the experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to contribute 
towards the core competencies of the 
Board.

Whether appointment is 
executive, and if so, the area of 
responsibility

Non-Executive Executive, Mr. Lee Sze Siang is tasked 
with executing strategic business 
directions set by the Board and 
overseeing the operations and business 
development of the Group, including 
the Group’s financial management and 
corporate services function.

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC 
Chairman, AC Member etc.)

Independent Director, Chairman of 
Audit Committee and member of 
Remuneration Committee

Executive Director

Professional qualifications

Please refer to the respective Director’s profiles on pages 12 to 13Working experience and 
occupation(s) during the past 10 
years

Shareholding interest in the 
listed issuer and its subsidiaries

Nil Nil
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Name of the Directors Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat 
Mahmud

 Lee Sze Siang

Any relationship (including 
immediate family relationships) 
with any existing director, 
existing executive officer, 
the issuer and/or substantial 
shareholder of the listed 
issuer or of any of its principal 
subsidiaries 

Nil Nil

Conflict of interest (including any 
competing business) 

Nil Nil

Undertaking (in the format set 
out in Appendix 7.7) under Rule 
720(1) has been submitted to the 
listed issuer

Yes Yes

Other Principal Commitments including Directorships

Past (for the past 5 years) Nil Nil

Present Nil •	 Atlan Holdings Bhd
•	 DFZ Capital Sdn Bhd
•	 Brand Connect Holding Pte. Ltd.

Information required under items 
(a) to (k) of Appendix 7.4.1 of 
Mainboard Listing Rules 

There is no change to the responses 
previously disclosed by Dato’ Megat 
Hisham bin Megat Mahmud under the 
items (a) to (k) of Appendix 7.4.1 of 
Mainboard Listing Rules which were all 
“No”. The Appendix 7.4.1 information 
is respect of Dato’ Megat Hisham 
bin Megat Mahmud as Director was 
announced via Annual Report 2020 
which published to SGXNet on 4 
August 2020.

There is no change to the responses 
previously disclosed by Mr. Lee Sze 
Siang under the items (a) to (k) of 
Appendix 7.4.1 of Mainboard Listing 
Rules which were all “No”. The 
Appendix 7.4.1 information is respect 
of Mr. Lee Sze Siang as Director was 
announced via Annual Report 2020 
which published to SGXNet on 4 
August 2020.
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DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Company Registration Number: 200102393E)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(for the financial year ended 28 February 2023)

I/We*, (Name) NRIC/Company/Passport No.*

of  (Address)
being a shareholder/shareholders of DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name Email address NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings 

No. of Shares %

and/or* (delete where appropriate)

Name Email address NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings 

No. of Shares %

failing whom, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) as *my/our proxy to attend and vote for *me/us on 
*my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held by electronic means on Tuesday, 27 June 2023 at 11:00 a.m. and at 
any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our proxy to vote for or against the Ordinary Resolutions proposed at the AGM as 
indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the AGM and at 
any adjournment thereof, the *proxy/proxies may vote or abstain from voting at *his/her discretion.
All Ordinary Resolutions put to the vote at the AGM shall be decided by way of poll.
**If you wish to exercise all your votes ‘For’ or ‘Against’ or ‘Abstain’, please tick (√) within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the 
number of votes as appropriate.

No. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS No. of Votes
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS For** Against** Abstain**

1 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company 
for the financial year ended 28 February 2023 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and Auditors’ Report thereon.

2 To re-elect Dato’ Megat Hisham bin Megat Mahmud as Director of the 
Company.

3 To re-elect Mr. Lee Sze Siang as Director of the Company.

4 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$145,000 for the financial 
year ended 28 February 2023 (FY2022: S$145,000).

5 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
6 Share Issue Mandate.

7 Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate.

Dated this  day of  2023			 

Total Number of Shares held

 
Signature of Member(s)
or Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder
*Delete where appropriate

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES OVERLEAF

IMPORTANT:
1.	 The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is being convened, and will be held, 

by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) 
(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital 
Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020 
including amended, varied or supplemented from time to time. The Notice 
will be sent to members by electronic means via publication on (i) SGX-ST’s 
website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and 
(ii) the Company’s corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.

2.	A lternative arrangements relating to, among others, attendance, 
submission of questions and/or voting at the AGM are set out in the 
Notice of AGM dated 2 June 2023 which has been published on SGX-
ST’s website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements 

	 and the Company’s corporate website at https://ir.dfi.com.sg/.
3.	 Members will NOT be able to attend the AGM in person. Members (whether 

individual or corporate) who wish to exercise their voting rights at the AGM 
may: 
(a)	 (where the member is an individual) vote “live” via electronic means at 

the AGM; or (where the member is an individual or a corporate) appoint 
a proxy(ies) (other than Chairman of the AGM) to vote “live” at the AGM 
via electronic means at the AGM on their behalf by completing and 
submitting Proxy Forms appointing a proxy(ies); or

(b)	 (where the member is an individual or a corporate) appoint the Chairman 
of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its 
behalf at the AGM. In appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, a 
member (whether individual or corporate) must give specific instructions 
as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in the form of proxy, failing which 
the appointment will be treated as invalid.

4.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use and shall be ineffective for all intents and 
purposes if used or purported to be used by CPF and SRS Investors who hold 
ordinary shares through their CPF/SRS funds. CPF/SRS Investors who wish 
to vote should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators 
to submit their votes by 5:00 p.m. on Thursday, 15 June 2023, being seven (7) 
working days before the AGM.

5.	P lease read the notes overleaf which contain the instruction on, inter alia, 
the appointment of proxy to vote on his/her behalf at the AGM.
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THE SHARE REGISTRAR
DUTY FREE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Company No.: 200102393E)

1 Harbourfront Avenue
Keppel Bay Tower #14-07

Singapore 098632

Notes:-

1.	 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in 
Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered 
in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name in the 
Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered 
against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.	 Members will NOT be able to attend the AGM in person. Members (whether individual or corporate) who wish to exercise their voting rights 
may: 

(a)	 (where the member is an individual) vote “live” via electronic means at the AGM; or (where the member is an individual or a corporate) 
appoint a proxy(ies) (other than Chairman of the AGM) to vote “live” at the AGM via electronic means at the AGM on their behalf by 
completing and submitting Proxy Forms appointing a proxy(ies); or

(b)	 (where the member is an individual or a corporate) appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on 
his/her/its behalf at the AGM. In appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, a member (whether individual or corporate) must give 
specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in the form of proxy, failing which the appointment will be treated as invalid.

3.	A  proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4.	 Members can either choose to submit the completed and signed proxy form by the following manners by 11:00 a.m. on Saturday, 24 June 
2023, being not less than 72 hours before the time appointed for the AGM:-

(i)	 If submitted by post, be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar of the Company at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay 
Tower, Singapore 098632; or

(ii)	I f submitted electronically, via email to AGM.TeamE@boardroomlimited.com.

A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must first download, complete and sign the proxy form, before submitting it by post 
to the address provided above, or scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above. 

For investors who hold shares through a Relevant Intermediary*, including CPF Investors and/or SRS Investors (as may be applicable), 
who wish to appoint proxy(ies) (including the Chairman of the AGM) to vote at the AGM on their behalf, should contact their (i) Relevant 
Intermediary as soon as possible to specify voting instructions, (ii) CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators through which they hold shares to 
submit their votes at least seven (7) working days before the AGM by 5:00 p.m. on Thursday, 15 June 2023. 

	 *A Relevant Intermediary is:

(a)	 a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking corporation, whose 
business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(b)	 a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act 
2001 and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c)	 the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in respect of shares purchased under the 
subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the 
credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in 
accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

	 Members are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via email.

5.	 The instrument appointing proxy must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the instrument 
appointing proxy is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly 
authorised. Where the instrument appointing Chairman of the AGM as proxy is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or 
power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

6.	 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a 
proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a 
proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 
as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms 
set out in the Notice of AGM dated 2 June 2023.
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